Studies on Vitamin D Levels in Biological Samples and Novel Metabolites of Vitamin D

2016

Maya Kamao

CONTENTS

ABBREVIATIONS

GENERAL INTRODUCTION1
PART 1
Analysis of vitamin D levels in biological samples
CHAPTER 1 6
Quantitative analysis of vitamin D and other fat-soluble vitamins in human
breast milk
CHAPTER 228
Measurement of serum level of 25-hydroxyvitamin D in Japanese adolescent
PART 2
Identification of novel metabolites of vitamin D
CHAPTER 1 46
Identification of C-3 epimers of native vitamin D
CHAPTER 2
Identification of C-3 epimer and C-25 dehydrates of vitamin D analog, 22-
oxacalcitriol (maxacalcitriol)
CHAPTER 3 108
Measurement of C-3 Epimerization activity toward vitamin D
GENERAL CONCLUSION134
LIST OF PUBLICATIONS136
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT142

ABBREVIATIONS

ADR	adorenodoxin reductase
ADT	androsterone
ADX	adrenodoxin
AI	adequate intake
AIB	amplified in breast cancer
ANOVA	analysis of variance
BUA	broadband ultrasound attenuation
BMI	body mass index
CE	collision energy
CLIA	chemiluminescence immunoassay
COSY	correlation spectroscopy
СРВА	competitive protein binding assay
СҮР	cytochorome P450
СХР	collision cell exit potential
D_2	vitamin D ₂
D ₃	vitamin D ₃
$1\alpha(OH)D_3$	1α-hydroxyvitamin D ₃
1α,20(OH) ₂ D ₃	1α,20-dihydroxyvitamn D ₃
1α,24,25(OH) ₃ D ₃	1α ,24,25-trihydroxyvitamin D ₃
1α,25(OH) ₂ D ₂	1α ,25-dihydroxyvitamin D ₂
1α,25(OH) ₂ D ₃	1α,25-dihydroxyvitamin D ₃
20-oxo-1α(OH)D ₃	hexanor-20-oxo-1 α -hydroxyvitamin D ₃
24(OH)OCT	24-hydroxy-OCT
24,25(OH) ₂ D ₃	24,25-dihydroxyvitamin D ₃
24,25(OH) ₂ D ₃	24,25-dihydroxyvitamin D ₂
24-ene-22-oxa-1a(OH)D ₃	24-ene-22-oxa-1 α -hydroxyvitamin D ₃
25(OH)D	25-hydroxyvitamin D $[25(OH)D_3+25(OH)D_2]$
25(OH)D ₂	25-hydroxyvitamin D ₂
25(OH)D ₃	25-hydroxyvitamin D ₃
25-ene-22-oxa-1α(OH)D ₃	25ene-22-oxa-1 α -hydroxyvitamin D ₃
d	doublet
DBP	vitamin D binding protein

dd	doublet of doublets								
ddd	doublet of doublets of doublets								
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium								
DMEQ-TAD	4-[2-(6,7-dimethoxy-4-methyl-3-oxo-3,4-								
	dihydroquinoxalyl)ethyl]-1,2,4-triazoline-3,5-dione								
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid								
DP	declustering potential								
DRIs	dietary reference Intakes								
DTT	dithiothreitol								
EDTA	ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid, dihydrate								
EIA	enzyme immunoassay								
ESI	electrospray ionization								
FCS	fetal calf serum								
FFQ	food-frequency questionnaire								
FP	focusing potential								
HEPES	4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid								
Hertz	Hz								
HIM	hexane/2-propanol/methanol								
HPLC	high-performance liquid chromatography								
HPTLC	high performance thin layer chromatography								
HS	high school								
JHS	junior high school								
Km	Michaelis constant								
LC-APCI/MS/MS	liquid chromatography-atmospheric pressure chemical								
	ionization/tandem mass spectrometry								
LC-MS	liquid chromatography mass spectrometry								
LC-MS/MS	liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry								
m	multiplet								
MEM	minimum essential medium								
МК	menaquinone, vitamin K ₂								
MRM	multiple reaction monitoring								
NADP	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate								
NADPH	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate, reduced								
form									
NMR	nuclear magnetic resonance								

NOESY	nuclear Overhauser effect correlated spectroscopy
OC	osteocalcin
OCT	22-oxacalcitriol, maxacalcitriol
26(OH)OCT	26-hydroxy-OCT
PBS (-)	phosphate-buffered saline without Ca, Mg
pH	hydrogen ion concentration
РК	phylloquinone, vitamin K ₁
РТН	parathyroid hormone
QUS	quantitative ultrasound
R.T.	retention time
RDAs	recommended daily allowances
RE	retinol
RIA	radio immunoassay
RoDHs	retinol dehydrogenases
S	substrate concentration
S	singlet
SD	standard deviation
SDR	short chain alcohol dehydrogenase family
SE	standard errors
sl	singlet like
SOS	speed of sound
SRC	steroid receptor coactivator
t	triplet
td	triplet of doublets
TIF	transcriptional intermediary factor
α-Toc	α-Tocopherol
UDP	uridine diphosphate
UV	ultraviolet
V	velocity
VDR	vitamin D receptor
VDRE	vitamin D-responsive element
Vmax	maximum velocity
WHO	World Health Organization
1D	one-dimensional
1st HS	1st grade of high school

1st JHS	1st grade of junior high school
2D	two-dimensional
$3(\alpha \rightarrow \beta)$ -HSE	$3(\alpha \rightarrow \beta)$ -hydroxysteroid epimerase
3α-HSD	3α-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase
3rd HS	3rd grade of high school

GENERAL INTRODUCTION

Vitamin D is well known to play an important role in calcium homeostasis and bone metabolism. Vitamin D may also have several nonskeletal functions such as immune system [1, 2], reproduction [3, 4] and cancer prevention [5, 6]. Vitamin D₃ (D₃) is synthesized in the skin from 7-dehydrocholesterol by exposure to sunlight. D₃ is metabolized to 25hydroxyvitamin D_3 [25(OH) D_3] in the liver and subsequently to 1 α .25-dihydroxyvitamin $D_3 [1\alpha, 25(OH)_2D_3]$ or 24,25-dihydroxyvitamin $D_3 [24, 25(OH)_2D_3]$ in the kidney [7] (Fig.1). 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ is known to be the most active form and exert its biological actions through binding with the nuclear vitamin D receptor (VDR). 24,25(OH)₂D₃ is considered to be inactive form of vitamin D_3 although there are several reports demonstrating its potentials increasing bone volume and strength at pharmacological doses [8, 9]. 25(OH)D₃ is most abundant circulating metabolite of vitamin D and good indicator of the cumulative effects of exposure to sunlight and dietary intake of D_3 . Vitamin D_2 (D_2), which is the major naturally occurring form in plants, is also metabolized to 25-hydroxyvitamin D₂ [25(OH)D₂], 1α ,25-dihydroxyvitamin D_2 $[1\alpha, 25(OH)_2D_2]$ and 24,25-dihydroxyvitamin D_2 [24,25(OH)₂D₃] in a similar fashion. To date, in addition to these metabolites, many other vitamin D₃ metabolites have been chemically characterized, and another unidentified metabolites are assumed to exist.



Fig. 1 Structure and metabolic pathway of vitamin D

In recent epidemiological study, lower serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D [25(OH)D, $25(OH)D_3+25(OH)D_2$] level has been reported to be associated with a higher risk of Alzheimer disease [10], type 2 diabetes [11] and acute respiratory tract infections in newborns [12] in addition to bone fracture risk [13, 14]. These finding suggest that vitamin D is an important nutrient at each stage in life from infancy to old age. Thus, it is important to measure the concentration of vitamin D metabolites and define reference value in biological samples such as serum and breast milk. In addition, it is also important to identify unknown metabolites of vitamin D and to examine their biological activity in explanation of wide-ranging biological activities of vitamin D and their regulation mechanism.

In Part 1, we measured vitamin D levels in biological samples and showed reference value of them. In Part 1, Chapter 1, first, a high-sensitive determination method of vitamin D and other fat-soluble vitamins in human breast milk using liquid chromatography-atmospheric pressure chemical ionization/tandem mass spectrometry (LC-APCI/MS/MS) was developed. Then we applied this method to breast milk of Japanese lactating mothers to estimate an infant's intake of vitamin D and other fat-soluble vitamins. In Part 1, Chapter 2, we measured serum level of 25(OH)D in a large group consisting of over 1300 Japanese adolescents using an automated competitive chemiluminescence immunoassay (CLIA) [15]. The sex differences in the association between serum 25(OH)D concentration and serum parathyroid hormone (PTH) concentration or vitamin D intake were also examined.

In Part 2, we examined metabolism of native vitamin D and representative synthetic analog and identified novel metabolites including C-3 epimers and C-25 dehydrates. In Part 2, Chapter 1, we demonstrated that $25(OH)D_3$ which is the most abundant metabolites of vitamin D is metabolized to its C-3 epimer as well as 1α , $25(OH)_2D_3$ and 24, $25(OH)_2D_3$. In addition, further metabolism and biological activity of C-3 epimers were examined. In Part 2, Chapter 2, we identified novel three less polar metabolites of representative synthetic analog of vitamin D, 22-oxacalcitriol (OCT, maxacalcitriol) as 3-epi-OCT and two C-25

dehydrates and assessed the biological activity of them. Moreover, in Part 2, Chapter 3, we measured C-3 epimerization activity in subcellular fractions prepared from cultured cells and investigated the basic properties of the enzyme responsible for the C-3 epimerization.

References

- [1] C. Aranow, Vitamin D and the immune system, J Investig Med 59(6) (2011) 881-886.
- [2] B. Prietl, G. Treiber, T.R. Pieber, K. Amrein, Vitamin D and immune function, Nutrients 5(7) (2013) 2502–2521.
- [3] J. Luk J, S. Torrealday, G. Neal Perry, L. Pal, Relevance of vitamin D in reproduction, Hum Reprod 27(10)(2012) 3015–3027.
- [4] M. Blomberg Jensen, Vitamin D metabolism, sex hormones, and male reproductive function, Reproduction 144(2) (2012) 135–152.
- [5] K.C. Chiang, T.C. Chen, The anti-cancer actions of vitamin D, Anticancer Agents Med Chem 13(1) (2013) 126–139.
- [6] J.C.T. Fleet, M. DeSmet, R. Johnson, Y. Li, Vitamin D and cancer: a review of molecular mechanisms, Biochem J 441(1) (2012) 61–76.
- [7] H. F. De Luca, Recent advances in our understanding of the vitamin D endocrine system, J Lab Clin Med 87(1) (1976) 7–26.
- [8] T. Nakamura, T. Kurokawa, H. Orimo, Increase of bone volume in vitamin D-repleted rats by massive administration of 24R,25(OH)₂D₃, Calcif Tissue Int 43(4) (1988) 235– 243.
- [9] T. Nakamura, T. Kurokawa, H. Orimo, Increased mechanical strength of the vitamin Dreplete rat femur by the treatment with a large dose of 24R,25(OH)₂D₃. J Bone Miner Res 29(9) (2014) 2024–2031.
- [10] C. Balion, L.E. Griffith, L. Strifler, M. Henderson, C. Patterson, G. Heckman, D.J. Llewellyn, P. Raina, Vitamin D, cognition, and dementia: a systematic review and meta-analysis, Am J Clin Nutr, 97(3) (2013) 524–530.
- [11] S. Lim S, M.J. Kim, S.H. Choi, C.S. Shin, K.S. Park, H.C. Jang, L.K. Billings, J.B. Meigs, Association of vitamin D deficiency with incidence of type 2 diabetes in high-risk Asian subjects, Neurology 79(13) (2012) 1397–1405.
- [12] N. Dinlen, A. Zenciroglu, S. Beken, A. Dursun, D. Dilli, N. Okumus, Association of vitamin D deficiency with acute lower respiratory tract infections in newborns, J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 29(6) (2016) 928–932.
- [13] A.C. Looker, M.E. Mussolino, Serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D and hip fracture risk in older U.S. white adults, J Bone Miner Res, 23(1) (2008) 143–150.

- [14] K. Bleicher, R.G. Cumming, V. Naganathan, F.M. Blyth, D.G. Le Couteur, D.J. Handelsman, L.M. Waite, M.J. Seibel, U-shaped association between serum 25hydroxyvitamin D and fracture risk in older men: results from the prospective population-based CHAMP study, J Bone Miner Res, 29(9) (2014) 2024–2031.
- [15] D.L. Ersfeld, D.S. Rao, J.J Body, J.L. Sackrison Jr., A.B. Miller, N. Parikh, T.L. Eskridge, A. Polinske, G.T. Olson, G.D. MacFarlane, Analytical and clinical validation of the 25 OH vitamin D assay for the LIAISON automated analyzer, Clin Biochem 37(10) (2004) 867–874.

PART 1

Analysis of vitamin D levels in biological samples

CAPTER 1

Quantitative analysis of vitamin D and other fat-soluble vitamins in human breast milk

Introduction

International agencies including World Health Organization (WHO) and health organizations of various countries recommend breastfeeding as the preferred method of infant feeding for the first several months of life [1]. There is no doubt that breastfeeding is beneficial to the relationship between mother and infant. According to WHO, exclusive breast-feeding is recommended up to six months of age, with continued breast-feeding along with appropriate complementary foods up to two years of age of beyond. Term infants nursed by nutritionally adequate mothers are provided with sufficient energy and the proper profile of nutrients to support normal growth and development during the first six months except for vitamins D and K in the immediate newborn period [2, 3].

Exclusive breastfeeding is a risk factor for rickets in infants. There have been reports of clinical rickets in breastfed infants, especially nursed by mothers who restrict their intake of vitamin D-rich foods (i.e. strict vegetarians) [4]. Also, in countries where climate or custom lead to low levels of exposure of the child or the mother to sunlight, infant serum concentrations of 25(OH)D may be sub-optimal [5, 6]. In previous reports, the concentrations of D₃, $25(OH)D_3$, $24,25(OH)_2D_3$ and $1\alpha,25(OH)_2D_3$ in human breast milk were 0.03–0.12, 0.28–0.57, 0.04–0.28 and 0.005–0.02 ng/mL, respectively [7–10]. These results indicate that most anti-rachitic activity is caused by $25(OH)D_3$, and the transfer of vitamin D and its metabolites from plasma to milk is limited.

Vitamin K is also a possible problem for breast-fed infants. Human breast milk contains only a low concentration of vitamin K and there is strong evidence of increased incidence of late haemorrhagic disease in breastfed infants [11]. It was reported that the vitamin K₁ (phylloquinone, PK) concentration of human breast milk ranges from 1 to 9 ng/mL [12, 13]; however, there are few reports associated with other important vitamin K derivatives, vitamin K₂ (menaquinone, MK), contents [14]. Regional or individual nutritional problems with Vitamin A and E in breast-fed infants are also reported. In the developing countries, subclinical vitamin A deficiency has been observed in infants fed breast milk. The vitamin A content of milk in poorer populations in developing countries such as India, Ceylon and Jordan, where vitamin A intake is marginal, is lower than in North America and Europe [15]. Meanwhile, there has been no report of problems with vitamin E for breast-fed infants.

In this manner, surveys of the concentrations of vitamin D and other fat-soluble vitamins in human breast milk have important implications for the promotion of breast-feeding. However, there are several problems in sensitivity, specificity and accuracy with determination of fat-soluble vitamins in breast milk. Especially, it is difficult to determine vitamin D and metabolites using standard assay methods such as high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) with ultraviolet (UV) detection [16], competitive protein binding assay (CPBA) [17], radio immunoassay (RIA) [18] and enzyme immunoassay (EIA) [19], because concentrations of them are markedly low. In this study, we have developed a high-sensitive quantification method of vitamin D and other fat-soluble vitamins in human breast milk using liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) and applied to a nutrition survey for lactating mothers.

Materials and methods

Materials.

D₃, D₂, 25(OH)D₃ and 25(OH)D₂ were obtained from Solvay Pharmaceuticals B.V. (Veenendaal, The Netherlands). Retinyl palmitate and β -Carotene were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich Co. (St. Louis, MO, USA). α -Tocopherol (α -Toc), PK, MK-4 and MK-7 were kindly provided by Eisai Pharmaceuticals (Tokyo, Japan). Four internal standards, d₆-25-(OH)D₃, [¹⁸O₂]-PK, [¹⁸O₂]-MK-4 and [¹⁸O₂]-MK-7 were synthesized as described in our previous reports [20, 21]. D₆-retinyl acetate, d₆- β -carotene, d₇-D₃, and d₆- α -Toc were synthesized by Dr. Suhara. The chemical structures of the internal standards are shown in Fig. 1. Derivatization reagent, 4-[2-(6,7-dimethoxy-4-methyl-3-oxo-3,4-dihydroquinoxalyl)ethyl]-1,2,4-triazoline-3,5-dione (DMEQ-TAD) was purchased from Wako Pure Chemical Industries, Ltd. (Osaka, Japan).

Preparation of Retinol and d₆-Retinol.

Retinol (RE) and d_6 -RE solutions were prepared by saponifying retinyl palmitate and d_6 -retinyl acetate before use. 40 µg of retinyl palmitate and d_6 -retinyl acetate were dissolved in 1.5 mL of pyrogallol-ethanol (7 %, w/v). After the addition of 0.5 mL of NaCl solution (1 %, w/v) and 0.8 mL of KOH solution (60 %, w/v), the mixture was incubated at 70 °C for 30 min. RE and d_6 -RE were extracted with hexane-diethyl ether (90:10, v/v), evaporated under reduced pressure, and the residue was dissolved with 2-propanol.



Fig.1 Chemical structures of internal standards.

Concentrations of RE and d₆-RE were determined spectrophotometrically using a molar extinction coefficient, $\varepsilon = 52,480$. The purity was checked by HPLC consisting of an LC-10AD_{VP} pump, a SIL-10AD_{VP} auto injector, a CTO-10AD_{VP} column oven set to 35 °C, and an RF-10A_{XL} fluorescence detector set to an excitation wavelength of 340 nm and an emission wavelength of 460 nm (Shimadzu, Kyoto, Japan). Separation was performed on a Capcellpak C18 UG120 (4.6 × 250 mm, Shiseido Co. Ltd., Tokyo, Japan) eluted with ethanol: H₂O (95:5) at a flow rate of 0.4 mL/min.

Sample Collections.

Human breast milk samples were collected from March 2005 to October 2006 from 82 lactating mothers aged 18–39 y (30.8 ± 4.5 y) at 3–265 d (49.1 ± 57.6 d) post-partum living in Japan. Written informed consent was obtained from each subject prior to enrollment in this study according to the conditions of the Helsinki Declaration and approved by the ethics committee of Kobe Pharmaceutical University. Approximately 50 mL of human breast milk was collected by manual expression at an intermediate time during suckling and immediately frozen at –20 °C. Before extraction of vitamin D and other fat-soluble vitamins, frozen breast milk was thawed and sonicated in ice water twice for 15 min. For the developmental work on the assay, pooled human breast milk prepared by mixing breast milk from seven healthy mothers was used.

Extraction of Vitamin D, Vitamin A, β -Carotene and Vitamin E.

10.0 mL of breast milk samples was placed in a 50-mL screw-top vial. After the addition of 50 µL of internal standard solution [d_7 -D₃, d_6 -25(OH)D₃, d_6 -RE, d_6 - β -carotene and d_6 - α -Toc, 50 ng/50 µL ethanol each], 20 mL of pyrogallol-ethanol (7 %, w/v), 6 mL of NaCl solution (1 %, w/v) and 10 mL of KOH solution (60 %, w/v), the mixture was incubated at 70 °C for 60 min. Then, the mixture was transferred to a 200-mL of separating funnel containing 38 mL of NaCl solution (1 %, w/v) and vitamin D, vitamin A, β -carotene and vitamin E were extracted twice with 30 mL of hexane-ethyl acetate (9:1, v/v), washed with water, and dehydrated with Na₂SO₄. The eluate was evaporated under reduced pressure, and the residue was dissolved with 2.5 mL of hexane:ethyl acetate (9:1, v/v). For determination of D₃, D₂, 25(OH)D₃ and 25(OH)D₂, 1.5 mL of 2.5 mL was concentrated and purified by normal phase HPLC. HPLC was carried out using a model 600 pump and a model 996 photodiode array detector (Waters Associates, Milford, MA). Elution was performed on a Zorbax SIL column (4.6 × 250 mm, Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA), using hexane:2-propanol:methanol (88:10:2, v/v/v), at a flow rate of 1.0 mL/min. After the eluates corresponding to D₃ and D₂ (D fraction, 3.5-5.0 min) and 25(OH)D₃ and 25(OH)D₂ (25D fraction, 5.0-8.0 min) were collected, DMEQ-TAD derivatization was performed by described below. For the determination of RE, β -carotene and α -Toc, another 1.0 mL was evaporated, and the residue was dissolved with 100 µL of ethanol, 50 µL of which was directly subjected to LC-MS/MS.

DMEQ-TAD Derivatization of D and 25(OH)D Fractions.

DMEQ-TAD derivatization was performed according to the method of Higashi et al. [22]. D and 25(OH)D fractions were dried and then dissolved in 150 μ L of ethyl acetate containing DMEQ-TAD (60 μ g). The mixture was kept at room temperature for 30 min, then an additional reagent (60 μ g/150 μ L of ethyl acetate) was added and the entire mixture was further kept at room temperature for 1 h. After the addition of 1.5 mL of ethanol to decompose excess reagent, the solvent was evaporated and the residue was dissolved in 100 μ L of acetonitrile, 30 μ L of which was subjected to LC-MS/MS.

Extraction of Vitamin K Derivatives.

3.0 mL of breast milk samples was placed in a 50-mL screw-top vial. After the addition of internal standard solution ([$^{18}O_2$]-PK, [$^{18}O_2$]-MK-4 and [$^{18}O_2$]-MK-7, 25 ng/25 µL ethanol each), 12 mL of phosphate buffer (pH 7.7) and 0.3 g of lipase, the mixture was incubated at 37 °C for 90 min with stirring. Then, 12 mL of ethanol was added and vitamin K derivatives were extracted twice with 12 mL of hexane. The mixture was shaken for 5

min before centrifuging at $1,940 \times g$ for 5 min. The extracts were combined and evaporated under reduced pressure, and the residue was dissolved with 3 mL of hexane. The resultant extract was passed through a Sep-Pak Vac silica cartridge (Waters, Milford, MA, USA) that was washed with 10 mL of hexane. Vitamin K derivatives were eluted with 5 mL of hexanediethyl ether (97:3). The eluate was evaporated under reduced pressure, and the residue was dissolved with 200 µL of ethanol, 50 µL of which was subjected to LC-MS/MS.

LC-MS/MS Analysis.

The HPLC system consisted of a SCL-10ADvp system controller, two LC-10ADvp pumps, a DGC-14A automatic solvent degasser, a SIL-10ADvp auto injector, and a CTO-10ADvp column oven set to 35 °C (Shimadzu). The HPLC system was coupled to an API 3000 triple-quadrupole tandem mass spectrometer (Applied Biosystems/ MDS SCIEX, Foster City, CA, USA) equipped with an atmospheric pressure chemical ionization (APCI) source. Analyst (Ver. 1. 3. 2; Applied Biosystems/MDS SCIEX) was used for data acquisition and analysis. Separations were performed on a Capcellpak C18 UG120 (4.6 \times 250 mm). For the determination of DMEQ-TAD derivatives of D and 25(OH)D, a solvent system consisting of a mixture of acetonitrile and $H_2O(30:70, v/v)$ in 5 min and then a linear gradient from 30 to 95 % acetonitrile in 30 min was used (Condition 1). The injection volumes of standard and sample solutions were 30 μ L. For the determination of RE, β carotene, α -Toc and vitamin K derivatives, a solvent system consisting of an isocratic solvent A (methanol:H₂O, 90:10, v/v) in 10 min and then a linear gradient from 0 to 90 % acetonitrile in 30 min was used (Condition 2). The injection volumes of standard and sample solutions were 50 μ L. Acquisition settings were optimized by the infusion of a 1 μ g/mL solution of each compound at a rate of 20 µL/min as shown in Table 1. Curtain gas (8 psi),

nebulizer gas (8 psi), collision gas (4 psi), nebulizer current (2 μ A) and ion source temperature (400 °C) were identical for all analytes. The mass spectrometer was operated in the positive ion mode. All analytes were detected in the MS/MS-multiple reaction monitoring (MRM) with unit resolution at both Q1 and Q3.

	Retentio		Transit	DP ¹	FP ¹	CE ¹	CXP ¹	
Analyte	n time	MW	Parent	Product	(V)	$(\Lambda\Lambda)$	$(\Lambda \Lambda)$	0.0
	(min)		ion	ion		(v)	(v)	(v)
Condition 1								
DMEQ-TAD-D ₃ ²	36.46	729.9	730.5	468.3	61	200	35	32
DMEQ-TAD-D222	36.43	742.0	742.6	468.3	56	170	35	34
DMEQ-TAD-d ₇ -D ₃ ²	36.30	737.0	737.6	468.2	56	210	33	8
DMEQ-TAD -25(OH)D3 ²	22.21	745.9	746.5	468.1	61	210	37	16
DMEQ-TAD -25(OH)D2 ²	21.92	758.0	758.5	468.2	56	180	37	16
DMEQ-TAD -d ₆ -25(OH)D3 ²	22.08	752.0	752.5	468.1	56	190	39	16
Condition 2								
RE	9.73	286.5	269.1	213.4	21	80	19	14
d ₆ -RE	9.48	292.5	275.2	192.4	16	70	19	14
β-carotene	87.01	536.9	537.6	177.2	31	100	27	12
d_6 - β -carotene	86.24	542.9	543.6	180.2	31	110	25	12
α-Toc	38.72	430.7	430.4	165.2	51	180	43	10
d ₆ -α-Toc	38.44	436.7	436.5	171.2	56	180	41	10
РК	49.15	450.7	451.5	187.1	41	140	33	12
[¹⁸ O ₂]-PK	49.13	454.7	455.4	191.2	41	140	33	12
MK-4	32.72	444.7	445.5	187.3	21	80	31	12
[¹⁸ O ₂]-MK-4	32.66	448.7	449.4	191.2	26	100	31	12
MK-7	86.74	649.0	649.7	187.2	41	150	47	12
[¹⁸ O ₂]-MK-7	86.67	653.0	653.7	191.1	36	130	43	12

 Table 1
 Retention times, molecular weights and optimized instrument settings.

¹ DP, declustering potential; FP, focusing potential; CE, collision energy; CXP, collision cell exit potential

² The retention times of the derivatives are those of the 6*S*-isomer.

Statistical Analysis.

All statistical analyses were performed using JMP statistical software (version 5.0.1 J: SAS Institute Inc, Cary, NC, USA). For cross-sectional analyses, simple regression analysis was performed.

Results

Chromatography.

LC-MS/MS MRM chromatograms of human breast milk samples after DMEQ-TAD derivatization for the determination of D₃, D₂, 25(OH)D₂ and 25(OH)D₃ in Condition 1 are shown in Fig. 2. In the reaction with DMEQ-TAD, vitamin D compounds produce two C6-epimeric derivatives. In the case of D₃, D₂, 25(OH)D₃ and 25(OH)D₂, the 6S isomer was the main product (6S:6R=3:1). Thus, 6S isomer was used for the determination of each vitamin D compound. The calibration curves of DMEQ-TAD derivatives showed good linearity for D₃ (up to 50 ng/mL, r²=0.9999), D₂ (up to 50 ng/mL, r²=0.9999), respectively.



Fig. 2 LC-MS/MS MRM chromatograms of human breast milk sample after DMEQ-TAD derivatization for determination of D_3 and D_2 (A), 25(OH) D_2 and 25(OH) D_3 (B) in Condition 1. The concentrations of D_3 , D_2 , 25(OH) D_2 and 25(OH) D_3 in this sample are 0.058, 0.005, 0.002 and 0.103 ng/mL, respectively.

MRM chromatograms of human breast milk sample for the determination of RE, β carotene, α -Toc, PK, MK-4 and MK-7 in Condition 2 are shown in Fig. 3. Under these conditions, all compounds were successfully detected without interruption of co-eluting compounds in breast milk and interference of their internal standards. The calibration curves showed good linearity for RE (up to 62500 ng/mL, r²=0.9993), β -carotene (up to 2500 ng/mL, r²=0.9989), α -tocopherol (up to 62500 ng/mL, r²=0.9998), PK (up to 2500 ng/mL, r²=1.0000), MK-4 (up to 2500 ng/mL, r²=0.9998) and MK-7 (up to 2500 ng/mL, r²=1.0000), respectively.



Fig. 3 LC-MS/MS MRM chromatograms of human breast milk sample for determination of RE, β-carotene and α-Toc (A), PK, MK-4 and MK-7 (B) in Condition 2. The concentrations of RE, β-carotene and α-Toc, PK, MK-4 and MK-7 in this sample are 0.244, 0.055 and 2.131 µg/mL, 1.628, 1.462 and 0.344 ng/mL, respectively.

Sensitivity, Recovery and Reproducibility.

The detection limits of D₃, D₂, 25(OH)D₃, 25(OH)D₂, RE, β -carotene, α -Toc, PK, MK-4 and MK-7 based on a signal-to-noise ratio of 3:1, were 1 to 250 pg per injection (Table 2). The recoveries were about 91–105 %. Inter-assay CV values of each vitamin calculated by measurements of pooled human breast milk were 1.9–11.9 %. The sensitivity and overall recovery combined with reproducibility allowed the measurement of fat-soluble vitamins containing vitamins D, A, E and K with 10 mL of breast milk.

	Detection	Recovery	/ ¹	Inter-assay		
	limit (pg)	Mean ± SD (%)	CV (%)	Mean ± SD (/mL)	CV (%)	
D ₃	1	97.5±3.8	3.9	0.040±0.002 ng	5.4	
D ₂	1	105.0±4.7	4.5	0.014±0.002 ng	11.9	
25(OH)D3	2	93.9±3.0	3.1	0.117±0.005 ng	4.0	
25(OH)D2	1	90.9±8.8	9.7	0.006±0.001 ng	9.8	
RE	50	104.7±7.5	7.2	0.489±0.029 μg	7.2	
β -carotene	250	97.4±7.0	8.2	0.027±0.001 μg	3.8	
α -Toc	100	96.3±5.5	5.7	2.839±0.058 μg	2.1	
PK	10	97.5±8.3	8.6	0.383±0.014 ng	3.7	
MK-4	10	99.4±7.9	8.0	0.206±0.004 ng	1.9	
MK-7	80	97.1±5.6	5.7	0.117±0.011 ng	9.6	

Table 2 Accuracy of measurement of fat-soluble vitamins

¹ Calculated by measurements of pooled human breast milk spiked with fat-soluble vitamins: D₃, 20 ng; D₂, 20 ng; 25(OH)D₃, 20 ng; 25(OH)D₂, 20 ng; RE, 20 μ g; β -carotene, 0.6 μ g; α -Toc, 30 μ g; PK, 30 ng; MK-4, 20 ng; MK-7, 10 ng/20 mL of human breast milk.

Concentration of Vitamin D and Other Fat-soluble Vitamins in Human Breast Milk.

This method was applied to breast milk samples obtained from 82 Japanese lactating mothers. The mean concentration of D₃, D₂, 25(OH)D₃ and 25(OH)D₂ were 0.088 (range, 0.010–1.116; median, 0.061) ng/mL, 0.078 (range, 0–1.300; median, 0.021) ng/mL, 0.081 (range, 0.023–0.172; median, 0.078) ng/mL and 0.003 (range, 0–0.012; median, 0.003) ng/mL, respectively. The mean concentration of RE, β -carotene, α -Toc, PK, MK-4 and MK-7 were 0.455 (range, 0.097–1.783; median, 0.406) μ g/mL, 0.062 (range, 0.002–0.375; median, 0.045) μ g/mL, 5.087 (range, 0.387–35.664; median, 3.590) μ g/mL, 3.771 (range, 0.953–12.382; median, 3.481) ng/mL, 1.795 (range, 0.720–4.750; median, 1.611) ng/mL and 1.540 (range, 0.074–15.861; median, 1.001) ng/mL, respectively (Table 3).

		Total (n=82)
		Mean±SD
Age	(y)	30.8±4.5
D ₃	(ng/mL)	0.088±0.128
D ₂	(ng/mL)	0.078±0.156
25(OH)D ₃	(ng/mL)	0.081±0.037
25(OH)D2	(ng/mL)	0.003±0.002
RE	(µg/mL)	0.455±0.264
β -carotene	(µg/mL)	0.062±0.063
α -Toc	(µg/mL)	5.087±5.042
PK	(ng/mL)	3.771±2.166
MK-4	(ng/mL)	1.795±0.732
MK-7	(ng/mL)	1.540±2.298
Fat ¹	(mg/mL)	28.89±11.65

Table 3 Concentration of fat-soluble vitamins in human breast milk

¹ Measured by Röse-Gotlieb method.

The subjects were stratified into five groups by post-partum days: 0–10, 11–30, 31–90, 91–180 and 181–270 days. The concentrations of many fat-soluble vitamins in human breast milk showed a tendency to decrease as the post-partum days passed (Table 4). The concentrations of 25(OH)D₂, RE, β -carotene, and α -Toc in breast milk in the 0–10 day post-partum group were significantly higher than those of the other groups (p<0.05). Fat concentrations were not significantly different between each group.

Post-partum days		0–10 (n=8)	11–30 (n=43)	31–90 (n=18)	91–180 (n=8)	181–270 (n=5)
		Mean±SD	Mean±SD	Mean±SD	Mean±SD	Mean±SD
Age	(y)	27.6±6.3 ^a	32.0±3.6 ^a	30.3±4.5 ^a	30.4±5.6 ^a	28.6±4.3 ^a
D ₃	(ng/mL)	0.075±0.046 ^a	0.103±0.169 ^a	0.079±0.056ª	0.075±0.079 ^a	0.035±0.016 ^a
D ₂	(ng/mL)	0.129±0.076ª	0.073±0.199ª	0.066±0.084ª	0.014±0.005ª	0.181±0.099ª
25(OH)D₃	(ng/mL)	0.072±0.047ª	0.085±0.038ª	0.084±0.034ª	0.068±0.037ª	0.073±0.041ª
25(OH)D2	(ng/mL)	0.007±0.003ª	0.003±0.002 ^b	0.003±0.002 ^b	0.003±0.003 ^b	0.003±0.001 ^b
RE	(µg/mL)	1.026±0.398ª	0.418±0.138 ^b	0.384±0.145 ^b	0.359±0.219 ^b	0.267±0.117 ^b
β-carotene	(µg/mL)	0.188±0.112ª	0.059±0.037b	0.033±0.023b	0.033±0.031b	0.043±0.048 ^b
α-Toc	(µg/mL)	16.590±9.635ª	4.079±1.795 ^b	3.911±1.798 ^b	3.296±1.962 ^b	2.454±1.045 ^b
PK	(ng/mL)	5.122±2.561ª	3.938±2.450 ^a	3.528±1.454ª	2.294±1.220 ^a	3.409±1.462ª
MK-4	(ng/mL)	2.561±1.207 ^a	1.802±0.664 ^b	1.785±0.553 ^{ab}	1.195±0.343 ^{ab}	1.510±0.419 ^b
MK-7	(ng/mL)	3.044±2.901 ^a	1.675±2.732ª	0.798±0.746 ^a	1.363±1.292ª	0.917±0.916 ^a
Fat ²	(mg/mL)	24.92±11.55 ^a	32.64±11.52 ^a	30.24±7.91ª	21.39±14.12 ^a	20.72±10.08 ^a

Table 4 Cross-sectional analyses of fat-soluble vitamins in human breast milk¹

¹ Means in the same row bearing different superscripts differ significantly (p<0.05) by Tukey-Kramer HSD test.

² Measured by Röse-Gotlieb method.

The relations between the concentrations of each fat-soluble vitamin in breast milk and the other parameters are shown in Table 5. Age of lactating mothers correlated significantly and positively with the concentration of D₃ in breast milk. The concentration of 25(OH)D₃ was positively correlated with β -carotene, PK and fat. The concentration of 25(OH)D₂ was also positively correlated with RE, β -carotene, α -tocopherol and PK. It should be noted that correlations between the concentrations of D₃ and D₂ or 25(OH)D₃ and 25(OH)D₂ were observed. However, correlations between D and 25(OH)D were not found.

and the other parameters'									
	D_3		D ₂		25(OH)D ₃		25(OH)D ₂		
	r	p	r	p	r	p	r	p	
Age	0.2188	0.0483	0.1941	0.0806	0.2004	0.0710	-0.2127	0.0550	
Post-partum days	-0.1187	0.2881	0.0745	0.5058	-0.1021	0.3615	-0.0462	0.6806	
D ₃	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
D ₂	0.7984	<.0001	-	-	-	-	-	-	
25(OH)D3	0.1490	0.1815	-0.0967	0.3875	-	-	-	-	
25(OH)D ₂	-0.0889	0.4269	-0.0824	0.4617	0.2748	0.0125	-	-	
RE	0.0294	0.7931	-0.0017	0.9879	0.0548	0.6248	0.2794	0.0110	
β -carotene	0.0349	0.7554	0.0602	0.5908	0.2208	0.0462	0.4132	0.0001	
α -Toc	0.0659	0.5562	0.0401	0.7205	0.1146	0.3054	0.3989	0.0002	
PK	0.0273	0.8075	-0.0218	0.8458	0.3324	0.0023	0.2838	0.0098	
MK-4	0.2725	0.0132	0.1882	0.0905	0.2022	0.0685	0.2059	0.0634	
MK-7	-0.0463	0.6795	-0.0039	0.9725	0.1025	0.3596	0.1338	0.2307	
Fat	0.0840	0.5027	-0.1460	0.2422	0.4596	0.0001	0.1565	0.2095	

Table 5 Relation between concentrations of vitamin D and metabolites in human milk and the other parameters¹

¹ Values listed in bold face showed significant correlation.

Discussion

For the determination of vitamin D, HPLC with ultraviolet detection [16], CPBA [17], RIA [18] and EIA [19] are used widely. However, there are several problems in sensitivity, specificity and accuracy with determination of vitamin D compounds in breast milk because concentrations of them are markedly low. In addition, CPBA, RIA and EIA are unable to distinguish each form of vitamin D. Our proposed method, including two extraction methods and sensitive LC-MS/MS detection using stable isotope-labeled internal standards, makes it possible to determine the principal fat-soluble vitamins in breast milk which contain more interfering compounds compared to plasma or serum samples. D and 25(OH)D could be measured by LC-MS/MS after DMEQ-TAD derivatization with the equivalent of only 6 mL of breast milk. DMEQ-TAD, a reagent originally developed for fluorescence-labeling, is highly sensitive and stable for conjugated dienes [23]. Recently, DMEQ-TAD has been used for the derivatization of vitamin D metabolites to improve ionization efficiency of LC-MS/MS with APCI [22]. In this study, DMEQ-TAD derivatization enhanced the measurement sensitivity of D and 25(OH)D by about 40 times. In addition, other fat-soluble vitamins were also measured sensitively compared to the standard assay methods, HPLC with fluorescence detection for RE [24], tocopherol [25] and vitamin K derivatives [26] and HPLC with visible detection for β -carotene [27].

We applied this method to a nutrition survey for lactating mothers. The mean concentrations of vitamins D were low in breast milk as reported previously [7–10]. The concentrations of 25(OH)D in breast milk [25(OH)D₃, 0.081 ± 0.037 ng/mL; 25(OH)D₂, 0.003 ± 0.002 ng/mL] were markedly low compared to plasma concentrations of 25(OH)D, which is the most abundant circulating metabolite of vitamin D with a concentration of 20-50 ng/mL in normal subjects. In contrast, the concentrations of D in breast milk [D₃,

 0.088 ± 0.128 ng/mL; D₂, 0.078 ± 0.156 ng/mL] were comparable to $25(OH)D_3$ although plasma levels of D₃ and D₂ are normally lower than 25(OH)D (1–5 ng/mL). These are significant correlations between the concentrations of D₃ and D₂ or $25(OH)D_3$ and $25(OH)D_2$; however, correlations between D and 25(OH)D were not found. Fat concentrations also correlated significantly and positively with $25(OH)D_3$. These results suggest that the rate of secretion of vitamin D compounds from plasma to breast milk may be different depending on their polarity or affinity for plasma protein. Moreover, age of lactating mothers also correlated significantly and positively with the concentration of D₃ in breast milk. There is a possibility that higher intake of foods containing vitamin D including fish in older mothers could linked to higher concentration of D₃ in breast milk.

The amount of biological activity contributed by each vitamin D metabolites was proposed by Reeve et al. [28] as follows: D=1; 25(OH)D=5; 1,25(OH)₂D=10; and 24,25(OH)₂D=5. Mean content of total vitamin D in breast milk could be calculated using mean concentration of D₃, D₂, 25(OH)D₃ and 25(OH)D₂ [D₃, 0.088 ng/mL; D₂, 0.078 ng/mL; 25(OH)D₃, 0.081 ng/mL; 25(OH)D₂, 0.003 ng/mL] and Reeve's conversion factor as approximately 0.6 ng/mL. Suzuki et al. [29] reported that the mean intake of breast milk per day in Japanese breast-fed infants aged 1–5 months old was approximately 780 mL. The average intake of vitamin D in breast-fed infants was estimated to be 0.47 µg/day, which is extremely lower than current Dietary reference Intakes (DRIs) in Japan [adequate intake (AI) of vitamin D for infants 0–5 months, 5 µg/day)]. Thus, supplementation of vitamin D for breast feeding mothers or breastfed infants could be beneficial in improving the vitamin D status of breast fed infants especially during the winter.

In this study, post-partum days not correlated significantly with the concentrations of vitamin D in breast milk. Generally, vitamins A and E are high in colostrum, and decreased

and stable in mature breast milk. Sakurai et al. [30] reported that the concentrations of RE, β -carotene and α -Toc in breast milk decreased as the duration of lactation increased; however, clear correlations between the concentration of D₃ and the stage of lactation were not observed. Kojima et al. [14] demonstrated that PK and MK-4 concentrations in breast milk were high in colostrum and decreased during the course of lactation. Taken together, these results suggest that the distributions of each fat-soluble vitamin in breast milk might vary according to the duration of lactation and the concentrations of vitamin D in breast milk were not influenced by the stage of lactation unlike vitamins A, E and K.

In conclusion, we show a quantification method for fat-soluble vitamins in breast milk by LC-MS/MS. The present method maximizes the sensitivity and selectivity of the latest generation of tandem mass spectrometry and derivatization technique for the measurement of representative compounds of fat-soluble vitamins in human breast milk. The assay includes vitamins with a wide range of polarity, and this method has the advantage of low sample volume requirement. This method can apply the measurement of fat-soluble vitamins in other biological samples such as plasma, and may be useful for nutritional epidemiology studies and the setting of Dietary Reference Intakes of fat-soluble vitamins.

References

- M.F. Picciano, Nutrient composition of human milk, Pediatr Clin North Am 48(1) (2001) 53–67.
- [2] K.G. Dewey, Nutrition, growth, and complementary feeding of the breastfed infant, Pediatr Clin North Am 48(1) (2001) 87–104.
- [3] F.R. Greer, Do breastfed infants need supplemental vitamins?, Pediatr Clin North Am 48(2) (2001) 415–423.
- [4] D.V. Edidin, L.L. Levitsky, W. Schey, N. Dumbovic, A. Canpos, Resurgence of nutritional rickets associated with breast-feeding and special dietary practices, Pediatrics 65(2) (1980) 232–235.
- [5] M. Ala-Houhala, 25-Hydroxyvitamin D levels during breast-feeding with or without maternal or infantile supplementation of vitamin D, J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 4(2) (1985) 220–226.
- [6] B.L. Specker, B. Valanis, V. Hertzberg, N. Edwards, R.C. Tsang, Sunshine exposure and serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentrations in exclusively breast-fed infants, J Pediatr 107(3) (1985) 372–376.
- [7] A. Takeuchi, T. Okano, N. Tsugawa, M. Katayama, Y. Mimura, T. Kobayashi, S. Kodama, T. Matsuo, Determination of vitamin D and its metabolites in human and cow's milk, J. Micronutrient Anal 4(3) (1988) 193–208.
- [8] A. Takeuchi, T. Okano, N. Tsugawa, Y. Tasaka, T. Kobayashi, S. Kodama, T. Matsuo, Effects of ergocalciferol supplementation on the concentration of vitamin D and its metabolites in human milk, J Nutr 119(11) (1989) 1639–1646.
- [9] B.W. Hollis, B.A. Roos, H.H. Draper, P.W. Lambert. Vitamin D and its metabolites in human and bovine milk, J Nutr 111(7) (1981) 1240–1248.
- [10] H.J. Jan Mohamed, A. Rowan, B. Fong, S.L. Loy, Maternal serum and breast milk vitamin D levels: findings from the Universiti Sains Malaysia Pregnancy Cohort Study, PLoS One 9(7) (2014) e100705.
- [11] P.A. Lane, W.E. Hathaway, Vitamin K in infancy, J Pediatr 106(3) (1985) 351–359.
- [12] W.E. Lambert, L. Vanneste, A.P. De Leenheer, Enzymatic sample hydrolysis and HPLC in a study of phylloquinone concentration in human milk, Clin Chem 38(9) (1992) 1743–1748.

- [13] L.M. Canfield, J.M. Hopkinson, A.F. Lima, G.S. Martin, K. Sugimoto, J. Burr, L. Clark, D.L. McGee, Quantitation of vitamin K in human milk, Lipids 25(7) (1990) 406–411.
- [14] T. Kojima, M. Asoh, N. Yamawaki, T. Kanno, H. Hasegawa, A. Yonekubo, Vitamin K concentrations in the maternal milk of Japanese women, Acta Pediatr 93(4) (2004) 457–463.
- [15] D.B. Jelliffe, E.F. Jelliffe, The volume and composition of human milk in poorly nourished communities. A review, Am J Clin Nutr 31(3) (1978) 492–515.
- [16] G. Jones, Assay of vitamins D₂ and D₃, and 25-hydroxyvitamins D₂ and D₃ in human plasma by high-performance liquid chromatography, Clin Chem 24(2) (1978) 287–298.
- [17] J.G. Haddad, K.J. Chyu, Competitive protein-binding radioassay for 25hydroxycholecalciferol, J Clin Endocrinol Metab 33(6) (1971) 992–995.
- [18] B.W. Hollis, J.L. Napoli, Improved radioimmunoassay for vitamin D and its use in assessing vitamin D status, Clin Chem 31(11) (1985) 1815–1819.
- [19] C. Lind, J. Chen, I. Byrjalsen, Enzyme immunoassay for measuring 25hydroxyvitamin D₃ in serum, Clin Chem 43(6 Pt 1) (1997) 943–949.
- [20] N. Tsugawa, Y. Suhara, M. Kamao, T. Okano, Determination of 25-hydroxyvitamin D in human plasma using high-performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry, Anal Chem 77(9) (2005) 3001–3007.
- [21] Y. Suhara, M. Kamao, N. Tsugawa, T. Okano, Method for the determination of vitamin K homologues in human plasma using high-performance liquid chromatographytandem mass spectrometry, Anal Chem 77(3) (2005) 757–763.
- [22] T. Higashi, D. Awada, K. Shimada, Simultaneous determination of 25hydroxyvitamin D₂ and 25-hydroxyvitamin D₃ in human plasma by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry employing derivatization with a Cooksontype reagent, Biol Pharm Bull 24(7) (2001) 738–743.
- [23] M. Shimizu, S. Kamachi, Y. Nishii, S. Yamada, Synthesis of a reagent for fluorescence-labeling of vitamin D and its use in assaying vitamin D metabolites, Anal Biochem 194(1) (1991) 77–81.
- [24] C.A. Collins, C.K. Chow. Determination of vitamin A and vitamin A acetate by highperformance liquid chromatography with fluorescence detection, J Chromatogr 317 (1984) 349–354.

- [25] V. Piironen, P. Varo, E.L. Syväoja, K. Salminen, P. Koivistoinen. High-performance liquid chromatographic determination of tocopherols and tocotrienols and its application to diets and plasma of Finnish men. I. Analytical method, Int J Vitam Nutr Res 54(1) (1984), 35–40.
- [26] M. Shino, Determination of endogenous vitamin K (phylloquinone and menaquinonen) in plasma by high-performance liquid chromatography using platinum oxide catalyst reduction and fluorescence detection, Analyst, 113(3) (1988) 393–397.
- [27] W.A. MacCrehan, E. Schonberger, Determination of retinol, alpha-tocopherol, and beta-carotene in serum by liquid chromatography with absorbance and electrochemical detection, Clin Chem 33(9) (1987) 1585–1592.
- [28] L.E. Reeve, N.A. Jorgensen, H.F. DeLuca, Vitamin D compounds in cows' milk, J Nutr 112(4) (1982) 667–672.
- [29] K. Suzuki, S. Sasaki, K. Shinzawa, M. Totani, Milk intake by breast-fed infants before weaning, Jpn J Nutr Diet 62(6) (2004) 369–372.
- [30] T. Sakurai, M. Furukawa, M. Asoh, T. Kanno, T. Kojima, A. Yonekubo, Fat-soluble and water-soluble vitamin contents of breast milk from Japanese women, J Nutr Sci Vitaminol (Tokyo) 51(4) (2005) 239–247.

CAPTER 2

Measurement of serum level of 25-hydroxyvitamin D in Japanese

adolescent

Introduction

The major roles of Vitamin D are regulation of calcium homeostasis and bone metabolism. Among the vitamin D metabolites, serum 25(OH)D concentration is the best indicator of vitamin D status. Long-term vitamin D insufficiency can cause secondary hyperparathyroidism, which adversely affects bone metabolism in the elderly [1]. Negative correlations between serum 25(OH)D and PTH concentrations in children and adolescents have been reported in Argentina [2], France [3] and other countries [4–7]. However, there is limited evidence regarding the associations between vitamin D status and serum PTH concentration in Japanese adolescents. Serum PTH concentration is known to be regulated not only by vitamin D status, but also by dietary calcium intake [8]. Furthermore, dietary calcium intake in Japanese, including adolescents, is lower than in Europeans and Americans [9, 10]. These information suggest that vitamin D status may be more important for regulating serum PTH concentrations in adolescents with low calcium intake, such as Japanese adolescents.

Differences in the importance of vitamin D for bone growth between boys and girls are expected to exist during puberty because of differences in patterns of bone growth. It is known that boys tend to gain greater bone mass and density at a greater speed after age 10 though boys and girls develop bone mass at the same rate before puberty. Girls have a shorter window of time to gain their peak bone mass. However, little is known about sex differences in the associations between vitamin D status and serum PTH concentration and bone metabolism in adolescents.

In this study, we measured serum level of 25(OH)D in a large group of Japanese adolescent consisting of Junior and Senior High School students using automated competitive chemiluminescence immunoassay (CLIA) [11]. We provided comparable data on vitamin D status to allow the establishment of a reference values of serum 25(OH)D concentration or vitamin D intake in adolescents and examined sex differences in the association between serum 25(OH)D concentration and serum PTH concentration or vitamin D intake.
Materials and methods

Subjects.

We recruited the adolescents aged 12–18 years (n=1415) through an annual health examination at a Junior and Senior High School located in urban Tokyo. They were all selected from the same Junior and Senior High School. Subjects who had suffered from acute infection or who had chronic diseases such as diabetes mellitus, kidney disease, bone metabolic disease or inheritable metabolic diseases were excluded. Also subjects whose serum parameters could not be measured due to less amount of blood sample were also excluded. Finally, a total of 1,380 healthy adolescents from 1st grade of junior high school (1st JHS) (192 boys and 197 girls, aged 12–13 years), 1st grade of high school (1st HS) (247 boys and 279 girls, aged 15–16 years), and 3rd grade of high school (3rd HS) (223 boys and 242 girls, aged 17–18 years) were enrolled. Health status of the participants was defined based on health history, questionnaire, and serum biochemical parameters. The comprehensive study protocol, including nutritional evaluation, was reviewed by the ethics committee of Kagawa Nutrition University and comprehensive written informed consent was obtained from all participants.

Measurements.

Blood samples were obtained in May 2003 and 2004. Fasting blood samples were collected by venipuncture at school in the morning, centrifuged at $1,940 \times g$ for 15 min at 4°C, and the supernatant was stored at -35° C until assayed. Serum 25(OH)D was determined using the LIAISON 25OH Vitamin D TOTAL assay (DiaSorin Inc, Stillwater, MN, USA), which is an automated CLIA [11]. The LIAISON 25OH Vitamin D TOTAL assay is a rapid automated method with first results available in 40 min, and a subsequent

throughput of 180 samples per hour. Circulating level of intact PTH was measured by CLIA (LIAISON® N-TACT® PTH II Assay). Height, weight, and body mass index were measured for all subjects, and they also completed a questionnaire on exercise history, diet, and lifestyle factors. Calcaneal skeletal status was evaluated by quantitative ultrasound (QUS) measurements at the heel, using the Achilles system A-1000 (GE-Lunar, Madison, WI, USA), which measures speed of sound (SOS) in m/s and broadband ultrasound attenuation (BUA) in dB/MHz. The Achilles software was also used to calculate a stiffness index, which is a combination of both BUA and SOS. Calcaneal stiffness Z-score were calculated using Japanese age-matched reference data provided by GE-Lunar (Madison, WI, USA) as follows;

Z-score = (calculate a stiffness – reference data) / SD

Vitamin D and calcium intake were assessed using a food-frequency questionnaire (FFQ) [12], based on the semi-quantified FFQ developed by the Drafting Committee of the Ministry of Health and Welfare for Health Index. The FFQ has been shown to be a useful tool for evaluating dietary calcium and vitamin D intakes (coefficients of variance of four repeated measurements of intakes throughout 1 year were 14.1% for calcium, 13.6% for vitamin D).

Statistical Analysis.

All statistical analyses were performed using statistical software JMP 7.0 J (SAS Institute Inc, Cary, NC, USA). Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed to determine the significance of differences in anthropometric parameters, serum 25(OH)D and intact PTH concentrations, and vitamin D and calcium intakes among school grades. Student's t-tests were used to compare parameters between the sexes.

No definite 25(OH)D threshold for defining vitamin D deficiency/insufficiency has yet been established, and the proposed reference value varies among studies [13–15]. The Institute of Medicine of the National Academies in US/Canada recently proposed 50 nmol/L (20 ng/mL) 25(OH)D as a reference value to define vitamin D sufficiency [16]. Based on these reports, we evaluated the frequencies of vitamin D deficiency/insufficiency using the following serum 25(OH)D concentrations: <12.5 nmol/L (<5 ng/mL), severe vitamin D deficiency; 12.5–<25 nmol/L (5–<10 ng/mL), vitamin D deficiency; 25–<50 nmol/L (10–<20 ng/mL), mild vitamin D deficiency; 50–<75 nmol/L (20–<30 ng/mL), vitamin D insufficiency; \geq 75 nmol/L (\geq 30 ng/mL), vitamin D sufficiency.

Threshold calcium intake values were based on the recommended daily allowances (RDAs) according to the DRIs for Japanese 2010 [17] (boys: 1000 mg/day (12–14 years), 800 mg/day (15–18 years); girls: 800 mg/day (12–14 years), 650 mg/day (15–18 years)) (<RDA: L-Ca, ≥RDA: H-Ca). Differences in calcaneal stiffness Z-score among the four groups were evaluated by ANOVA and Tukey–Kramer's honest significant difference test.

Results

The subject characteristics.

The subject characteristics are summarized in Table 1.

		School grade			ANOVA
		1 st JHS	1 st HS	3 rd HS	(among
Parameter	All	(12–13	(15–16	(17–18	age
		(12 10	(10 10	(17 10 vears)	aroups)
Boys		youroy	youroy	youroy	9.00000
D0y 3	662	102	247	223	
n Body beight (cm)	165 3+0 0***	153 8+7 6	160 2+5 0***	171 5±5 /***	~0.001
Body weight (kg)	56 7+12 0***	45 3+9 0	59 2+9 4***	64 7+8 8***	<0.001
BMI (ka/m^2)	20.6+2.0	40.0±2.8	20 6+2 7	04.7 ±0.0	<0.001
25(OU)D (nmol/L)	20.0±3.0	19.0±2.0	20.0±2.7	22.0±2.0	<0.001
25(OFI)D (IIII0//L)	20.0.17.1	00.0±10.0	40.1.17.9	02±19.0	-0.001
Achilles stiffnass	00 2 4 9 4**	44.7±10.1	40.1±17.0	32.0±12.0	<0.001
	99.2±10.4	0.05 · 0 42***	100.0±10.1	109.3±16.3	<0.001
Achilles Z-score	-0.01±0.16	-0.05±0.13	-0.04±0.15	0.06±0.18	<0.001
Vitamin D Intake	10.0±2.7	9.9±2.9	10.1±2.5	9.9±2.7	0.808
(µg/d)					
Ca intake (mg/d)	554±289***	555±282	562±315***	553±288***	0.945
Exercise (%)	69.7***	73.9***	64.5***	71.9***	0.071
% of outdoor	69	73	74	58	
exercise					
Girls					
n	718	197	279	242	
Body height (cm)	156.9±5.7	153.5±5.4	158.2±5.3	158.1±5.3	<0.001
Body weight (kg)	50.6±7.5	45.8±7.0	52.2±7.4	52.6±6.3	<0.001
BMI (kg/m²)	20.5±2.5	19.4±2.5	20.8±2.7	21.0±2.1	<0.001
25(OH)D (nmol/L)	52.8±17.0	55.5±15.0	53.0±16.8	50.3±18.5	0.005
Intact PTH (pg/mL)	38.0±15.4	43.4±17.3	38.8±14.9	32.1±11.8	<0.001
Achilles stiffness	96.4±15.2	91.4±13.1	98.5±16.8	98.1±14.0	<0.001
Achilles Z-score	0.02±0.16	0.002±0.14	0.03±0.17	0.03±0.15	0.108
Vitamin D intake	10.1±2.5	10.2±2.6	10.0±2.4	10.1±2.5	0.783
(µg/d)					
Ca intake (mg/d)	471±199	507±221	459±187	454±189	0.01
Exercise (%)	48.3	53.1	47.5	44.9	0.224
% of outdoor	48	44	55	45	
exercise					

 Table 1 Subject characteristics^{1,2}

¹ Values were calculated as means \pm SD.

² Significant differences between boys and girls are shown with asterisks (*p<0.05,

p<0.001, *p<0.001).

Serum 25(OH)D concentrations in boys and girls were 60.8 ± 18.3 nmol/L (24.3 ±7.3 ng/mL) and 52.8 ±17.0 nmol/L (21.1 ±6.8 ng/mL), respectively. Serum 25(OH)D concentrations of girls were significantly lower than those of boys in all age groups.

Distribution of serum 25(OH)D concentration in adolescent.

Distribution of serum 25(OH)D concentration in adolescent boys and girls in Fig 1. Approximately 30% of boys and 48% of girls had less than 50 nmol/L of 25(OH)D concentration, and approximately 80% of boys and 90% of girls had less than 75 nmol/L of 25(OH)D concentration. Overall, obvious vitamin D deficiency, defined as serum 25(OH)D concentration <25 nmol/L, was observed in eight boys and 19 girls. There was no significant difference in serum 25(OH)D concentration among school grades in boys, but serum 25(OH)D levels decreased significantly with age in girls (Table 1). In 3rd HS of girls, serum 25(OH)D concentration was 50.3±18.5 nmol/L which was approximately 5 nmol/L lower



Fig. 1 Distribution of serum 25(OH)D concentration in adolescent boys (A) and girls (B). Vitamin D deficiency/insufficiency was defined using serum 25(OH)D concentration thresholds as follows; <12.5 nmol/L (<5 ng/mL), severe vitamin D deficiency; 12.5–<25 nmol/L (5–<10 ng/mL), vitamin D deficiency; 25–<50 nmol/L (10–<20 ng/mL), mild vitamin D deficiency; 50–<75 nmol/L (20–<30 ng/mL), vitamin D insufficiency; ≥75 nmol/L (≥30 ng/mL), vitamin D sufficiency.</p>

than concentration of 1st JHS girls, and more than half of girls had less than 50 nmol/L of 25(OH)D concentration. Although vitamin D intake did not differ between boys and girls, serum 25(OH)D concentrations were lower in girls than in boys. On the other hand, exercise habit and the ratio of outdoor exercise were much higher in boys than in girls.

Regression analysis between serum 25(OH)D and intact PTH concentrations.

Intact PTH concentration in boys and girls were 39.0±17.1 pg/mL and 38.0±15.4 pg/mL, respectively (Table 1). Intact PTH concentration decreased significantly with age in both boys and girls, with no significant difference between the sexes. Decrements of intact PTH concentration from 1stJHS to 3rdHS in both boys and girls were approximately 10 pg/mL. Although calcaneal stiffness was higher in girls than in boys in 1st JHS (12–13 years), the high rate of bone growth in boys led to a reversal of this phenomenon in 3rd HS (17–18 years). In simple regression analysis, a negative correlation between serum 25(OH)D and PTH concentration was observed in boys (Fig. 2). In girls, however, significant correlation was higher in boys than in girls (Table 1).



Fig. 2 Simple regression analysis between serum 25(OH)D and intact PTH concentrations in boys (A) and girls in 3rd HS (B).

Regression analysis between serum 25(OH)D and calcaneal stiffness.

Negative correlations between serum 25(OH)D and calcaneal stiffness in simple regression analysis were observed in both boys (p=0.029, r^2 =0.007) and girls (p<0.001, r^2 =0.049) (Fig. 3).



Fig. 3 Simple regression analysis between serum 25(OH)D and calcaneal stiffness Z score in boys (A) and girls (B).

Associations of vitamin D status and calcium intake with calcaneal stiffness Z-score.

Fig. 4 shows the associations of vitamin D status and calcium intake with calcaneal stiffness Z-score. The Z-scores in the H-25(OH)D groups were significantly higher than in the L-25(OH)D groups for boys(Fig. 4A) and girls (Fig. 4B). The difference between L-25(OH)D and H-25(OH)D groups was more significant in girls than in boys. Moreover, subgroup analysis identified significant and stronger associations of both vitamin D status and calcium intake in girls compared with boys (Fig.4C, D). These results suggest that calcaneal stiffness might be more susceptible to 25(OH)D concentration and calcium intake in girls than in boys. Also, Fig.4 indicates that vitamin D status has more impact on bone than Ca intake in both sexes.



Fig. 4 Association between vitamin D status and calcium intake and calcaneal stiffness in boys (A and C) and girls (B and D). Subjects were divided according to serum 25(OH)D concentration and calcium intake. L-25(OH)D and H-25(OH)D; -<50 nmol/L and -≥50 nmol/L serum 25(OH)D concentration, respectively. L-Ca and H-Ca; -<800 mg/day and -≥800 mg/day calcium intake, respectively. A and B, L-25(OH)D and H-25(OH)D groups were compared using Student's t-test. *p<0.05, ***p<0.001; C and D, Difference in calcaneal stiffness z-score among the four groups were evaluated by ANOVA and Tukey-Kramer's honest significant difference test. Significant differences are between the groups which are not connected by the same letter (a, b or c). Values given are means and standard errors (SE).</p>

Discussion

We assessed vitamin D status in Japanese adolescents to establish a reference values of serum 25(OH)D concentration. In this study, the mean serum 25(OH)D concentrations in boys and girls were 60.8±18.3 nmol/L (24.3±7.3 ng/mL) and 52.8±17.0 nmol/L (21.1±6.8 ng/mL), respectively. Serum 25(OH)D concentrations in Japanese adolescents were similar to those reported in the US and Europe [3, 4, 8, 18–22], and higher than those in China and India [23–25]. In this study, the serum 25(OH)D concentration in girls was significantly lower than in boys, and decreased significantly with age. However, González-Gross et al. reported that the 25(OH)D concentration was higher in girls than in boys and increased with age [22], while other studies showed a significant reduction in serum 25(OH)D concentration according to increasing age in adolescents [15], or lack of an association between 25(OH)D concentration and age [20]. These inconsistent results in adolescents suggest that region-specific lifestyles may be an important factor influencing 25(OH)D concentration during adolescence. The present study found that serum 25(OH)D concentration was lower in girls than in boys, although vitamin D intake did not differ between boys and girls. One possible explanation for this may be the higher percentage of boys taking exercise, and the higher ratio of outdoor exercise compared with girls.

A negative correlation between serum 25(OH)D and PTH concentration was observed in Japanese adolescents, in accordance with other studies [3–7]. A negative correlation between serum 25(OH)D and PTH concentration was observed in boys in all grades tested but only girls in 3rd HS. PTH concentration was more susceptible to serum 25(OH)D concentration in boys than in girls. These results suggest that serum PTH concentration is thought to be a useful marker of vitamin D insufficiency in adolescent Japanese boys aged 12–18 years. In girls, calcium intake had a greater association than serum 25(OH)D concentration on serum PTH. One possibility is that an extremely low calcium intake (471 \pm 199 mg/day) in Japanese adolescents may affect the relationship between PTH and 25(OH)D concentrations. The calcium intake of Japanese girls was approximately one third lower than that of Finnish girls [26]. These results suggest that serum PTH concentration may not be a useful marker of vitamin D insufficiency in girls aged 12–16 years who have a low calcium intake, such as Japanese adolescents.

The average vitamin D intake in Japanese adolescents was approximately 10 μ g/day. This is two to three times higher than the AI according to the DRIs for the Japanese population (AI: 3.5 μ g/day for 12–14-year-olds, 4.5 μ g/day for 15–17-year-olds, 5.5 μ g/day for 18–29-year-olds) [27]. However, approximately 30% of boys and 48% of girls had a blood concentration less than 50 nmol/L of 25(OH)D. Exposure to sunlight is known as the most important factor affecting serum 25(OH)D concentration. Therefore, the difference in sunlight exposure among subjects would influence serum 25(OH)D concentration. Taken together, higher vitamin D intake or much more sun exposure are needed to improve the status of vitamin D deficiency in Japanese adolescents.

The RDA of calcium according to the Dietary Reference Intakes for Japanese 2015 [17] is 1,000 mg/day for 12–14-year-olds and 800 mg/day for 15–18-year-olds in boys, and 800 mg/day for 12–14-year-olds and 650 mg/day for 15–18-year-olds in girls. Thus, the calcium intake of 450–550 mg/day in Japanese adolescents of both sexes was regarded as very low. Improvement of these low calcium status, especially in girls, should be importance for bone health in Japan.

Serum 25(OH)D concentration was significantly positively associated with calcaneal stiffness in adolescents. In contrast to the relationship between serum 25(OH)D and PTH concentration, serum 25(OH)D concentration was significantly associated with calcaneal

stiffness in girls of all age groups. The present study also suggested that both vitamin D status and calcium intake would have greater associations with calcaneal stiffness in adolescent girls. The reason why the association between 25(OH)D concentration and calcaneal stiffness was weaker in boys is unclear. After the growth spurt, bone mineral content increments were much higher in boys than in girls [28]. We also observed a much higher increment in calcaneal stiffness in boys. From body height, it could be assumed that ages 12-13 of boys are still in the early stages of puberty while the most of the girls at this age are near menarche. Also it could be assumed that girls reach final height by age 15, but boys don't reach until age 17. Sex differences in these bone growth may therefore be one reason why calcaneal stiffness was hardly affected by 25(OH)D concentration in adolescent boys.

To the best of our knowledge, the present study represents the first evaluation of vitamin D status in Japanese adolescents and could thus provide comparable data for establishing reference values of serum 25(OH)D concentration and vitamin D intake. This study is also the first to report a sex difference in the relationships between vitamin D status and PTH concentration and calcaneal stiffness in adolescents. However, the study was a cross-sectional study and subjects were recruited from only an urban area in the eastern part of Japan. Further studies involving more subjects of all age groups, from rural as well as urban areas in different parts of the country, are needed to verify the results. Additionally, concentrations of sex hormones and growth hormone and pubertal status would be associated with the sex difference in the relationships between vitamin D status and PTH concentration and calcaneal stiffness. Thus, comprehensive analysis including these hormones and pubertal status are also needed in the future.

Despite its limitations, the present study was able to conclude that vitamin D deficiency is common in Japanese adolescents. Vitamin D supplementation and sun exposure would be effective in improving vitamin D status in Japanese adolescent. We also confirmed that serum PTH concentration is a useful biomarker of vitamin D deficiency in Japanese adolescents, except in girls aged 12–16 years with low calcium intake. Moreover, the results of present study suggest that vitamin D status has a greater association with calcaneal stiffness in girls than in boys.

References

- [1] B. Dawson-Hughes, G.E. Dallal, E.A. Krall, S. Harris, L.J. Sokoll, G. Falconer, Effect of vitamin D supplementation on wintertime and overall bone loss in healthy postmenopausal women, Ann Intern Med 115(7) (1991) 505–512.
- [2] M.B. Oliveri, M. Ladizesky, C.A. Mautalen, A. Alonso, L. Martinez, Seasonal variations of 25-hydroxyvitamin D and parathyroid hormone in Ushuaia (Argentina), the southernmost city of the world, Bone Miner 20(1) (1993) 99–108.
- [3] J. Guillemant, P. Taupin, H.T. Le, N. Taright, A. Allemandou, G. Pérès, S. Guillemant, Vitamin D status during puberty in French healthy male adolescents, Osteoporos Int 10
 (3) (1999) 222–225.
- [4] T.A. Outila, M.U. Kärkkäinen, C.J. Lamberg-Allardt, Vitamin D status affects serum parathyroid hormone concentrations during winter in female adolescents: associations with forearm bone mineral density, Am J Clin Nutr 74(2) (2001) 206–210.
- [5] L. Harkness, B. Cromer, Low levels of 25-hydroxy vitamin D are associated with elevated parathyroid hormone in healthy adolescent females, Osteoporos Int 16(1) (2005) 109–113.
- [6] C.V. Harinarayan, T. Ramalakshmi, U.V. Prasad, D. Sudhakar, P.V. Srinivasarao, K.V. Sarma, E.G. Kumar, High prevalence of low dietary calcium, high phytate consumption, and vitamin D deficiency in healthy south Indians, Am J Clin Nutr 85(4) (2007) 1062–1067.
- [7] T.R. Hill, A.A. Cotter, S. Mitchell, C.A. Boreham, W. Dubitzky, L. Murray, J.J. Strain, A. Flynn, P.J. Robson, J.M. Wallace, M. Kiely, K.D. Cashman, Vitamin D status and parathyroid hormone relationship in adolescents and its association with bone health parameters: analysis of the Northern Ireland Young Heart's Project, Osteoporos Int 21(4) (2009) 695–700.
- [8] M.U. Kärkkäinen, J.W. Wiersma, C.J. Lamberg-Allardt, Postprandial parathyroid hormone response to four calcium-rich foodstuffs, Am J Clin Nutr 65(6) (1997) 1726– 1730.
- [9] T. Hirota, T. Kusu, K. Hirota, Improvement of nutrition stimulates bone mineral gain in Japanese school children and adolescents, Osteoporos Int 16(9) (2005) 1057–1064.

- [10] The National Health and Nutrition Survey Japan (2007). http://www.nih.go.jp/eiken/ english/index.htm.
- [11] D.L. Ersfeld, D.S. Rao, J.J Body, J.L. Sackrison Jr., A.B. Miller, N. Parikh, T.L. Eskridge, A. Polinske, G.T. Olson, G.D. MacFarlane, Analytical and clinical validation of the 25 OH vitamin D assay for the LIAISON automated analyzer, Clin Biochem 37(10) (2004) 867–874.
- [12] K. Uenishi, H. Ishida, K. Nakamura, Development of a simple food frequency questionnaire to estimate intakes of calcium and other nutrients for the prevention and management of osteoporosis, J Nutr Sci Vitaminol (Tokyo) 54(1) (2008) 25–29.
- [13] M.F. Holick, N.C. Binkley, H.A. Bischoff-Ferrari, C.M. Gordon, D.A. Hanley, R.P. Heaney, M.H. Murad, C.M. Weaver, Evaluation, treatment, and prevention of vitamin D deficiency: an Endocrine Society clinical practice guideline, J Clin Endocrinol Metab 96(7) (2011) 1911–1930.
- [14] C.J. Rosen, Vitamin D insufficiency, N Engl J Med 364(3) (2011) 248–254.
- [15] M. Absoud, C. Cummins, M.J. Lim, E. Wassmer, N. Shaw, Prevalence and Predictors of Vitamin D Insufficiency in Children: A Great Britain Population Based Study. PlosOne 6(7) (2011), e22179.
- [16] A.C. Ross, J.E. Manson, S.A. Abrams, J.F. Aloia, P.M. Brannon, S.K. Clinton, R.A. Durazo-Arvizu, J.C. Gallagher, R.L. Gallo, G. Jones, C.S. Kovacs, S.T. Mayne, C.J. Rosen, S.A. Shapses, The 2011 report on dietary reference intakes for calcium and vitamin D from the Institute of Medicine: what clinicians need to know, J Clin Endocrinol Metab 96(1) (2011) 53–58.
- [17] K. Uenishi, Y. Ishimi, K. Nakamura, H. Kodama, T. Esashi, Dietary Reference Intakes for Japanese 2010: Macrominerals, J Nutr Sci Vitaminol (Tokyo) 59(suppl) (2013) S83–S90.
- [18] F.L. Weng, J. Shults, M.B. Leonard, V.A. Stallings, B.S. Zemel, Risk factors for low serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentrations in otherwise healthy children and adolescents, Am J Clin Nutr 86(1) (2007) 150–158.
- [19] A.C. Looker, C.M. Pfeiffer, D.A. Lacher, R.L. Schleicher, M.F. Picciano, E.A. Yetley, Serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D status of the US population: 1988-1994 compared with 2000-2004, Am J Clin Nutr 88(6) (2008) 1519–1527.

- [20] Y. Dong, N. Pollock, I.S. Stallmann-Jorgensen, B. Gutin, L. Lan, T.C. Chen, D. Keeton,
 K. Petty, M.F. Holick, H. Zhu, Low 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels in adolescents: race,
 season, adiposity, physical activity, and fitness, Pediatrics 125(6) (2010) 1104–1111.
- [21] A.J. Rovner, K.O. O'Brien, Hypovitaminosis D among healthy children in the United States: a review of the current evidence, Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 162(6) (2008) 513– 519.
- [22] M. González-Gross, J. Valtueña, C. Breidenassel, L.A. Moreno, M. Ferrari, M. Kersting, S. De Henauw, F. Gottrand, E. Azzini, K. Widhalm, A. Kafatos, Y. Manios, P. Stehle, Vitamin D status among adolescents in Europe: the Healthy Lifestyle in Europe by Nutrition in Adolescence study, Br J Nutr 107(5) (2012) 755–764.
- [23] K. Zhu, Q. Zhang, L.H. Foo, A. Trube, G. Ma, X. Hu, X. Du, C.T. Cowell, D.R. Fraser,
 H. Greenfield, Growth, bone mass, and vitamin D status of Chinese adolescent girls 3
 y after withdrawal of milk supplementation, Am J Clin Nutr 83(3) (2006) 714–721.
- [24] X. Du, H. Greenfield, D.R. Fraser, K. Ge, A. Trube, Y. Wang, Vitamin D deficiency and associated factors in adolescent girls in Beijing, Am J Clin Nutr 74(4) (2001) 494– 500.
- [25] R.K. Marwaha, N. Tandon, D.R. Reddy, R. Aggarwal, R. Singh, R.C. Sawhney, B. Saluja, M.A. Ganie, S. Singh, Vitamin D and bone mineral density status of healthy schoolchildren in northern India, Am J Clin Nutr 82(2) (2005) 477–482.
- [26] Lehtonen-Veromaa MK, Möttönen TT, Nuotio IO, Irjala KM, Leino AE, Viikari JS (2002) Vitamin D and attainment of peak bone mass among peripubertal Finnish girls: a 3-y prospective study. Am J Clin Nutr 76: 1446–1453.
- [27] K. Tanaka, J. Terao, Y. Shidoji, H. Tamai, E. Imai, T. Okano, Dietary Reference Intakes for Japanese 2010: Fat-Soluble vitamins, J Nutr Sci Vitaminol (Tokyo) 59(suppl) (2013) S57–S66.
- [28] S. Krabbe, C. Christiansen, P. Rødbro, I. Transbøl, Effect of puberty on rates of bone growth and mineralization: with observations in male delayed puberty, Arch Dis Child 54(12) (1979) 950–953.

PART 2

Identification of novel metabolites of vitamin D

CAPTER 1

Identification of C-3 epimers of native vitamin D

Introduction

D₃ is metabolized to 25(OH)D₃ in the liver and subsequently to the active form, 1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃, or the inactive form, 24,25(OH)₂D₃, in the kidney. After the expression of biological activities, 25(OH)D₃ and 1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ are further metabolized *via* C-24 [1–3] or C-23/26 [4–7] oxidation pathways by type of cytochorome P450 (CYP) 24-hydroxylase, CYP24A1 [8, 9]. The C-24 oxidation pathway, initiated by C-24 hydroxylation, yields C-24 oxo compounds and ultimately results in the formation of side-chain cleavage products including calcitroic acid [2, 3]. The C-23 oxidation pathway, initiated by C-23 hydroxylation, results in the formation of metabolites with a lactone-ring in the side-chain including 1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃-26,23-lactone [4–7]. In addition to these traditional metabolic pathways, a novel C-3 epimerization pathway of 1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ was identified [10–13]. The C-3 epimerization pathway leads to the conversion of the configuration of the hydroxyl group at C-3 of the A-ring and produces 3-epi-1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ from 1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃. In view of this modification at the A-ring, the C-3 epimerization pathway is quite different from side-chain oxidation pathways.

The C-3 epimerization of 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ was observed in human colon carcinomaderived Caco-2 cells [10], bovine parathyroid cells [11], rat osteosarcoma-derived UMR-106 and Ros17/2.8 cells [12] and various other cultured cell lines [13]. It was considered that the C-3 epimerization pathway is cell differentiation-related in Caco-2 cells, because 3epi-1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ was only observed in confluent, quiescent Caco-2 cells, not proliferating Caco-2 cells [10]. 3-Epi-1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ was also isolated as a circulating metabolite of 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ in rats treated with pharmacological doses of 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ [14]. In addition, synthetic analogs of 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃, e.g. 1α ,25(OH)₂-16-ene-23-yne-D₃ [15] and 20-epi- 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ [16], have been reported to be metabolized to their respective C-3 epimers. It has been demonstrated that 3-epi-24,25(OH)₂D₃-24-glucuronide existed in the bile of rats administered pharmacological doses of 24,25(OH)₂D₃ [17]. 3-Epi-24,25(OH)₂D₃ was also identified in cell culture media [18] and rat plasma [19]. However, it is unclear whether 25(OH)D₃ would be metabolized to its C-3 epimer, 3-epi-25(OH)D₃. 25(OH)D₃ is the most abundant circulating metabolite of vitamin D₃ with a concentration of approximately 20 to 50 ng/mL under normal conditions [20]. 25(OH)D₃ is the immediate precursor of the active form, 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃, and the inactive form, 24,25(OH)₂D₃. Thus, metabolism of 25(OH)D₃ is thought to be important for regulation of the biological activity of D₃.

In this study, we demonstrated the metabolism of $25(OH)D_3$ in rat osteosarcoma UMR-106 cells and identified 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ using ¹H-NMR spectroscopy and LC-MS techniques. 3-Epi-25(OH)D₃ was also detected in various cell models cultured with $25(OH)D_3$ *in vitro* and in the serum of rats administered pharmacological doses of $25(OH)D_3$ *in vivo*. We also demonstrated that 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ was further metabolized by 1α -hydroxylase, CYP27B1 and 24-hydroxylase, CYP24A1.

Materials and methods

Materials.

3-epi-25(OH)D₃, 3-epi-1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ and 3-epi-24,25(OH)₂D₃ were synthesized by Hatakeyama et al. of Nagasaki University. 1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ and 24,25(OH)₂D₃ were obtained from Solvay Pharmaceuticals B.V. (Veenendaal, The Netherlands). 1 α ,24,25trihydroxyvitamin D₃ [1 α ,24,25(OH)₃D₃] was kindly provided by Kureha Chemical Industry Co., Ltd. [26,27-methyl-³H]-1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ (179 Ci/mmol) and [23,24(n)-³H]-25(OH)D₃ (82 Ci/mmol) were purchased from Amersham Biosciences (changed name to GE Healthcare). Deuterized chloroform (CDCl₃, 99.8 %, NMR analytical grade) was purchased from EURISO-TOP (Gif-Sur-Yvette, France).

Cell Culture.

A rat ostesarcoma cell line (UMR-106), human osteosarcoma cell line (MG-63), human colon adenocarcinoma cell line (Caco-2), porcine kidney cell line (LLC-PK₁) and human hepatoblastoma cell line (HepG2) were obtained from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC, Manassas, VA). UMR-106 and MG-63 cells were maintained in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) containing 10 % fetal calf serum (FCS). Caco-2 cells were maintained in Minimum Essential Medium (MEM) containing 10 % FCS and 1% non-essential amino acids. LLC-PK₁ cells were maintained in Medium 199 containing 5 % FCS. HepG2 cells were maintained in MEM containing 10 % FCS, 1% non-essential amino acids and 1% sodium pyruvate. All culture media contained penicillin (100 IU/ml) and streptomycin (100 μ g/mL). Cells were cultured at 37 °C in a humidified atmosphere of CO₂ in air with a change of medium every three days. In the experiments

described below, vitamin D_3 compounds were added to the culture medium in an ethanolic solution, the final concentration in the medium never exceeding 0.1 % (v/v).

Generation of Vitamin D Metabolites in Cultured Cells.

UMR-106, MG-63 and LLC-PK₁ cells (2 × 10⁶) and Caco-2 and HepG2 cells (4 × 10⁶) were seeded in 150-mm culture dishes and cultured for 4 days to late log phase. The medium was removed and cells were washed with phosphate-buffered saline without Ca, Mg [PBS (–)] and then in medium containing 1 % bovine serum albumin (BSA) in the presence of 10 μ M of 25(OH)D₃, 1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃, 24,25(OH)₂D₃, 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ or 3-epi-1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ for 48 h at 37°C. For measurements of vitamin D₃ metabolites, three 150-mm culture dishes were used for each culture. For time-course experiments, the cells were incubated with 5 μ M of 25(OH)D₃, 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ or 1 μ M of 1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃, 3-epi-1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ for a period of time ranging from 1 to 48 h.

Purification of Metabolites.

Lipid extraction was performed according to the method of Bligh and Dyer [21] as modified by Makin et al. [2]. Lipid was extracted from cells and medium with methanol and dichloromethane. The organic layer, containing unchanged substrate and lipid-soluble metabolites, was evaporated under nitrogen gas to dryness, and the residue was redissolved in hexane/2-propanol/methanol (HIM), (88:10:2, v/v/v). HPLC was carried out using a model 600 pump and a model 996 photodiode array detector (Waters Associates, Milford, MA). Elution was performed on a Zorbax SIL column (4.6 \times 250 mm, Agilent Technologies) using HIM (88:10:2), at a flow rate of 1.0 mL/min (first HPLC system). Metabolites were identified based on UV characteristics of the vitamin D *cis*-triene system $(\lambda max=265 \text{ nm}, \lambda min=228 \text{ nm})$. The same metabolites were also separated on a Sumichiral OA-2000 column (4.6 × 250 mm, Sumika Chemical Analysis Service, Ltd., Osaka, Japan) using 2-propanol/hexane (96.5/3.5 or 94.5/5.5, v/v) or a Zorbax CN column (4.6 × 250 mm, Agilent Technologies) using HIM(88:10:2), at a flow rate of 1.0 mL/min (second HPLC system). Concentrations of stock solutions of D₃-related compounds were determined spectrophotometrically using a molar extinction coefficient, ϵ 265=18,200.

¹H-NMR and LC-MS Analyses.

The 500-MHz ¹H-nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectra of the isolated metabolites were measured on a Varian VXR-500 (¹H: 499.9 MHz). Purified metabolites (3 μg) were dissolved in 40 μL of CDCl₃ with a very small portion of CHCl₃ (7.24 ppm, used as an internal standard for ¹H-NMR spectroscopy) and transferred into a nano probe. 2 Dimensional Correlation Spectroscopy (2D COSY) and 2 dimensional Nuclear Overhauser Effect Correlated Spectroscopy (2D NOESY) spectra were obtained as described previously [18]. Liquid chromatography mass spectrometry (LC-MS) analysis was carried out with a QUATTROII (Waters Micromass, Manchester, U.K.) equipped with an electrospray ionization (ESI) source in the positive ion mode. An HPLC system consisting of a MAGIC2002 Micro-LC full system (Michrom Bio Resources, Inc, CA) and a Develosil ODS-HG-5 column (2.0×150 mm, NOMURA CHEMICAL, Tokyo, Japan) was used. As a mobile phase, methanol/10 mM ammonium acetate (50/50, v/v: A) and methanol/10 mM ammonium acetate (98/2, v/v: B) were used and a linear gradient elution was run from an A/B ratio of 65/35 to 20/80, at a flow rate of 0.2 mL/min. The column temperature was maintained at 40 °C. Mass spectra were obtained by averaging each peak and subtracting the background.

In Vivo Metabolism of 25(OH)D₃ in Rats

Male Wistar rats (Japan SLC, Hamamatsu, Japan), weighing approximately 300 g, were used in experiments, following adaptation to laboratory conditions for at least 5 days. Three rats were given a bolus dose of 500 μ g of 25(OH)D₃ intravenously. At 6 h after dosing, each rat was sacrificed and the blood was collected, heparinized and immediately centrifuged at 1,940 × g. About 5 mL of serum was obtained from each rat. Lipid extraction of serum and purification of 25(OH)D₃ metabolites were performed as described in the "Purification of Metabolites" section.

Metabolism of 3-Epi-25(OH)D₃ in Cultures of Recombinant E. Coli Cells Expressing CYP27B1 and CYP24A1.

Co-expression plasmids for human CYP27B1, bovine adrenodoxin (ADX) and nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate, reduced form (NADPH)-adorenodoxin reductase (ADR) (pKSNdl-CYP27B1) were constructed as described previously [22]. Co-expression plasmids for CYP24A1, ADX and ADR (pKSNdl-CYP24A1) were reported previously by Sakaki et al. [23]. Recombinant *E. Coli* cells transfected with the above plasmids (JM109/pKSNdl-CYP27B1 or JM109/pKSNdl-CYP24A1) were grown in TB medium [24] containing 50 µg/ml of ampicillin at 26 °C. The induction of transcription was initiated by addition of isopropyl thio- β -D-galactoside at a final concentration of 1 µM when the cell density (OD660) reached 0.5. Then, 50 µM of 25(OH)D₃ or 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ was added to the culture and the cells were incubated for 48 h. Lipid extraction and purification of metabolites were performed as described in the "Purification of Metabolites" section. Recombinant *E. Coli* cells transfected with pKSNdl derived from pKK233-3 (JM109/pKSNdl) were used for control experiments.

VDR and DBP Binding Assay.

Displacement of $[{}^{3}H]$ -1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ from calf-thymus cytosol receptors (Yamasa Co. Ltd., Chiba, Japan) by 1α , 25(OH)₂D₃, 25(OH)D₃, 24, 25(OH)₂D₃ and their C-3 epimers was determined as described previously [18, 25]. Solutions containing 500 µL of the calf-thymus cytosol receptor prepared with phosphate buffer (0.3 M KCl, 0.05 M K₂HPO₄, 0.05M KH₂PO₄, pH 7.4) were mixed with increasing amounts of 1a,25(OH)₂D₃ (0.0078-64 pg/tube), 3-epi-1α,25(OH)₂D₃, 25(OH)D₃, 3-epi-25(OH)D₃, 24,25(OH)₂D₃ and 3-epi-24,25(OH)₂D₃ (0.0078–16384 pg/tube) in 20 µL ethanol, and the samples were incubated at 20 °C for 1 hr. Next, 34 fmol [³H]- 1α , 25(OH)₂D₃ in 25 µL ethanol was added, and the samples were incubated at 20 °C for 1 hr. The addition of 200 µL of dextran/charcoal (0.05% dextran T-150/0.5% Norit A Charcoal Decolorizing Neutral) in freshly prepared phosphate buffer (0.05 M Na₂HPO₄, 0.05M NaH₂PO₄, pH 7.4) was used to separate the bound and free forms of $[{}^{3}H]-1\alpha$, 25(OH)₂D₃. The assay tubes were incubated on ice for 10 min and centrifuged at $1,940 \times g$ for 10 min at 4 °C. Each supernatant was collected 500 µL and transferred into a scintillation vial to measure radioactivity. Competitive displacement of $[^{3}H]$ - 25(OH)D₃ from vitamin D-deficient rat serum DBP by 1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃, 25(OH)D₃, 24,25(OH)₂D₃ and their C-3 epimers was determined under equilibrium ligand-binding conditions [25]. A total of 82 fmol $[{}^{3}H]-25(OH)D_{3}$ in 50 µL ethanol was mixed with increasing amounts of 25(OH)D₃, 24,25(OH)₂D₃ and their C-3 epimers (0.003125-16 ng/tube), 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ and 3-epi-1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ (0.24-819.2 ng/tube) in 100 µL ethanol. Next, 1 mL of vitamin D- deficient rat serum diluted 1:70,000 with freshly prepared barbital acetate buffer (3.5 mM acetic acid, 3.5 mM sodium barbiturate, 0.13 M NaCl, 0.1% ovalbumin, pH 8.6) was added, and the samples were incubated on ice for 1 hr. To separate

the bound and free forms of $[^{3}H]-25(OH)D_{3}$, 500 µL of dextran/charcoal (0.025% dextran T-150/0.25% Norit A Charcoal Decolorizing Neutral) in freshly prepared barbital acetate buffer was used. The assay tubes were vortexed and centrifuged at $1,940 \times g$ for 10 min at 4 °C. Following centrifugation, 1.0 ml of each supernatant was collected and transferred into a scintillation vial to measure radioactivity. The binding affinity of 1α , 25(OH)₂D₃, 25(OH)D₃, 24,25(OH)₂D₃ and their C-3 epimers for the VDR was tested using a calf thymus 1α.25(OH)₂D₃ receptor assay (Yamasa Co., Chiba, Japan). The receptor was incubated at 20 °C for 1 h with increasing concentrations of a D₃ compound and then 15,000 dpm of $[^{3}H]$ -1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ was added and incubated at 20 °C for 1 h as described previously [18, 25]. The binding affinity of 1α , 25(OH)₂D₃, 25(OH)D₃, 24, 25(OH)₂D₃ and their C-3 epimers for the vitamin D binding protein (DBP) was tested using plasma from vitamin D-deficient rats [26]. The displacement of $[^{3}H]$ -25(OH)D₃ from vitamin D-deficient rat plasma diluted (1: 70,000) in 3.5 mM barbiturate buffer (pH 8.6) containing 0.13 M NaCl and 0.1 % ovalbumin was measured following the addition of the compounds as described previously [18, 25].

Transfection and Luciferase Activity Assay

MG-63 was maintained in DMEM supplemented with penicillin (100 IU/mL), streptomycin (100 μ g/mL) and 10 % dextran-coated charcoal-treated FCS. Cells (2 × 10⁵) were suspended in 2 mL of the medium and transfected with 0.5 μ g of luciferase reporter plasmid (pGVB2 vector, Toyo Ink Co., Ltd., Tokyo, Japan) containing a human osteocalcin gene promoter (-848/+10) including a vitamin D-responsive element (VDRE) [27] or a rat CYP24 gene promoter (-291/+9) including two VDREs [28] and 0.25 μ g of pRL-CMV vector (pGVB2 vector, Toyo Ink Co., Ltd.) as an internal control using Tfx-50 reagent

(Promega Corp. Madison, WI). The cells were incubated with 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ (10^{-11} – 10^{-7} M) or the other D₃ compounds (10^{-9} – 10^{-6} M) for 48 h. The luciferase activities of the cell lysates were measured with a luciferase assay system (Toyo Ink Co., Ltd.), according to the manufacturer's instructions. Transactivation measured as luciferase activity was standardized with the luciferase activity of the same cells determined with the Sea Pansy luciferase assay system as a control (Toyo Ink Co., Ltd.) [29].

Anti-Proliferative Activity Assay.

The human promyelocytic leukemia cells (HL-60) were kindly provided by Dr. M. Inaba, Osaka City University Medical School, Japan. Cells were cultured at 37 °C in RPMI 1640 medium (Nissui Pharmaceutical Co., Tokyo, Japan) supplemented with 10% FCS and 60 mg/L of kanamycin. For flow cytometry, HL-60 cells (10^5 cells/well) were placed in 24-well tissue culture plates and cultured for 3 days with 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ (10^{-11} – 10^{-7} M) or the other D₃ compounds (10^{-9} – 10^{-6} M). Each group of cells was washed with PBS (–) and resuspended in PBS (–) containing 0.2% Triton-X and 100 µg of RNase, and incubated at 37 °C for 1 h. Cells were washed with PBS (–) and incubated with 0.5 mL of deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA)-staining solution containing propidium iodide (50 µg/mL) at 4 °C for 20 min. The cells were analyzed with a flow cytometer equipped with an argon laser (488 nm, Becton Dickinson FACScanTM) and the cell cycle distribution was analyzed using ModiFiT LT (Verity).

Analysis of Cell Surface Antigen Expression.

For the analysis of cell surface expression of CD-11b antigen, HL-60 cells (10^5 cells/well) were cultured for 3 days with 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ (10^{-11} – 10^{-7} M) or the other D₃

compounds ($10^{-9}-10^{-6}$ M) under the same conditions as for flow cytometry. Each group of cells was washed with PBS (–) and the cells (2×10^5 cells) were resuspended in 100 µL of diluent solution containing 1% BSA and 1% sodium azide. Then the cells were incubated with 10 µL of human monoclonal FITC-conjugated CD11b antibody (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) for 30 min at room temperature. The cells were washed once with diluent solution and then fixed in 300 µL of PBS (–) containing 2% paraformaldehyde. Fluorescence was detected on a Becton Dickinson FACScanTM at an excitation wavelength of 490 nm and emission wavelength of 520 nm. Results were recorded as the mean fluorescence index, which is the product of the % fluorescence and the mean fluorescence intensity, with 10^4 cells being counted per treatment.

Statistics

Values were calculated as mean \pm SE. Significance levels were determined by Student's t-test.

Results

Metabolism of 25(OH)D₃ in UMR-106 Cells.

After incubation of 10 µM of 25(OH)D₃ with UMR-106 cells for 48 h, lipid extracts from the media along with the cells were subjected to a first HPLC using a Zorbax SIL column (Fig.1A). The major peak, peak 2 corresponding to the authentic standards of $25(OH)D_3$ [retention time (R.T.) 5.67 min] and 3-epi-25(OH)D_3 (R.T. 5.68 min), was collected in a single fraction eluting between 5 and 7 min (Fraction X). Fraction X was then subjected to a second HPLC using a Sumichiral OA-2000 column for the separation of 3epi-25(OH)D₃ (R.T. 16.92 min) from 25(OH)D₃ (R.T. 18.14 min) (Fig. 1B). The middle peak (peak b, R.T. 16.95 min), which possesses the characteristic UV chromophore of vitamin D₃ (λ min 228 nm, λ max 265 nm), exhibited the same retention time as authentic 3epi-25(OH)D₃ but a different retention time to 25(OH)D₃. The metabolite corresponding to peak b was not formed when 25(OH)D3 was incubated with the medium alone. It is clear from the HPLC chromatograms that peak b is the major metabolite of 25(OH)D₃ produced in UMR-106 cells. Peak b was collected in sufficient quantity to permit identification by ¹H-NMR and LC-MS analyses. Peak a (R.T. 16.30 min), which possesses the characteristic UV chromophore of previtamin D₃ (λ min 228 nm, λ max 260 nm), was also observed in a control incubation with no cells, only medium. Peak 4 in the first HPLC system corresponding to authentic standards of 24,25(OH)₂D₃ (R.T. 8.27 min) and 3-epi-24,25(OH)₂D₃ (R.T. 8.16 min) was collected (Fraction Y) and purified twice as described previously [20]. $24,25(OH)_2D_3$ was contained in this fraction, however 3-epi-24,25(OH)_2D_3 was not detected (data not shown).



Fig.1 Metabolism of 25(OH)D₃ in cultured rat osteosarcoma UMR 106 cells. (A)Upper panel, The first HPLC profile and UV spectra of the lipid extracts from UMR-106 cells along with the medium incubated with 10 μM of 25(OH)D₃ for 48 h. Lower panel, The HPLC profiles of authentic standards of 25(OH)D₃, 3-epi-25(OH)D₃, 24,25(OH)₂D₃ and 3-epi-24,25(OH)₂D₃. The first HPLC analysis was performed using a Zorbax-SIL column (4.6 x 250 mm) eluted with hexane/2-propanol/methanol (HIM 88/10/2, v/v/v) at a flow rate of 1.0 mL/min. (B)Upper panel, The second HPLC profile and UV spectra of Fraction X obtained from the first HPLC. Lower panel, The HPLC profiles of authentic standards of 25(OH)D₃ and 3-epi-25(OH)D₃. The second HPLC was performed using a Sumichiral OA-2000 column (4.6 x 250 mm) eluted with 2-propanol/hexane (96.5/3.5, v/v) at a flow rate of 1.0 mL/min.

Identification of 3-Epi-25(OH)D₃ by ¹H-NMR and LC-MS Analyses.

The ¹H chemical shifts assigned based on 1D and 2D COSY, NOESY spectra of synthetic standards and the $25(OH)D_3$ metabolite (Peak b) are summarized in Table 1. In the ¹H-NMR spectrum, the most pronounced difference between $25(OH)D_3$ and 3-epi- $25(OH)D_3$ was the chemical shift of H-3 [$25(OH)D_3$: 3.93 ppm, 3-epi- $25(OH)D_3$: 3.86 ppm]. The chemical shift of H-3 of Peak b (3.86 ppm) was observed at the same position as 3-epi- $25(OH)D_3$ upfield in comparison with $25(OH)D_3$. Such an upfield shift appears to be responsible for the C-3 epimerization in the A-ring of $25(OH)D_3$. The resonances from all the protons except H-3 were proof of an unchanged side-chain as well as the *cis*-triene system. In the LC-MS spectra of authentic $25(OH)D_3$ and 3-epi- $25(OH)D_3$, [M+H]⁺ and

 $[M+NH_4]^+$ were observed at m/z 401.8 and 418.8 (Table 1). In the spectrum of Peak b, $[M+H]^+$ and $[M+NH_4]^+$ were also observed at m/z 401.8 and 418.8. Thus Peak b was considered to be a diastereomer or a geometric isomer of 25(OH)D₃. From the results of HPLC, ¹H-NMR and LC-MS analyses, Peak b could be assigned as 3-epi-25(OH)D₃, a diastereomer of a hydroxyl group at C-3 of the A-ring of 25(OH)D₃.

Compound	25(OH)D ₃	3-epi-25(OH)D₃	25(OH)D₃ metabolite (Peak b)
¹ H-NMR analysis			
¹ H chemical shifts a	nd coupling constants ¹		
H-1	2.16 (1H, ddd, <i>J</i> =5.0, 8.0, 13.5)	2.13 (1H, ddd, <i>J</i> =4.5, 10.0, 14.5)	2.13 (1H, ddd, <i>J</i> =4.5, 10.0, 14.5)
	2.38 (1H, ddd, <i>J</i> =4.5, 8.0, 13.5)	2.38 (1H, ddd, <i>J</i> =5.5, 5.5, 14.0)	2.38 (1H, ddd, <i>J</i> =5.5, 5.5, 14.0)
H-2	1.66 (1H, m)	1.66 (1H, m)	1.66 (1H, m)
	1.96 (1H, m)	1.96 (1H, m)	1.96 (1H, m)
H-3	3.93 (1H, m)	3.86 (1H, m)	3.86 (1H, m)
H-6	6.21 (1H, d, <i>J</i> =11.5)	6.21 (1H, d, <i>J</i> =11.5)	6.21 (1H, d, <i>J</i> =11.5)
H-7	6.01 (1H, d, <i>J</i> =11.5)	6.02 (1H, d, <i>J</i> =11.5)	6.02 (1H, d, <i>J</i> =11.5)
H-18	0.52 (3H, s)	0.53 (3H, s)	0.53 (3H, s)
H-19	4.80 (1H, narrow m)	4.82 (1H, narrow m)	4.82 (1H, narrow m)
H-21	5.03 (1H, narrow m) 0.92 (3H, d, <i>J</i> =6.5)	5.04 (1H, narrow m) 0.92 (3H, d, <i>J</i> =6.5)	5.04 (1H, narrow m) 0.92 (3H, d, <i>J</i> =6.5)
H-26,27	1.19 (6H, s)	1.20 (6H, s)	1.23 (6H, s)
LC-MS analysis			
characteristic ions	418.8 [M+NH ₄] ⁺	418.8 [M+NH ₄] ⁺	418.8 [M+NH ₄] ⁺
(m/z)	401.8 [M+H]+	401.8 [M+H] ⁺	401.8 [M+H]+

Table 1 ¹H-NMR and LC-MS analyses of 25(OH)D₃ metabolites

¹ Chemical shifts are in ppm; coupling constants are in Hertz (Hz).

Comparison of Metabolism of 25(OH)D₃ among UMR-106, MG-63, Caco-2, LLC-PK₁ and HepG2 Cells.

When $25(OH)D_3$ was incubated with cultured cells, 3-epi-25(OH)D_3 and $24,25(OH)_2D_3$ were observed in all cell lines tested (Fig. 2). In cell cultures of UMR-106, MG-63, Caco-2 and HepG2, 3-epi-25(OH)D_3 was preferentially generated although a small quantity of $24,25(OH)_2D_3$ was also generated, whereas $24,25(OH)_2D_3$ and 3-epi-25(OH)D_3 were respectively, major and minor metabolites of $25(OH)D_3$ in LLC-PK₁ cells. The amount of 3-epi-25(OH)D_3 generated was greatest in HepG2 cells among the cultures and about 8-fold greater than that of $24,25(OH)_2D_3$.



Fig. 2 Relative amounts of $25(OH)D_3$ metabolites generated in UMR-106, MG-63, Caco-2, LLC-PK₁ and HepG2 cells. Each cell was incubated with 10 μ M of 25(OH)D₃ for 48 h. The results are expressed as the total amount of product formed in nmol/plate/48 h and represent the mean of three experiments (values in columns).

In Vivo Metabolism of 25(OH)D₃ in Rats.

Lipid extracts of the serum obtained from rats intravenously given 500 μ g of 25(OH)D₃ were subjected to HPLC and metabolites of 25(OH)D₃ were purified as outlined in the Materials and method section. The major peak corresponding to the authentic standards 25(OH)D₃ and 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ in the first HPLC system was collected in a single fraction, then the eluate was subjected to a second HPLC using a Sumichiral OA-2000 column for

the separation of 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ from 25(OH)D₃. In the second HPLC system, 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ (R.T. 16.68 min) separated from 25(OH)D₃ (R.T. 17.96 min) was observed (data not shown). The calculated serum concentration of 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ was 16.2 ± 6.7 ng/mL (mean \pm SE, n=3).

Substrate Specificity of C-3 Epimerization.

Fig. 3 shows the amounts of 3-epi-25(OH)D₃, 3-epi-1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ and 3-epi-24,25(OH)₂D₃ generated from 25(OH)D₃, 1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ and 24,25(OH)₂D₃ in each cell-culture, respectively. In UMR-106, Caco-2 and LLC-PK₁ cells, C-3 epimerization occurred similarly in 25(OH)D₃ and 1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃. In contrast, MG-63 and HepG2 cells epimerized 25(OH)D₃ more preferentially than 1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃. 24,25(OH)₂D₃ was hardly epimerized to 3-epi-24,25(OH)₂D₃ in any of the cultured cells.



Fig. 3 Relative amounts of C-3 epimers generated from $25(OH)D_3$, 1α , $25(OH)_2D_3$ and $24,25(OH)_2D_3$ in UMR-106, MG-63, Caco-2, LLC-PK₁ and Hep G2 cells. Each cell was incubated with 10 μ M of $25(OH)D_3$, 1α , $25(OH)_2D_3$ and $24,25(OH)_2D_3$ for 48 h. The results are expressed as the total amount of product formed in nmol/plate/48h and represent the mean of three experiments (values in columns). (A) UMR-106 cells (B) MG-63 cells (C) Caco-2 cells (D) LLC-PK₁ cells (E) HepG2 cells. Significant difference among the three groups (*p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001).

Metabolism of 3-Epi-25(OH)D3 and 3-Epi-1a,25(OH)2D3 in UMR-106 Cells.

After incubation of 10 µM of 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ or 3-epi-1a,25(OH)₂D₃ with UMR-106 cells for 48 h, lipid extracts from the medium along with the cells were subjected to HPLC using a Zorbax SIL column (Fig.4). In the HPLC analysis of 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ metabolites, Peak 2, 3 and 4 in Fig. 4A possessed the characteristic UV chromophore of vitamin D₃ (λmin 228 nm, λmax 265 nm). Peak 4 (R.T. 8.16 min) exhibited the same retention time as the authentic standard of 3-epi-24,25(OH)₂D₃ (R.T. 8.14 min). The amount of Peak 4 was significantly increased by pre-incubation with 10 nM 1a,25(OH)₂D₃ for 18 h (data not shown). Peak 4 was collected in sufficient quantity to permit identification by ¹H-NMR and LC-MS analyses. Peak 1 in Fig. 4A, which possessed the characteristic UV chromophore of previtamin D₃ (λ min 228 nm, λ max 260 nm), was also observed in a control incubation with no cells, only medium. Peak 2 in Fig. 4A containing 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ was collected and purified using a chiral column for the separation of 25(OH)D₃ from 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ as described above. 25(OH)D₃ was not detected by an additional HPLC chromatography under the same conditions (data not shown). Fig. 4B shows the HPLC chromatograms of 3-epi- 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ metabolites and authentic standards of 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃, 3-epi- 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ and 1α , 24, 25(OH)₃D₃. Six peaks possessed the characteristic UV chromophore of vitamin D₃ (\lambda min 228 nm, \lambda max 265 nm). Peak 6 in Fig. 4B (R.T. 20.49 min), which was the most prevalent polar metabolite of 3-epi- 1α , 25(OH)₂D₃, was eluted at a less polar position than authentic 1α , 24, 25(OH)₃D₃. Peak 6 in Fig. 4B was collected and purified for ¹H-NMR and LC-MS analyses. Peak 4 in Fig. 4B, which eluted at a position approximating that of $1\alpha.25(OH)_2D_3$ in HPLC using a Zorbax SIL column showed a different retention time from 1a,25(OH)₂D₃ in HPLC using a Zorbax CN column (data not shown). These results suggest

that C-3 $(\alpha \rightarrow \beta)$ epimerization may be an extremely weak process compared to C-3 $(\beta \rightarrow \alpha)$ epimerization or that C-3 $(\beta \rightarrow \alpha)$ epimerization is unidirectional.



Fig. 4 Metabolism of 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ or 3-epi-1α,25(OH)₂D₃ in UMR-106 cells. (A) Upper panel, The HPLC profile and UV spectra of the lipid extracts from UMR-106 cells along with the medium incubated with 10 µM of 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ for 48 h. Lower panel, The HPLC profiles of authentic standards of 3-epi-25(OH)D₃, and 3-epi-24,25(OH)₂D₃. (B) Upper panel, The HPLC profile and UV spectra of the lipid extracts from UMR-106 cells along with the medium incubated with 10 µM of 3-epi-25(OH)₂D₃. (B) Upper panel, The HPLC profile and UV spectra of the lipid extracts from UMR-106 cells along with the medium incubated with 10 µM of 3-epi-1α,25(OH)₂D₃ for 48 h. Lower panel, The HPLC profiles of authentic standards of 1α,25(OH)₂D₃, 3-epi-1α,25(OH)₂D₃, and 1α,24,25(OH)₃D₃. HPLC analysis was performed using a Zorbax-SIL column (4.6 × 250 mm) eluted with hexane/2-propanol/methanol (HIM 88/10/2, v/v/v) at a flow rate of 1.0 mL/min.

Identification of 3-Epi-24,25(OH)₂D₃ and 3-Epi-1 α ,24,25(OH)₃D₃ by ¹H-NMR and LC-

MS Analyses.

The ¹H chemical shifts assigned based on 1 dimensional (1D) and 2D COSY, NOESY spectra of synthetic standards and 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ metabolite (Peak 4 in Fig. 4A) are summarized in Table 2. The resonances from all protons of the 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ metabolite (Peak 4 in Fig. 4A) completely matched those of authentic 3-epi-24,25(OH)₂D₃. In the LC-MS spectra of the 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ metabolite (Peak 4 in Fig. 4A), $[M+H]^+$ and $[M+NH_4]^+$

were observed at m/z 417.8 and 434.9 as in the authentic 3-epi-24,25(OH)₂D₃. From the findings of ¹H-NMR and LC-MS analyses, the 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ metabolite (Peak 4 in Fig. 4A) was assigned as 3-epi-24,25(OH)₂D₃.

Compound	3-epi-25(OH)D ₃	3-epi- 24,25(OH)2D3	3-epi-25(OH)D ₃ metabolite (Peak 4 in Fig. 4A)	
¹ H-NMR analysis	and accurling a constants1			
"H chemical shifts a	and coupling constants	0.40	0.40	
H-1	2.13 (1H, ddd, <i>J</i> =4.5, 10.0, 14.5)	2.13 (1H, ddd, <i>J</i> =4.5, 10.0, 13.5)	2.13 (1H, ddd, <i>J</i> =4.5, 10.0, 13.5)	
	2.38 (1H, ddd, <i>J</i> =5.5, 5.5, 14.0)	2.38 (1H, ddd, <i>J</i> =5.0, 5.0, 13.5)	2.38 (1H, ddd, <i>J</i> =5.0, 5.0, 13.5)	
H-3	3.86 (1H, m)	3.86 (1H, m)	3.86 (1H, m)	
H-6	6.21 (1H, d, <i>J</i> =11.5)	6.21 (1H, d, <i>J</i> =11.5)	6.21 (1H, d, <i>J</i> =11.5)	
H-7	6.02 (1H, d, <i>J</i> =11.5)	6.02 (1H, d, <i>J</i> =11.5)	6.02 (1H, d, <i>J</i> =11.5)	
H-18	0.53 (3H, s)	0.54 (3H, s)	0.54 (3H, s)	
H-19	4.82 (1H, narrow m)	4.82 (1H, narrow m)	4.82 (1H, narrow m)	
	5.04 (1H, narrow m)	5.04 (1H, narrow m)	5.04 (1H, narrow m)	
H-21	0.92 (3H, d, <i>J</i> =6.5)	0.92 (3H, d, <i>J</i> =6.5)	0.92 (3H, d, <i>J</i> =6.5)	
H-24	1.0-1.6	3.31 (1H, td, <i>J</i> =4.0, 8.0)	3.31 (1H, td, <i>J</i> =4.0, 8.0)	
H-26,27	1.20 (6H, s)	1.15 (3H, s)	1.15 (3H, s)	
		1.20 (3H, s)	1.20 (3H, s)	
LC-MS analysis				
characteristic ions	418.8 [M+NH ₄] ⁺	434.9 [M+NH ₄] ⁺	434.9 [M+NH ₄] ⁺	
(m/z)	401.8 [M+H] ⁺	417.8 [M+H]⁺	417.8 [M+H]+	

Table 2 ¹H-NMR and LC-MS analyses of 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ metabolites

¹ Chemical shifts are in ppm; coupling constants are in Hz.

The ¹H chemical shifts of synthetic standards and 3-epi-1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ metabolite (Peak 6 in Fig. 4B) are summarized in Table 3. The resonances from all protons of the 3epi-1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ metabolite (Peak 6 in Fig. 4B) matched those of authentic 3-epi-1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ except for H-24, 26 and 27. The chemical shifts of H-24, 26 and 27 of the 3-epi-1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ metabolite (Peak 6 in Fig. 4B) were observed at the same position as authentic 3-epi-24,25(OH)₂D₃. In the LC-MS spectrum of 3-epi-1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ metabolites (Peak 6 in Fig. 4B), [M+H]⁺ and [M+NH₄]⁺ were observed at *m*/*z* 433.9 and 450.9, indicating an increase of 16 mass units from 3-epi-1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃. Therefore, the 3-epi-1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ metabolite (Peak 6 in Fig. 4B) was assigned to 3-epi-1 α ,24,25(OH)₃D₃, which is a C-24 hydroxylated metabolite of 3-epi-1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃.

Comparison of Metabolism of 3-Epi-25(OH)D₃ among UMR-106, MG-63, Caco-2, LLC-PK₁ and HepG2 Cells.

The amounts of 3-epi-24,25(OH)₂D₃ generated from 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ are shown in Fig. 5. 3-epi-24,25(OH)₂D₃ formed in all the cell lines tested. In cell cultures of LLC-PK₁, 3-epi-24,25(OH)D₃ was generated most in five cell lines similar to the production of 24,25(OH)₂D₃ from 25(OH)D₃. 3-epi-1 α ,24,25(OH)₃D₃ from 3-epi-1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ in UMR-106, Caco-2 and LLC-PK₁ cells showed a similar pattern to that in Fig.5 (data not shown).

Compound	3-epi-1α,25(OH) ₂ D ₃	3-epi- 24,25(OH) ₂ D ₃	3-epi-1α,25(OH) ₂ D ₃ metabolite (Peak 6 in Fig. 4B)
¹ H-NMR analysis			
¹ H chemical shifts a	and coupling constants ¹		
H-1	4.29 (1H, m)	2.13 (1H, ddd, <i>J</i> =4.5, 10.0, 13.5)	4.29 (1H, m)
		2.38 (1H, ddd, <i>J</i> =5.0, 5.0, 13.5)	
H-3	4.03 (1H, m)	3.86 (1H, m)	4.03 (1H, m)
H-6	6.42 (1H, d, <i>J</i> =11.0)	6.21 (1H, d, <i>J</i> =11.5)	6.42 (1H, d, <i>J</i> =11.0)
H-7	6.01 (1H, d, <i>J</i> =11.0)	6.02 (1H, d, <i>J</i> =11.5)	6.00 (1H, d, <i>J</i> =11.0)
H-18	0.53 (3H, s)	0.54 (3H, s)	0.53 (3H, s)
H-19	4.98 (1H, narrow m)	4.82 (1H, narrow m)	4.98 (1H, narrow m)
	5.28 (1H, narrow m)	5.04 (1H, narrow m)	5.28 (1H, narrow m)
H-21	0.92 (3H, d, <i>J</i> =9.0)	0.92 (3H, d, <i>J</i> =6.5)	0.92 (3H, d, <i>J</i> =6.5)
H-24	1.0-1.6	3.31 (1H, td, <i>J</i> =4.0, 8.0)	3.32 (1H, td, <i>J</i> =4.0, 8.0)
H-26,27	1.20 (6H, s)	1.15 (3H, s)	1.15 (3H, s)
		1.20 (3H, s)	1.20 (3H, s)
LC-MS analysis			
characteristic ions	434.9 [M+NH ₄]+	434.9 [M+NH ₄]+	450.9 [M+NH ₄]+
(m/z)	417.8 [M+H] ⁺	417.8 [M+H] ⁺	433.9 [M+H]+

Table 3 ¹ H-NMR	and LC-MS analy	ses of 3-epi-1 α ,25	$(OH)_2D_3$ metabolites

¹ Chemical shifts are in ppm; coupling constants are in Hz.


Fig. 5 Relative amounts of 3-epi-24,25(OH)₂D₃ generated from 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ in UMR-106, MG-63, Caco-2, LLC-PK₁ and HepG2 cells. Each cell was incubated with 10 μ M of 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ for 48 h. The results are expressed as the total amount of product formed in nmol/plate/48 h and represent the mean of three experiments (values in columns).

Time Course Production of Metabolites of $25(OH)D_3$, 3-epi- $25(OH)D_3$, 1α , $25(OH)_2D_3$ and 3-epi- 1α , $25(OH)_2D_3$.

In order to compare the production of metabolites of $25(OH)D_3$, $1\alpha, 25(OH)_2D_3$ and their C-3 epimers, UMR-106 cells were incubated with 5 µM of $25(OH)D_3$ (Fig. 6A), 5 µM of 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ (Fig. 6B), 1 µM of $1\alpha, 25(OH)_2D_3$ (Fig. 6C) or 3-epi- $1\alpha, 25(OH)_2D_3$ (Fig. 6D) for various periods between 0 and 48 h. In Fig. 6A, 3-epi- $25(OH)D_3$ was detected first approximately 1h after the incubation started. $24, 25(OH)_2D_3$ was observed at 3 h. 3-epi- $25(OH)D_3$ exhibited a constant value at 12 h. The amount of $24, 25(OH)_2D_3$ continued to increase by 48 h, but reached only 40 % of the concentration of 3-epi- $25(OH)D_3$. The amount of 3-epi- $24, 25(OH)_2D_3$ generated from 3-epi- $25(OH)D_3$ was much lower than that of $24, 25(OH)_2D_3$ generated from $25(OH)D_3$ at all time points (Fig. 6B). 3-epi- $1\alpha, 25(OH)_2D_3$ and $1\alpha, 24, 25(OH)_3D_3$ generated from $1\alpha, 25(OH)_2D_3$ were observed at 6 h into the incubation (Fig. 6C). The amount of $1\alpha, 24, 25(OH)_3D_3$ increased by 24 h and then

decreased by 48 h. The amount of 3-epi-1 α ,24,25(OH)₃D₃ generated from 3-epi-1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ increased linearly by 48 h (Fig. 6D), but was lower than that of 1 α ,24,25(OH)₃D₃ from 1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ by 12 h from the start of incubation.



Fig. 6 Time course of 25(OH)D₃, 3-epi-25(OH)D₃, 1α,25(OH)₂D₃ and 3-epi-1α,25(OH)₂D₃ metabolism in UMR-106 cells. (A) Amounts of 25(OH)D₃ metabolites in UMR-106 cells incubated with 5 µM of 25(OH)D₃ for 1–48 h. Open circle, 3-epi-25(OH)D₃; closed square, 24,25(OH)₂D₃. (B) Amount of 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ metabolite in UMR-106 cells incubated with 5 µM of 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ for 1–48 h. Open square, 3-epi-24,25(OH)₂D₃. (C) Amounts of 1α,25(OH)₂D₃ metabolites in UMR-106 cells incubated with 1 µM of 1α,25(OH)₂D₃ for 1–48 h. Open circle, 3-epi-1α,25(OH)₂D₃; closed square, 1α,24,25(OH)₃D₃. D, Amount of 3-epi-1α,25(OH)₂D₃ metabolite in UMR-106 cells incubated with 1 µM of 3-epi-1α,25(OH)₂D₃ for 1–48 h. Open square, 3-epi-1α,24,25(OH)₃D₃. The results are expressed as the amount of product formed in nmol/plate and represent the mean of three experiments (values in column).

Metabolism of 3-Epi-25(OH)D₃ by CYP27B1 and CYP24A1 Expressed in Recombinant E. Coli Cell-Culture Systems.

After incubation of 50 μ M of 25(OH)D₃ with *E. Coli* JM109/pKSNdl, JM109/pKSNdl-CYP27B1 and JM109/pKSNdl-CYP24A1 for 48 h, lipid extracts from the media along with the cells were subjected to HPLC (Fig. 7A). The C-1 α -hydroxylated metabolite of 25(OH)D₃, 1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃, was detected in the recombinant JM109/pKSNdl-CYP27B1 cells. 25(OH)D₃ was metabolized to 24,25(OH)₂D₃ in JM109/pKSNdl-CYP24 cells. In the control JM109/pKSNdl cells, neither 1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ nor 24,25(OH)₂D₃ was detected. Next, we examined the metabolism of 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ in JM109/pKSNdl, JM109/pKSNdl-



Fig. 7 Metabolism of 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ in cultures of recombinant *E. Coli* cells expressing CYP27B1 and CYP24. (A) The HPLC profile of the lipid extracts from *E. Coli* JM109/pKSNdl, JM109/pKSNdl-CYP27B1 and JM109/pKSNdl-CYP24A1 along with the medium incubated with 50 μM of 25(OH)D₃ for 48 h. (B) The HPLC profile of the lipid extracts from *E. Coli* JM109/pKSNdl, JM109/pKSNdl-CYP27B1 and JM109/pKSNdl-CYP24A1 along with the medium incubated with 50 μM of 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ for 48 h. HPLC analysis was performed using a Zorbax-SIL column (4.6 × 250 mm) eluted with hexane/2-propanol/methanol (HIM 88/10/2, v/v/v) at a flow rate of 1.0 mL/min.

CYP27B1 and JM109/pKSNdl-CYP24A1 (Fig. 7B). 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ was metabolized to polar metabolites with the same retention time as 3-epi-1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ in JM109/pKSNdl-CYP27B1 cells, and 3-epi-24,25(OH)₂D₃ in JM109/pKSNdl-CYP24A1 cells. LC-MS spectra of these metabolites of 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ obtained in JM109/pKSNdl-CYP27B1 and JM109/pKSNdl-CYP24A1 cells completely matched those of synthetic standards of 3-epi-1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ and 3-epi-24,25(OH)₂D₃. 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ was not metabolized to 3-epi-1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ and 3-epi-24,25(OH)₂D₃ in the control JM109/pKSNdl cells. These results suggest that 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ was metabolized through hydroxylation at position C-1 α by CYP27B1 or position C-24 by CYP24A1 as well as 25(OH)D₃.

Biological Activities of 1 a, 25(OH)2D3, 25(OH)D3, 24, 25(OH)2D3 and Their C-3 Epimers.

The biological activity of 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃, 25(OH)D₃, 24,25(OH)₂D₃ and their C-3 epimers is summarized in Table 4. The results indicate that the VDR-binding affinity of C-3 epimers is lower than that of 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃, 25(OH)D₃ and 24,25(OH)₂D₃. As expected, 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ and 3-epi-24,25(OH)₂D₃ have high binding affinity to DBP like 25(OH)D₃ and 24,25(OH)₂D₃. The relative transcriptional activity toward a human osteocalcin gene promoter containing VDRE in transfected MG-63 cells was about 12 % that of 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ for 3-epi-1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃. 25(OH)D₃, 24,25(OH)₂D₃ and their C-3 epimers exhibited little effect at a high concentration (10⁻⁶ M). Similar effects of 25(OH)D₃, 24,25(OH)₂D₃ and their C-3 epimers on rat CYP24 gene transactivation were also observed. Relative anti-proliferative and differentiation inducing activities were about 29 and 9 % those of 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ for 3-epi-1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃. 25(OH)D₃, 24,25(OH)₂D₃ and their C-3 epimers failed to exhibit activity to arrest the cell cycle at G0-G1 and induce cell differentiation.

	VDR D		Transcript	ional activity	Anti-	Differentiation-
	affinity ¹	affinity ¹	hOC	rCYP24A1	activity ²	activity ²
1α,25(OH)₂D₃	100	100	100	100	100	100
3-epi- 1α,25(OH)₂D₃	2.1	46	12.1	13.4	29	9.4
25(OH)D ₃	0.1	9091	1.4	2.6	2.2	1.1
3-epi- 25(OH)D₃	0.003	3273	<0.5	<0.8	< 1.5	< 0.3
24,25(OH) ₂ D ₃	0.03	7182	0.9	2.3	3.9	0.9
3-epi- 24,25(OH)₂D₃	0.0005	4364	<0.5	<0.8	< 1.5	< 0.3

Table 4 Biological activity of C-3 epimers of vitamin D3 metabolites

¹ The values represent the relative binding affinity to $1\alpha,25(OH)_2D_3$ (expressed as 100), calculated from the concentration of each compound needed to achieve 50% displacement of [³H]-1 $\alpha,25(OH)_2D_3$ from VDR or DBP.

² The values are expressed as percentage activity (at 50% of the dose-response) in comparison with 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ (expressed as 100% activity)

Discussion

We demonstrated using ¹H-NMR and LC-MS techniques that the major vitamin D₃ metabolite, $25(OH)D_3$, is metabolized to its C-3 epimer, 3-epi-25(OH)D₃, in cell culture systems. In addition, we confirmed the production of 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ *in vivo* through analysis of the serum obtained from rats intravenously given $25(OH)D_3$. It was reported that 1α , $25(OH)_2D_3$ is metabolized *in vitro* and *in vivo* through the C-3 epimerization pathway along with the side-chain oxidation pathways [10–14]. 3-epi-24, $25(OH)_2D_3$ [18, 19] and 3-epi-24, $25(OH)_2D_3$ -24-glucronide [17] were identified as C-3 epimerized metabolites of $24, 25(OH)_2D_3$. These findings indicate that the C-3 epimerization of the A-ring appears to be a common metabolic pathway for the major metabolites of vitamin D₃.

We have also demonstrated that C-3 epimers (C-3 α) are metabolized through the C-1 α hydroxylation or C-24 hydroxylation pathway similar to C-3 β compounds. The further metabolism of C-3 epimers has not been fully understood. Reddy et al. [30] reported that 3-epi-1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ was metabolized to three polar metabolites, 3-epi-1 α ,24,25(OH)₃D₃, 3-epi-24-oxo-1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ and 3-epi-24-oxo-1 α ,23,25-trihydroxyvitamin D₃ in human keratinocytes. In this study, we also confirmed that 3-epi-1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ was metabolized to its C-24 hydroxylated metabolite, 3-epi-1 α ,24,25(OH)₃D₃ and two less polar metabolites possessing a UV spectrum typical of a vitamin D compound consistent with a previous report [30]. A possible structure of either 3-epi-1 α (OH)D₃-20,25-cyclic ether or 3-epi-1 α (OH)D₃-24,25-epoxide was assigned to one of the less polar metabolites through mass spectrometry [30]. The structure of less polar metabolites of 3-epi-1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ detected in this study could not be assigned by ¹H-NMR spectroscopy due to the unavailability of sufficient amounts of the compounds. The generation of less polar metabolites is of interest as a unique and specific metabolic pathway for vitamin D₃ compounds. In addition, Holick

et al. [31] reported that synthesized tritiated 3-epi-vitamin D₃ was converted to polar metabolites corresponding to 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ and 3-epi-1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ in a vitamin D-deficient rat. In the present study, we clearly demonstrated that hydroxylation at C-1 α and C-24 of both 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ and 25(OH)D₃ is catalyzed by recombinant CYP27B1 and CYP24A1 expressed in *E. Coli*. These findings suggest that both CYP27B1 and CYP24A1 undergo C-1 α and C-24 hydroxylation irrespective of the stereochemistry of the C-3 hydroxyl group.

The relative VDR binding affinity, transcriptional activity and anti-proliferative/ differentiation-inducing activity of C-3 α compounds were weaker than those of C-3 β compounds. 3-Epi-1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ is biologically the most active of the three C-3 epimers, and shows transcriptional activity and anti-proliferative/differentiation-inducing activity. 3-Epi-24,25(OH)₂D₃ is less active than 3-epi-25(OH)D₃. Thus, 25(OH)D₃ appears to be metabolized to 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ and subsequently to a biologically active 3-epi-1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ or biologically inactive 3-epi-24,25(OH)₂D₃ in response to changes in the serum concentration of calcium and PTH.

It was reported that 3-epi-1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ suppresses PTH secretion in cultured bovine parathyroid cells [11] and induces surfactant phospholipid synthesis in pulmonary alveolar type II cells [32] irrespective of its low binding affinity to VDR. High metabolic stability of 3-epi-1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ has been proposed as a possible explanation for the PTH-suppressing and surfactant phospholipid-inducing effects of 3-epi-1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ *in vitro*. In the present study, time course changes in the amount of metabolites generated from C-3 α compounds and C-3 β compounds were compared. A difference in metabolic rate between 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ and 25(OH)D₃ was observed for up to 48 h after the addition of substrates, and the difference between 3-epi-1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ and 1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ was observed as early as 12 h from the start of incubation. The results suggest that the high intracellular concentration of C-3 epimers caused by the slower metabolic rate contributes in part to their specific activity. As to the specific activity of C-3 epimers, it was reported that 3-epi-1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ and synthetic analogs were selective in inducing apoptosis [33, 34]. Furthermore, a relationship between C-3 epimerization of vitamin D₃ metabolites and differentiation in Caco-2 cells was pointed out [10]. Thus, the C-3 epimerization pathway is likely to play a role in the regulation of cell differentiation and apoptosis along with the inactivation of vitamin D compounds.

Interestingly, C-3 epimerization activity for vitamin D₃ metabolites differed depending on cell type. In UMR-106, MG-63, Caco-2 and HepG2 cells, the amount of 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ generated from 25(OH)D₃ was larger than that of 24,25(OH)₂D₃. HepG2 cells derived from liver, in which vitamin D₃ was metabolized to 25(OH)D₃, produced a high level of 3-epi-25(OH)D₃. In contrast, the production of 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ was less than that of 24,25(OH)₂D₃ in LLC-PK₁ cells derived from kidney. This finding accords with the report that the C-3 epimerization pathway does not operate in isolated perfused rat kidney [10, 12]. In LLC-PK₁ cells, a number of C-24 hydroxylated metabolites of 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ and 3epi-1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ were observed. These results suggest that kidney may work in the metabolism of vitamin D compounds through the C-24 oxidation pathway. In reference to the cell specificity of C-3 epimerization, it was also reported that 1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ was metabolized *via* the C-24 and C-23 oxidation pathways but not *via* the C-3 epimerization pathway in human promyelocytic leukemia (HL-60) cells [35]. From these findings, C-3 epimerization is thought not to be catalyzed by CYP24.

We also investigated the substrate specificity of C-3 epimerization in various cultured cells. $25(OH)D_3$ was metabolized to its C-3 epimer similar to or more than $1\alpha_2 5(OH)_2 D_3$

in all cells. However, the amount of 3-epi-24,25(OH)₂D₃ generated from 24,25(OH)₂D₃ was smaller than that of C-3 epimers of 25(OH)D₃ or 1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃. These tendencies were prominent in HepG2 cells which mainly metabolize 25(OH)D₃ to 3-epi-25(OH)D₃, but absent from LLC-PK₁ cells which metabolize 25(OH)D₃ to 24,25(OH)₂D₃ preferentially. These results indicate that 25(OH)D₃ and 1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ are better substrates than 24,25(OH)₂D₃ for C-3 epimerization. In this study, no production of C-3 β metabolites [25(OH)D₃ and 1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃] from C-3 α substrates [3-epi-25(OH)D₃ and 3-epi-1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃] was detected. Thus, the C-3 ($\alpha \rightarrow \beta$) epimerization activity was thought to be weaker than the C-3 ($\beta \rightarrow \alpha$) epimerization activity.

More recently, the existence of 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ in human serum has been reported by many researchers [36-42]. Engelman et al. [37] reported that mean concentration of 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ was 1.3 ng/mL [approximately 4 % of 25(OH)D₃] in population-based 303 samples. Interestingly, serum 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ was found in over 90 % of pregnant women [40] and in all umbilical cord blood samples [41]. Ooms et.al. [42] also reported that 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ contribution was 55% of total 25(OH)D₃ in early preterm infants at 3 month of age. From these results, the hypothesis that hepatic immaturity plays a role in 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ formation was proposed.

In conclusion, we first identified C-3 epimerization of $25(OH)D_3$ and further metabolism through the C-1 α or C-24 hydroxylation of 3-epi-25(OH)D_3. Fig. 8 summarizes a C-3 epimerization pathway for vitamin D₃ metabolites and further metabolic pathways for C-3 epimers.



Fig. 8 C-3 epimerization pathway for vitamin D₃ metabolites and further metabolic pathways for C-3 epimers.

References

- D. Lohnes, G. Jones, Side chain metabolism of vitamin D₃ in osteosarcoma cell line UMR-106. Characterization of products, J Biol Chem 262(30) (1987) 14394–14401.
- [2] G. Makin, D. Lohnes, V. Byford, R. Ray, G. Jones, Target cell metabolism of 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D₃ to calcitroic acid. Evidence for a pathway in kidney and bone involving 24-oxidation, Biochem J 262(1) (1989) 173–180.
- [3] G.S. Reddy, K.-Y. Tserng, Calcitroic acid, end product of renal metabolism of 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D₃ through C-24 oxidation pathway, Biochemistry 28(4) (1989) 1763–1769.
- [4] S. Ishizuka, H. Yamaguchi, S. Yamada, K. Nakayama, H. Takayama, Stereochemistry of 25-hydroxyvitamin D₃-26,23-lactone and 1α,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃-26,23-lactone in rat serum, FEBS Lett 134(2) (1981) 207–211.
- [5] S. Ishizuka, S. Ishimoto, A.W. Norman, Isolation and identification of 1α,25-dihydroxy-24-oxovitamin D₃, 1α,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃ 26,23-lactone, and 1α,24(S),25trihydroxyvitamin D₃: in vivo metabolites of 1α,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃, Biochemistry 23(7) (1984) 1473–1478.
- [6] S. Ishizuka, A.W. Norman, Metabolic pathways from 1α,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃ to 1α,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃-26,23-lactone. Stereo-retained and stereo-selective lactonization. J Biol Chem 262(15) (1987) 7165–7170.
- [7] M.-L. Siu-Caldera, L. Zou, M.G. Ehrlich, E.R. Schwartz, S. Ishizuka, G.S. Reddy, G Human osteoblasts in culture metabolize both 1α, 25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃ and its precursor 25-hydroxyvitamin D₃ into their respective lactones. Endocrinology 136(10) (1995) 4195–4203.
- [8] T. Sakaki, N. Sawada, Y. Nonaka, Y. Ohyama, K. Inouye, Metabolic studies using recombinant escherichia coli cells producing rat mitochondrial CYP24: CYP24 can convert 1α,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃ to calcitroic acid, Eur J Biochem 262(1) (1999) 43–48.
- [9] T. Sakaki, N. Sawada, K. Komai, S. Shiozawa, S. Yamada, K. Yamamoto, Y. Ohyama, K. Inouye, Dual metabolic pathway of 25-hydroxyvitamin D₃ catalyzed by human CYP24, Eur J Biochem 267(20) (2000) 6158–6165.
- [10] M.G. Bischof, M.-L. Siu-Caldera, A. Weiskopf, P. Vouros, H.S. Cross, M. Peterlok,

G.S. Reddy, Differentiation-related pathways of 1α ,25-dihydroxycholecalciferol metabolism in human colon adenocarcinoma-derived Caco-2 cells: production of 1α ,25-dihydroxy-3epi-cholecalciferol, Exp Cell Res 241(1) (1998) 194–201.

- [11] A.J. Brown, C. Ritter, E. Slatopolsky, K.R. Muralidharan, W.H. Okamura, G.S. Reddy, 1α,25-Dihydroxy-3-epi-vitamin D₃, a natural metabolite of 1α,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃, is a potent suppressor of parathyroid hormone secretion, J Cell Biochem 73(1) (1999) 106–113.
- [12] M.-L. Siu-Caldera, H. Sekimoto, A. Weiskopf, P. Vouros, K.R. Muralidharan, W.H. Okamura, M.G. Bischof, A.W. Norman, M.R. Uskokovic, I. Schuster, G.S. Reddy, Production of 1α,25-dihydroxy-3-epi-vitamin D₃ in two rat osteosarcoma cell lines (UMR 106 and ROS 17/2.8): existence of the C-3 epimerization pathway in ROS 17/2.8 cells in which the C-24 oxidation pathway is not expressed, Bone 24(5) (1999) 457–463.
- [13] S. Masuda, M. Kamao, N.J. Schroeder, H.L.J. Makin, G. Jones, R. Kremer, J. Rhim, T. Okano, Characterization of 3-epi-1α,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃ involved in 1α,25dihydroxyvitamin D₃ metabolic pathway in cultured cell lines, Biol Pharm Bull 23(2) (2000) 133–139.
- [14] H. Sekimoto, M. -L. Siu-Caldera, A. Weiskopf, P. Vouros, K.R. Muralidharan, K W.H. Okamura, M.R. Uskokovic, G.S. Reddy, 1α,25-dihydroxy-3-epi-vitamin D₃: in vivo metabolite of 1α,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃ in rats, FEBS Lett 448(2-3) (1999) 278–282.
- [15] G.S. Reddy, D.S. Rao, M.-L. Siu-Caldera, N. Astecker, A. Weiskopf, P. Vouros, G.J. Sasso, P.S. Manchand, M.R. Uskokovic, 1α,25-dihydroxy-16-ene-23-yne-vitamin D₃ and 1α,25-dihydroxy-16-ene-23-yne-20-epi-vitamin D₃: analogs of 1α,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃ that resist metabolism through the C-24 oxidation pathway are metabolized through the C-3 epimerization pathway, Arch Biochem Biophys 383(2) (2000) 197–205.
- [16] M.-L. Siu-Caldera, D.S. Rao, N. Astecker, A. Weiskopf, P. Vouros, K. Konno, T. Fujishima, H. Takayama, S. Peleg, G.S. Reddy, Tissue specific metabolism of 1α,25dihydroxy-20-epi-vitamin D₃ into new metabolites with significant biological activity: studies in rat osteosarcoma cells (UMR 106 and ROS 17/2.8), J Cell Biochem 82(4) (2001) 599–609.
- [17] T. Higashi, R. Kikuchi, K. Miura, K. Shimada, H. Hiyamizu, H. Oo, Y. Iwabuchi, S.

Hatakeyama, N. Kubodera, New metabolic pathway of (24R)-24,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃: epimerization of the 3-hydroxy group, Biol Pharm Bull 22(7) (1999) 767–769.

- [18] M. Kamao, S. Tatematsu, G.S. Reddy, S. Hatakeyama, M. Sugiura, N. Ohashi, N. Kubodera, T. Okano, Isolation, identification and biological activity of 24R,25dihydroxy-3-epi-vitamin D₃: a novel metabolite of 24R,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃ produced in rat osteosarcoma cells (UMR 106), J Nutr Sci Vitaminol (Tokyo) 47(2) (2001) 108–115.
- [19] T. Higashi, A. Ogasawara, K. Shimada, Investigation of C-3 epimerization mechanism of 24,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃ in rat using liquid chromatography/ mass spectrometry, Anal. Sci 16(5) (2000) 477–482.
- [20] B.W. Hollis, Detection of vitamin D and its major metabolites, Vitamin D Second Edition (D. Feldman, J.W. Pike, F.H. Glorieux, eds), Elsevier Academic Press (2005) pp.931–950.
- [21] E.G. Bligh, W.J. Dyer, A rapid method of total lipid extraction and purification, Can J Biochem Physiol 37(8) (2959) 911–917.
- [22] N. Sawada, T. Sakaki, S. Kitanaka, K. Takeyama, S. Kato, K. Inouye, Enzymatic properties of human 25-hydroxyvitamin D₃ 1α-hydroxylase coexpression with adrenodoxin and NADPH-adrenodoxin reductase in Escherichia coli, Eur J Biochem 265(3) (1999) 950–956.
- [23] T. Sakaki, N. Sawada, K. Komai, S. Shiozawa, S. Yamada, K. Yamamoto, Y. Ohyama,
 K. Inouye, Dual metabolic pathway of 25-hydroxyvitamin D₃ catalyzed by human
 CYP24, Eur J Biochem, 267(20) (2000) 6158–6165.
- [24] M. Akiyoshi-Shibata, T. Sakaki, Y. Ohyama, M. Noshiro, K. Okuda, Y. Yabusaki, Further oxidation of hydroxycalcidiol by calcidiol 24-hydroxylase. A study with the mature enzyme expressed in Escherichia coli, Eur J Biochem 224(2) (1994) 335–343.
- [25] S. Masuda, V. Byford, R. Kremer, H.L.J. Makin, N. Kubodera, Y. Nishii, A. Okazaki, T. Okano, T. Kobayashi, G. Jones, (1996) In vitro metabolism of the vitamin D analog, 22-oxacalcitriol, using cultured osteosarcoma, hepatoma, and keratinocyte cell lines. J Biol Chem 271(15) (1996) 8700–8708.
- [26] T. Suda, H.F. DeLuca, Y. Tanaka, Biological activity of 25-hydroxyergocalciferol in rats. J Nutr 100(9) (1970) 1049–1052.
- [27] K. Ozono, J. Liao, S.A. Kerner, R.A. Scoot, J.W. Pike, (1990) The vitamin D-

responsive element in the human osteocalcin gene. Association with a nuclear protooncogene enhancer, J Biol Chem 265(35) (1990) 21881–21888.

- [28] Y. Ohyama, K. Ozono, M. Uchida, M. Yoshimura, T. Shinki, T. Suda, O. Yamamoto, Functional assessment of two vitamin D-responsive elements in the rat 25hydroxyvitamin D₃ 24-hydroxylase gene, J Biol Chem 271(48) (1996) 30381–30385.
- [29] W.W. Lorenz, R.O. McCann, M. Longiaru, M.J. Cormier, Isolation and expression of a cDNA encoding Renilla reniformis luciferase, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 88(10) (1991) 4438–4442.
- [30] G.S. Reddy, K.R. Muralidharan, W.H. Okamura, K.-Y. Tserng, J.A. McLane, Metabolism of 1α,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃ and its C-3 epimer 1α,25-dihydroxy-3-epivitamin D₃ in neonatal human keratinocytes, Steroids 66(3-5) (2001) 441–450.
- [31] S.A. Holick, M.F. Holick, J.E. Frommer, J.W. Henley, J.A. Lenz, Synthesis of [3 beta-³H]-3-epivitamin D₃ and its metabolism in the rat, Biochemistry 19(17) (1980) 3933– 3937.
- [32] V.K. Rehan, J.S. Torday, S. Peleg, L. Gennaro, P. Vouros, J. Padbury, D.S. Rao, G.S. Reddy, 1α,25-dihydroxy-3-epi-vitamin D₃, a natural metabolite of 1α,25-dihydroxy vitamin D₃: production and biological activity studies in pulmonary alveolar type II cells, Mol Genet Metab 76(1) (2002) 46–56.
- [33] T. Okano, K. Nakagawa, N. Kubodera, K. Ozono, A. Isaka, A. Osawa, M. Terada, K. Mikami, Catalytic asymmetric syntheses and biological activities of singly dehydroxylated 19-nor-1α,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃ A-ring analogs in cancer cell differentiation and apoptosis, Chem Biol 7(3) (2000) 173–184.
- [34] K. Nakagawa, M. Kurobe, K. Konno, T. Fujishima, H. Takayama, T. Okano, Structurespecific control of differentiation and apoptosis of human promyelocytic leukemia (HL-60) cells by A-ring diastereomers of 2-methyl-1α,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃ and its 20epimer, Biochem Pharmacol, 60(12) (2000) 1937–1947.
- [35] D.S. Rao, M.J. Campbell, H.P. Koeffler, S. Ishizuka, M.R. Uskokovic, P. Spagnuolo, G.S. Reddy, Metabolism of 1α,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃ in human promyelocytic leukemia (HL-60) cells: in vitro biological activities of the natural metabolites of 1α,25dihydroxyvitamin D₃ produced in HL-60 cells, Steroids 66(3-5) (2001) 423–431.
- [36] K.D. Cashman, M. Kinsella, J. Walton, A. Flynn, A. Hayes, A.J. Lucey, K.M. Seamans,M. Kiely, The 3 epimer of 25-hydroxycholecalciferol is present in the circulation of the

majority of adults in a nationally representative sample and has endogenous origins, J Nutr, 144(7) (2014) 1050–1057.

- [37] C.D. Engelman, R. Bo, M. Zuelsdorff, H. Steltenpohl, T. Kirby, F.J. Nieto, Epidemiologic study of the C-3 epimer of 25-hydroxyvitamin D₃ in a population-based sample, Clin Nutr, 33(3) (2014) 421–425.
- [38] P.L. Lutsey, J.H. Eckfeldt, E.R. Ogagarue, A.R. Folsom, E.D. Michos, M. Gross, The 25-hydroxyvitamin D₃ C-3 epimer: distribution, correlates, and reclassification of 25hydroxyvitamin D status in the population-based Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities Study (ARIC), Clin Chim Acta, 10 (2015) 75–81.
- [39] F. Granado-Lorencio, L.M. Garcia-Heras, I. Blanco-Navarro, B. Pérez-Sacristán, Assessment of 3-epi-25-OH-D₃ in preterm and full term infant samples and its relationship to demographic, anthropometric and biochemical determinants, Clin Biochem, 47(9) (2014) 853–856.
- [40] S.E. Bennett, C. Casey, J. McPeake, D.R. McCance, J.G. Manderson, A. McGinty, 3-Epi-25 hydroxyvitamin D in pregnancy, Pregnancy Hypertens, 4(3) (2014) 236.
- [41] D.J. Cooke, B. Cooke, D. Bell, S. Vasikaran, P. Glendenning, ANNALS EXPRESS: C-3-epi-25-hydroxyvitamin D is universally present in neonatal Western Australian samples but is unlikely to contribute to diagnostic misclassifiation, Ann Clin Biochem, *in press* (2015).
- [42] N. Ooms, H. van Daal, A.M. Beijers, G.P. Gerrits, B.A. Semmekrot, J.M. van den Ouweland, Time-course analysis of 3-epi-25-hydroxyvitamin D₃ shows markedly elevated levels in early life, particularly from vitamin D supplementation in preterm infants, Pediatr Res, *in press* (2015).

CAPTER 2

Identification of C-3 epimer and C-25 dehydrates of vitamin D analog, 22-oxacalcitriol (maxacalcitriol)

Introduction

The active form of D_3 , 1α , $25(OH)_2D_3$ plays a crucial role in the regulation of calcium metabolism but it also regulates cell growth and differentiation in normal and malignant cells [1, 2]. In addition, 1α , 25(OH)₂D₃ also inhibits the proliferation of colon [3, 4], breast [5, 6] and prostate cancer cells [7]. However, 1α , $25(OH)_2D_3$ will lead *in vivo* to calcemic side effects such as hypercalcemia and hypercalciuria. To overcome this problem, vitamin D analogs with enhanced differentiation/anti-proliferative and reduced hypercalcemic properties have been synthesized. One of them, 22-oxacalcitriol [OCT, 22-oxa- 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃, maxacalcitriol] is a synthetic analog, which has an oxygen atom at position 22, and has received governmental approval for use as an agent for the treatment of secondary hyperparathyroidism and psoriasis in Japan. OCT is rapidly cleared from the circulation due to its extremely low affinity for DBP [8, 9], and binds the chicken VDR with an approximately 8-fold lower affinity than 1α , 25(OH)₂D₃ [10]. However, OCT inhibits growth of psoriatic fibroblasts and enhances the immune response more effectively than $1\alpha.25(OH)_2D_3$ [11, 12]. In contrast, OCT has reduced calcemic effects in both mobilizing calcium from bone and stimulating intestinal calcium transport in normal rats [13]. OCT exhibit different tissue distribution from 1α , 25(OH)₂D₃. After injection of OCT or 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ into normal rats, the detected amounts of OCT in the parathyroid glands, thymus, adrenals, liver, small intestine, and kidneys were significantly higher than the respective values for 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃, while those of OCT in the plasma and calvaria were significantly lower than those of 1α , 25(OH)₂D₃ [8]. It was also reported that OCT induced interaction of the VDR with a transcriptional intermediary factor (TIF)-2, but not with other transcriptional factors such as steroid receptor coactivator (SRC)-1 and amplified in breast cancer (AIB)-1, while 1α , 25(OH)₂D₃ induced interactions of the VDR with all of the three

co-factors tested [14]. These factors such as metabolic clearance, tissue-specific distribution, cellular uptake, intracellular metabolism and transcriptional regulation could contribute to differences in biological activity.

The metabolism of OCT has been studied primary parathyroid in cells [15] and keratinocytes [16] as well as osteosarcoma, hepatoma and keratin cell lines [17]. In all these systems, OCT is metabolized into hydroxylated and side-chain truncated metabolites, 1α , 20-dihydroxyvitamn D₃ [1α , 20(OH)₂D₃] and hexanor-20-oxo- 1α -hydroxyvitamin D₃ [20-oxo- 1α (OH)D₃]. However, despite relatively large number of products from OCT [17], the structures and properties of the less polar metabolites have not yet been clarified. In the case of natural vitamin D including 1α , $25(OH)_2D_3$, $25(OH)D_3$ and 24,25(OH)₂D₃, one of these less polar metabolites has been identified as C-3 epimers, in which a hydroxyl group at C-3 of the A-ring is epimerized from the β to the α position as described in Part 2, Chapter 1. 3-Epi-1a,25(OH)₂D₃ retains 2-3% of the affinity of 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ for VDR [18, 19], and exhibits significant activity in reducing growth and promoting differentiation of Caco-2 cells [20].

In this Chapter, we identified the less polar metabolites of OCT including 3-epi-OCT in a rat osteosarcoma cells (UMR-106) and investigated the further metabolism of OCT metabolites. Furthermore, we compared the production rate of OCT metabolites in UMR-106, human colon carcinoma cells (Caco-2) and porcine kidney cells (LLC-PK₁) and examined the biological activity of OCT metabolites. Our findings provide clear evidence that OCT is metabolized to at least three less polar metabolites through two novel pathways, namely C-3 epimerization and C-25 dehydration pathways in addition to the well-known side-chain hydroxylation in target cells.

Materials and methods

Materials.

OCT and its putative metabolite 24-ene-22-oxa-1 α -hydroxyvitamin D₃ [24-ene-22-oxa-1 α (OH)D₃] were synthesized by Kubodera et al. of Chugai Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Japan. 3-Epi-OCT were synthesized by Hatakeyama et al. of Nagasaki University, Japan.

Cell culture.

UMR-106, Caco-2 and LLC-PK₁ cells were maintained as described in "Cell culture" section in Part 2, Chapter 1.

Generation of OCT and 3-epi-OCT metabolites.

For structure assignments, ten plates of UMR-106 cells cultured in 150-mm culture dishes were used. Monolayers were washed with 10 mL of PBS (–) and then incubated in 10 mL of media containing 1% BSA, in the presence of 10 μ M OCT or 3-epi-OCT for 48 hr at 37°C. The no-cell control consisted of 10 mL of the medium and 10 μ M OCT or 3-epi-OCT was incubated for the same length of time. For measurement of amounts of OCT and 3-epi-OCT metabolites, three plates each of UMR-106, LLC-PK₁ and Caco-2 cells cultured in 150-mm culture dishes were used. For time-course studies, the cells were incubated with increasing amounts (0.1–10 μ M) of substrates for 24 hr.

Purification of OCT and 3-epi-OCT metabolites by HPLC.

Lipid extraction was performed according to the method described in "Purification Metabolites" section in Part 2, Chapter 1. Separation of metabolites by HPLC was initially achieved using a Zorbax SIL column (4.6×250 mm, Agilent Technologies) eluted with HIM (88:10:2) at a flow rate of 1.0 mL/min. Samples with peaks representing a typical chromophore based on the vitamin D cis-triene structure (λ max=265 nm, λ min=228 nm) were collected and evaporated to dryness, then redissolved in HIM (88:10:2). These were further purified on the same HPLC system using a Zorbax CN column (4.6×250 mm, Agilent Technologies) eluted with HIM (88:10:2) at a flow rate of 0.9 mL/min. After further purification with the same previous HPLC system, the metabolites were pure enough for LC-MS and ¹H-NMR analyses. Concentrations of the metabolites in ethanol were determined spectrophotometrically using a molar extinction coefficient, ε 265=18,000.

¹H-NMR and LC-MS analyses.

The 500-MHz ¹H-NMR spectra of purified metabolites (2–5 μ g) were measured as described in "¹H-NMR and LC-MS Analyses" section in Part 2, Section 1. LC-MS analysis was also carried out as described in "¹H-NMR and LC-MS Analyses" section in Part 2, Section 1.

VDR and DBP binding assay.

The binding affinity for the VDR and the DBP was tested as described in "VDR and DBP binding assay" section in Part 2, Section 1. For VDR binding assay, following dilution series was used: 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ (0.0078–64 pg/tube), OCT (0.5–1024 pg/tube), 3-epi-OCT (32–16384 pg/tube), 25-ene-22-oxa-1 α (OH)D₃ (8–32768 pg/tube), 24-ene-22-oxa-1 α (OH)D₃ (8–32768 pg/tube). For DBP binding assay, following dilution series was used: 25(OH)D₃ (0.003125–16 ng/tube), 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ (0.24–4000 ng/tube), OCT metabolites (0.06–1000 ng/tube).

Transfection and luciferase activity assay.

Transfection and luciferase activity assay was performed as described in "Transfection and luciferase activity assay" section in Part 2, Section 1. MG-63 cells transfected with luciferase reporter plasmid were incubated with 10^{-9} or 10^{-8} M 1α ,25(OH)D₃ or OCT compounds for 48 h.

Anti-proliferative activity assay and cell surface antigen expression analysis.

Anti-proliferative activity was measured as described in "Anti-proliferative activity assay" section in Part 2, Section 1. Cell surface antigen expression analysis was performed as described in "Analysis of cell surface antigen expression" section in Part 2, Section 1. For both analyses, HL-60 cells were incubated with OCT or its metabolites (10⁻⁹, 10⁻⁸ M) for 3 days.

Statistics

Values were calculated as mean±SE. Significance levels were determined by Student's t-test.

Results

Metabolism of OCT in UMR-106 cells.

After incubation of 10 μ M OCT with UMR-106 cells for 48 h, 5 metabolites which demonstrated the typical vitamin D chromophore (λ max=265 nm, λ min=228 nm: data not shown) were observed (Fig.1). These metabolites were not formed when OCT was incubated with medium in the absence of cells, or when cells were incubated with medium alone (data not shown). Two of the 5 metabolites, labeled Metabolites 4 and 5, were polar metabolites of OCT and identical to the previously identified 1 α ,20(OH)₂D₃ and 24hydroxy-OCT [24(OH)OCT], respectively [17]. Three other less polar metabolites, labeled Metabolites 1, 2 and 3 have not been isolated and identified to date and were thus purified by extensive rechromatography twice on Zorbax CN and Zorbax SIL for structure assignments.



Fig. 1 HPLC chromatograms of the lipid extracts from UMR-106 cells incubated with 10 μ M OCT for 48 hr. HPLC analysis was performed using a Zorbax-SIL column (4.6 \times 250 mm) eluted with HIM 88:10:2 at a flow rate of 1.0 mL/min. Peaks 1, 2, and 3 were identified as 25-ene-22-oxa-1 α (OH)D₃, 24-ene-22-oxa-1 α (OH)D₃ and 3-epi-OCT, respectively.

Identification of less polar metabolites of OCT (Peaks 1, 2 and 3).

Characterizations of OCT Metabolites (Peak 1, 2 and 3) are described below.

Peak 1: The ¹H chemical shifts and coupling constants assigned by 1D and 2D COSY and NOESY spectra of Peak 1 are summarized in Table 1. The most pronounced differences between the ¹H-NMR spectra of Peak 1 and OCT were found in the 1.6 to 1.8 ppm and 4.6 to 4.8 ppm regions. The disappearance of one of the singlets from the methyl protons in position 26 or 27 (observed at 1.21 and 1.23 ppm in OCT) and the appearance of two singlets at 4.70 and 4.74 ppm, which were assigned to protons of the exo-methylene group, were observed. These findings indicate that dehydration took place at the C-25 hydroxyl group. The resonances from H-24 (2.23 ppm) were shifted downfield compared with those of OCT (1.71 ppm). In the 2D COSY spectrum, cross peaks of the neighboring protons were detected. Connectivity of the H-23 and 23' (3.33 and 3.63 ppm) to the H-24 resonance (2.23 ppm) was observed (Fig. 2A). The other cross-peaks observed in 2D COSY analysis are also shown in Fig. 2A. Peak 1 was assigned to 25ene-22-oxa-1α-hydroxyvitamin D₃ [25ene-22-oxa-1 α (OH)D₃], which has an OCT- like structure with an additional exo-methylene group at the end of the side-chain as a result of dehydration at the C-25 hydroxyl group of OCT. In the LC-MS spectrum of Peak 1, [M+NH₄]⁺ was observed at m/z 418.6 and indicated a reduction of 18 mass units from OCT (Table 1). Peak 1 gave peaks at m/z 401.6 [M+H]⁺ and 423.7 $[M+Na]^+$. Therefore, the LC-MS spectrum supports the assignment of Peak 1 structure by ¹H-NMR analysis.

Peak 2: The ¹H-NMR spectrum of Peak 2 also showed an unchanged structure of ring A, containing the triene system (Table 1). The resonance from H-24 (5.32 ppm) was changed in contrast with that of OCT (1.71 ppm). The intensity of the H-24 signal was found to be

only half of the expected value. Two singlets from the methyl protons in positions 26 and 27 (1.64 and 1.71 ppm) were shifted downfield compared with those of OCT (1.21 and 1.23

Compound	OCT	3-epi-OCT	24-ene-22- oxa- 1α(OH)D₃	Peak 1	Peak 2	Peak 3	
¹ H-NMR anal	ysis						
¹ H chemical shifts and coupling constants ¹							
H-1	4.41 (1H, m)	4.31 (1H, m)	4.41 (1H, m)	4.42 (1H, m)	4.42 (1H, m)	4.31 (1H, m)	
H-3	4.21 (1H, m)	4.04 (1H, m)	4.21 (1H, m)	4.21 (1H, m)	4.21 (1H, m)	4.03 (1H, m)	
H-6	6.35 (1H, d, <i>J</i> =11.5)	6.41 (1H, d, <i>J</i> =12.0)	6.36 (1H, d, <i>J</i> =11.5)	6.36 (1H, d, <i>J</i> =11.0)	6.36 (1H, d, <i>J</i> =10.5)	6.41 (1H, d, <i>J</i> =11.5)	
H-7	6.00 (1H, d, <i>J</i> =11.0)	6.00 (1H, d, <i>J</i> =11.5)	6.01 (1H, d, <i>J</i> =11.5)	6.01 (1H, d, <i>J</i> =11.0)	6.01 (1H, d, <i>J</i> =11.0)	6.00 (1H, d, <i>J</i> =11.5)	
H-19	4.97 (1H, narrow m)	4.97 (1H, narrow m)	4.98 (1H, narrow m)	4.98 (1H, narrow m)	4.98 (1H, narrow m)	4.98 (1H, narrow m)	
	5.31 (1H, narrow m)	5.27 (1H, narrow m)	5.31 (1H, narrow m)	5.31 (1H, narrow m)	5.31 (1H, narrow m)	5.28 (1H, narrow m)	
H-23	3.46 (1H, td, <i>J</i> =5.5, 9.5)	3.46 (1H, td, <i>J</i> =5.5, 9.0)	3.79 (1H, dd, <i>J</i> =7.0, 11.0)	3.33 (1H, td, <i>J</i> =7.5, 9.0)	3.79 (1H, dd, <i>J</i> =6.0, 10.5)	3.46 (1H, td, <i>J</i> =5.5, 8.5)	
	3.82 (1H, td, <i>J</i> =5.0, 9.5)	3.82 (1H, td, <i>J</i> =6.0, 9.0)	4.01 (1H, dd, <i>J</i> =6.5, 11.0)	3.63 (1H, td, <i>J</i> =7.0, 9.0)	4.01 (1H, dd, <i>J</i> =7.0, 11.5)	3.82 (1H, td, <i>J</i> =5.5, 9.0)	
H-24	1.71 (2H, t, <i>J</i> =5.5)	1.71 (2H, t, <i>J</i> =5.5)	5.32 (1H, m)	2.23 (2H, td, <i>J</i> =6.0, 6.3)	5.32 (1H, m)	1.71 (2H, t, <i>J</i> =5.5)	
H-26,27	1.21 (3H, s)	1.21 (3H, s)	1.64 (3H, sl)	1.72 (3H, sl)	1.64 (3H, sl)	1.21 (3H, s)	
	1.23 (3H, s)	1.23 (3H, s)	1.71 (3H, sl)	4.70 (1H, narrow m)	1.71 (3H, sl)	1.23 (3H, s)	
				4.74 (1H, narrow m)			
LC-MS analysis							
characteristic ions (m/z)	441.7 [M+Na]+	441.7 [M+Na]+	423.7 [M+Na]⁺	423.7 [M+Na]⁺	423.7 [M+Na]⁺	441.7 [M+Na]+	
	436.7 [M+NH₄]⁺	436.7 [M+NH ₄]+	418.6 [M+NH ₄]+	418.6 [M+NH ₄]+	418.6 [M+NH ₄]+	436.7 [M+NH ₄]+	
	419.6 [M+H]+	419.6 [M+H]+	401.6 [M+H]+	401.6 [M+H]+	401.6 [M+H]+	419.6 [M+H]+	

Table 1 ¹H-NMR and LC-MS analyses of OCT metabolites

¹ Chemical shifts are in ppm; coupling constants are in Hz.



Fig. 2 2D COSY spectrum of OCT Metabolites, Peaks 1 and 2 recorded in CDCl₃. (A) Peak 1. (B) Peak 2. The numbers and letters in the spectrum refer to the corresponding protons containing cross-peaks in Peaks 1 and 2.

ppm). The resonances from H-23 and 23' (3.79 and 4.01 ppm) were also shifted downfield. These findings indicate that an olefin group was introduced between C-24 and C-25, and only one proton atom at H-24 remained in Peak 2. In the 2D COSY spectrum, cross peaks showing connectivity between the neighboring protons were clearly observed (Fig. 2B). The signal at 1.71 ppm was assigned to the proton of *trans* position against C-23 (namely, C-26 position) because of the presence of cross-peaks with H-23' and 24 that demonstrate long-range coupling. The signal at 1.64 ppm was also assigned to the proton of c is position against C-23 (namely, C-27 position). The LC-MS spectrum of Peak 2 in principle showed the same features as the spectrum of Peak 1; $[M+NH_4]^+$ was observed at m/z 418.6, suggesting a reduction of 18 mass units from OCT (Table 1). Consequently, Peak 2 was assigned to 24-ene-22-oxa-1 α (OH)D₃, a dehydrate of OCT in which a double bond was introduced between the C-24 and C-25 positions by dehydration of the C-25 hydroxyl group of OCT, as was seen in Peak 1. ¹H-NMR and LC-MS spectra of synthesized 24-ene-22-oxa-

 1α (OH)D were completely congruent with those of Peak 2. Peak 2 co-migrated with authentic 24-ene- 22-oxa- 1α (OH)D₃ on Zorbax SIL chromatography.

Peak 3: Peak 3 was inferred to be 3-epi-OCT by co-migration with the authentic standard in HPLC analysis. To confirm this interpretation, ¹H-NMR and LC-MS spectral analyses were performed. In the ¹H-NMR spectrum of Peak 3, the signals of H-3 (4.03 ppm) and H-1 (4.31 ppm) were observed in the same positions as for authentic 3-epi-OCT, shifted upfield compared with OCT (Table 1). These findings suggest that both protons in positions 1 and 3 tended to be in axial arrangement. In the LC-MS spectra of OCT and 3-epi-OCT, [M+NH₄]⁺ was observed at m/z 436.7. In the spectrum of Peak 3, [M+NH₄]⁺ was also observed at m/z 436.7 and the other ions, 419.6 [M+H]+ and 441.7 [M+Na]+ showed identical patterns to the spectra of OCT and 3- epi-OCT respectively (Table 1). It was indicated that the structure of Peak 3 is a diastereomer or a geometric isomer of OCT. Based on the findings of HPLC, ¹H-NMR and LC-MS analyses, Peak 3 was assigned as 3-epi-OCT, which has a changed configuration of a hydroxyl group at C-3 of the A-ring.

Metabolism of 3-epi-OCT in UMR-106 cells and identification of less polar metabolites of 3-epi-OCT (Peaks 1' and 2').

Incubation of UMR-106 cells with 10 μ M 3-epi- OCT for 48 hr resulted in the formation of 4 metabolites (Fig. 3). Two of the 4 metabolites, labeled Peaks 3' and 4' were corresponded to the C-3 epimers of 1 α ,20(OH)₂D₃ and 24(OH)OCT, respectively. Two other less polar metabolites, labeled Peaks 1' and 2' were purified for structure assignments by ¹H-NMR spectroscopy and LC-MS analyses. The proton chemical shifts assigned by 1D and 2D COSY and NOESY spectra of purified Peaks 1' and 2' are summarized in Table 2. Except for the chemical shifts of H-1 and 3, the resonances from all protons of Peaks 1' and



Fig. 3 HPLC chromatograms of the lipid extracts from UMR-106 cells incubated with 10 μ M 3-epi-OCT for 48 hr. HPLC analysis was performed using a Zorbax-SIL column (4.6 × 250 mm) eluted with HIM 88:10:2 at a flow rate of 1.0 mL/min. Peaks 1'and 2'were identified as 25-ene-3-epi-22-oxa-1 α (OH)D₃ and 24-ene-3-epi-22-oxa-1 α (OH)D₃, respectively.

2' matched those of Peaks 1 and 2, respectively. The chemical shifts of H-1 and 3 of Peaks 1' and 2' were observed at the same upfield position as 3-epi-OCT compared to OCT. In the LC-MS spectra of Peaks 1' and 2', $[M+NH_4]^+$ was also observed at m/z 418.6, and the other ions, 401.6 $[M+H]^+$ and 423.7 $[M+Na]^+$ showed identical patterns to the spectra of Peaks 1 and 2 (Table 2). From the findings of ¹H-NMR and LC-MS analyses, Peaks 1' and 2' were assigned as 25-ene-3-epi-22-oxa-1 α (OH)D₃ and 24-ene-3-epi-22-oxa-1 α (OH)D₃, respectively. In this experiment, OCT was not detected as a metabolite of 3-epi-OCT. This finding suggests that C-3 epimerization occurs unidirectionally as previously reported [18, 19].

Compound	OCT	3-epi-OCT	Peak 1	Peak 2	Peak 1'	Peak 2'
¹ H-NMR analysis						
¹ H chemical shifts and coupling constants ¹						
H-1	4.41 (1H, m)	4.31 (1H, m)	4.42 (1H, m)	4.42 (1H, m)	4.31 (1H, m)	4.30 (1H, m)
H-3	4.21 (1H, m)	4.04 (1H, m)	4.21 (1H, m)	4.21 (1H, m)	4.05 (1H, m)	4.04 (1H, m)
H-6	6.35 (1H, d, <i>J</i> =11.5)	6.41 (1H, d, <i>J</i> =12.0)	6.36 (1H, d, <i>J</i> =11.0)	6.36 (1H, d, <i>J</i> =10.5)	6.41 (1H, d, <i>J</i> =11.5)	6.41 (1H, d, <i>J</i> =11.5)
H-7	6.00 (1H, d, <i>J</i> =11.0)	6.00 (1H, d, <i>J</i> =11.5)	6.01 (1H, d, <i>J</i> =11.0)	6.01 (1H, d, <i>J</i> =11.0)	6.01 (1H, d, <i>J</i> =11.5)	6.01 (1H, d, <i>J</i> =11.0)
H-19	4.97 (1H, narrow m)	4.97 (1H, narrow m)	4.98 (1H, narrow m)	4.98 (1H, narrow m)	4.98 (1H, narrow m)	4.98 (1H, narrow m)
	5.31 (1H, narrow m)	5.27 (1H, narrow m)	5.31 (1H, narrow m)	5.31 (1H, narrow m)	5.28 (1H, narrow m)	5.28 (1H, narrow m)
H-23	3.46 (1H, td, <i>J</i> =5.5, 9.5)	3.46 (1H, td, <i>J</i> =5.5, 9.0)	3.33 (1H, td, <i>J</i> =7.5, 9.0)	3.79 (1H, dd, <i>J</i> =6.0, 10.5)	3.33 (1H, td, <i>J</i> =7.5, 9.0)	3.79 (1H, dd, <i>J</i> =7.0, 11.0)
	3.82 (1H, td, <i>J</i> =5.0, 9.5)	3.82 (1H, td, <i>J</i> =6.0, 9.0)	3.63 (1H, td, <i>J</i> =7.0, 9.0)	4.01 (1H, dd, <i>J</i> =7.0, 11.5)	3.64 (1H, td, <i>J</i> =6.5, 9.0)	4.01 (1H, dd, <i>J</i> =7.5, 11.5)
H-24	1.71 (2H, t, <i>J</i> =5.5)	1.71 (2H, t, <i>J</i> =5.5)	2.23 (2H, td, <i>J</i> =6.0, 6.3)	5.32 (1H, m)	2.23 (2H, td, <i>J</i> =5.0, 6.5)	5.32 (1H, m)
H-26,27	1.21 (3H, s)	1.21 (3H, s)	1.72 (3H, sl)	1.64 (3H, sl)	1.72 (3H, sl)	1.64 (3H, sl)
	1.23 (3H, s)	1.23 (3H, s)	4.70 (1H, narrow m)	1.71 (3H, sl)	4.70 (1H, narrow m)	1.71 (3H, sl)
			4.74 (1H, narrow m)		4.74 (1H, narrow m)	
LC-MS analysis						
characteristic ions (m/z)	441.7 [M+Na]+ 436 7	441.7 [M+Na]⁺ 436 7	423.7 [M+Na]+	423.7 [M+Na] ⁺	423.7 [M+Na]+ 418.6	441.7 [M+Na]+ 436.7
	[M+NH4] ⁺	[M+NH4]+	[M+NH4]+	[M+NH4]+	[M+NH4] ⁺	430.7 [M+NH4] ⁺
	419.6 [M+H]+	419.6 [M+H]+	401.6 [M+H]+	401.6 [M+H]+	401.6 [M+H]+	419.6 [M+H]+

Table 2 ¹H-NMR and LC-MS analyses of 3-epi-OCT metabolites

¹ Chemical shifts are in ppm; coupling constants are in Hz.

Production rates of OCT metabolites in UMR-106, Caco-2 and LLC-PK1 Cells.

The same less polar metabolites of OCT were generated in all cell lines tested, although there were differences exist in the amounts of products formed among cell types (Fig. 4). The major metabolite found in cell cultures of Caco-2 and LLC-PK₁ was 24(OH)OCT, whereas 25-ene-22-oxa-1 α (OH)D₃ appeared to be more prevalent in UMR-106 cells. Interestingly, in UMR-106 cells the production ratio of 25-ene-22-oxa-1 α (OH)D₃ to 24ene-22-oxa-1 α (OH)D₃ was 2:1, however in Caco-2 and LLC-PK₁ cells, the production ratios of 25-ene-22-oxa-1 α (OH)D₃ to 24-ene-22-oxa-1 α (OH)D₃ were 1:4 and 1:11, respectively.



Fig.4. Relative generated amounts of OCT metabolites in UMR-106, Caco-2 and LLC-PK₁ cells. Each cell line was incubated with 10 μ M OCT for 48 hr. Due to a lack of authentic compounds for 25-ene-22-oxa-1 α (OH)D3 and 24(OH)OCT, the amounts of these metabolites were measured by Zorbax SIL HPLC using the metabolites purified from UMR-106 cell culture as the standard compounds. The results are expressed as the total amount of product formed in nmol/plate/48 hr, and represent the mean of three experiments (values in column).

Dose-response studies of metabolism of OCT and 3-epi-OCT in UMR-106 Cells.

25-Ene-22-oxa-1 α (OH)D₃, 24-ene-22-oxa-1 α (OH)D₃, 24(OH)OCT and 3-epi-OCT were produced in a dose-dependent manner in up to 10 µM OCT as shown in Fig.5A. When UMR-106 cells were incubated with 0.1 µM OCT, 24(OH)OCT was predominantly produced. However, when the cells were incubated with 1-10 µM OCT, the major metabolite was 25-ene-22-oxa-1 α (OH)D₃. Interestingly, the production ratio of 25-ene-22-oxa-1 α (OH)D₃ to 24-ene-22-oxa-1 α (OH)D₃ was 2:1 at any concentration of OCT. We also examined dose-response of less polar metabolism of 3-epi-OCT in UMR-106 cells. Both 25-ene-3-epi-22-oxa-1 α (OH)D₃ and 24-ene-3-epi-22-oxa-1 α (OH)D₃ were produced in a dose-dependent manner in up to 10 µM 3-epi-OCT (Fig. 5B). At any concentration, the ratio of 25-ene-3-epi-22-oxa-1 α (OH)D₃ to 24-ene-3-epi-22-oxa-1 α (OH)D₃ was exactly 2:1.



Fig. 5 Dose-response of OCT or 3-epi-OCT metabolism in UMR-106 cells. (A) Amounts of OCT metabolites in UMR-106 cells incubated with 0.1–10 μM OCT for 24 hr. (B) Amounts of the less polar metabolites of 3-epi-OCT in UMR-106 cells incubated with 0.1–10 μM 3-epi-OCT for 24 hr. The results represent the mean of three experiments (values in column).

Time-course studies of metabolism of OCT and 3-epi-OCT in UMR-106 Cells

In a time-course study, 25-ene-22-oxa-1 α (OH)D₃ and 24(OH)OCT were first detected approximately 1 h after the incubation was begun, and continued to increase up to the end of the incubation period (Fig. 6A). 24-Ene-22-oxa-1 α (OH)D₃ and 3-epi-OCT were first apparent at 3 h of incubation. 24-Ene-22-oxa-1 α (OH)D₃ continued to increase up to the end of the incubation period, whereas 3-epi-OCT gradually increased and reached only 30% of the amount of 25-ene-22-oxa-1 α (OH)D₃ by the end of the incubation period. The amounts of the two dehydrates generated from 3-epi-OCT in UMR-106 cells, also continued to increase up to the end of the incubation period (Fig. 6B).



Fig. 6 Time-course of OCT or 3-epi-OCT metabolism in UMR-106 cells. (A) Amounts of OCT metabolites in UMR-106 cells incubated with 5 μM OCT for 1–48 h. (B) Amounts of the less polar metabolites of 3-epi-OCT in UMR-106 cells incubated with 5 μM 3-epi-OCT for 1–48 hr. The results represent the mean of three experiments (values in column).

Biological activity of OCT and its less polar metabolites

The biological activity of OCT and its less polar metabolites is summarized in Table 3. All of the metabolites tested had a lower binding affinity for VDR than OCT. Relative binding affinities for VDR calculated for 50% displacement of $[^{3}H]-1\alpha$,25(OH)₂D₃ were only 0.13, 0.30 and 0.47 % of OCT for 25-ene-22-oxa-1a(OH)D₃, 24-ene-22-oxa- $1\alpha(OH)D_3$ and 3-epi-OCT, respectively. All of the metabolites tested had an extremely low binding affinity for DBP, like OCT (data not shown). Relative binding affinities for DBP could not be calculated because all of the metabolites did not reach 50% displacement of $[^{3}H]-25(OH)D_{3}$. At 10⁻⁸ M, the transcriptional activities of OCT metabolites on a human osteocalcin gene promoter were about 8, 24 and 33 % of OCT for 25-ene-22-oxa-1 α (OH)D₃, 24-ene-22-oxa-1 α (OH)D₃ and 3-epi-OCT, respectively. Similarly, the transcriptioninducing activities of OCT metabolites on a rat CYP24 gene promoter were about 2, 11 and 15 % of OCT for 25-ene-22-oxa-1α(OH)D₃, 24-ene-22-oxa-1α(OH)D₃ and 3-epi-OCT, respectively. Thus, 24-ene-22-oxa- 1α (OH)D₃ and 3-epi-OCT were found to be less active than OCT, with potencies between 1/3 and 1/10 in terms of the activation of vitamin Dtarget genes. On the other hand, at 10⁻⁸ M, no less polar metabolites of OCT showed significant activity of arresting the cell cycle at G_0 - G_1 phase as compared to 1α , 25(OH)₂D₃ and OCT (data not shown). Three OCT metabolites had little inducing effect on cell surface CD11b antigen expression in a human promyelocytic leukemia cell line, HL-60. At 10⁻⁸ M, the biological activities were only 8, 8 and 12 % of OCT for 25-ene-22-oxa-1a(OH)D₃, 24ene-22-oxa-1a(OH)D₃ and 3-epi-OCT, respectively.

	VDR	Transcript	ional activity ²	Differentiation-	
	Binding affinity ¹	hOC rCYP24A1		Inducing activity ²	
ОСТ	100	100	100	100	
25-ene-22-oxa- 1α(OH)D₃	0.13	7.3	2.4	13.2	
24-ene-22-oxa- 1α(OH)D₃	0.30	23.8	10.6	12.4	
3-epi-OCT	0.47	32.0	14.9	19.0	

Table 3 Biological activity of less polar metabolites of OCT

¹ The values represent the relative binding affinity to OCT (expressed as 100), calculated from the concentration of each compound needed to achieve 50% displacement of $[^{3}H]$ -1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ from VDR.

² The values are expressed as percentage activity at 10⁻⁸M in comparison with OCT (expressed as 100% activity).

Discussion

Here we report the structure assignment of novel less polar metabolites of OCT using ¹H-NMR and LC-MS techniques. The novel less polar metabolites identified include two dehydrates [25-ene-22-oxa-1 α (OH)D₃ and 24-ene-22-oxa-1 α (OH)D₃] and an A-ring diastereomer (3-epi-OCT). In addition, we demonstrated that the 3-epi-OCT was also converted into two dehydrates [25-ene-3-epi-22-oxa-1 α (OH)D₃ and 24-ene-3-epi-22-oxa-1 α (OH)D₃]. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first definite structural assignment of the C-25 dehydrates of OCT. Siu-Caldera et al. [21] studied the metabolism of 1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ in UMR-106 and ROS 17/2.8 cells and found a peak corresponding to a less polar metabolite (denoted as M1). Due to the insufficient quantity, its definite structural assignment was not established. If this metabolite M1 is one of the two dehydrates of 1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃, namely 25-ene-1 α -hydroxyvitamin D₃ or 24-ene-1 α -hydroxyvitamin D₃, then C-25 dehydration would likely be a common metabolic pathway of both 1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ and OCT.

The formation of these dehydrates was shown to be an enzymatic process, because the metabolites were not observed in no-cell controls incubated with OCT. Two possible metabolic routes from OCT to dehydrates can be considered; one via the direct C-25 dehydration, and the other via some kind of metabolites such as the 24(OH)OCT or 26(OH)OCT. The latter route seems unlikely because the dehydration of hydroxyl groups at positions C-24/C-25 or C-25/C-26 tend to be converted to ketone rather than formation of double bond. It is generally accepted that 24(OH)OCT is metabolized to 24-oxo-OCT, and that 26-hydroxy-OCT [26(OH)OCT] is likely to be metabolized to 23,26-dihydroxy-OCT. Therefore, both 24(OH)OCT and 26(OH)OCT seem unlikely to be precursors of the two OCT dehydrates. The former route is more plausible. Both the 24-ene-22-oxa-1α(OH)D₃

and the 25-ene-22-oxa-1 α (OH)D₃ can be formed from OCT by enzymatic C-25 dehydroxylation followed by dehydrogenation at the positions C-24 and C-26,respectively. If the latter oxidation occurs non-enzymatically, then the production of 24-ene-22-oxa-1 α (OH)D₃ is expected to be greater than that of 25-ene-22-oxa-1 α (OH)D₃ on the basis of the chemical reaction. In this study, unexpectedly, the production of 25-ene-22-oxa-1 α (OH)D₃ was greater than that of 24-ene-22-oxa-1 α (OH)D₃ in UMR-106 cells. Therefore, the C-25 dehydration process of OCT is suspected to be under strict cell-specific control, or further metabolism of these dehydrates may differ with cell line. The findings of the biological studies here with two dehydrates of OCT demonstrated that their biological activities are considerably lower than OCT. Thus, it appears that like the C-23/C-24 hydroxylation pathways, the C-25 dehydration pathway contributes to reducing the high potency of OCT.

In this study, we also have shown that OCT is metabolized to its C-3 epimer, 3-epi-OCT. The C-3 epimerization is not specific to 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃, 25(OH)D₃, 24,25(OH)₂D₃ (Part 1, Section 1) and OCT. Reddy et al. [22] demonstrated that synthetic vitamin D analogs, 1α ,25(OH)₂-16-ene-23-yne-vitamin D₃ and 1α ,25(OH)₂-16-ene-23-yne-20-epi-vitamin D₃ are metabolized to their respective C-3 epimers in UMR-106 cells. These findings clearly indicate that most of the vitamin D derivatives are metabolized through the C-3 epimerization pathway. It is also interesting to note that the rate of C-3 epimerization varies depending upon the structure of vitamin D derivatives. We observed that the rate of C-3 epimerization of 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ was about 3-fold higher than that of OCT in UMR-106 cells. In addition, the rate of C-3 epimerization of 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ [23]. Reddy et al. [22] reported that the rate of C-3 epimerization of 1α ,25(OH)₂-16-ene-23-yne-D₃ was 10-fold lower than that of its C-20 epimer. It was also

found that the rate of C-3 epimerization of 5,6-trans or 19-nor analogs was decreased to significant extent [24]. The vitamin D₃ analogs containing a methyl group at C-2 of the Aring were not metabolized to their respective C-3 epimers [25]. These findings imply that C-3 epimerization activity is not affected by the C-1a hydroxyl group but by structural modification of the side-chain and A-ring. The C-3 epimerization pathway has been shown to be present in a variety of normal and malignant cells. However, its contribution to the metabolism of vitamin D appears to be relatively low compared to the C-23/C-24 oxidation pathways, except for specific cell lines (e.g. UMR-106 cells). Rat osteosarcoma ROS 17/2.8 cells, in which the C-24 oxidation pathway is not active, has been shown to metabolize $1\alpha.25(OH)_2D_3$ via the C-3 epimerization pathway [21]. In contrast, the perfused rat kidney and human promyelocytic leukemia cell line HL-60, in which the C-23/C-24 hydroxylation pathways are highly expressed, do not metabolize 1a,25(OH)₂D₃ to via the C-3 epimerization pathway [21, 26]. These findings imply that C-3 epimerization pathway is cell-selective and contributes to the metabolism of vitamin D in concert with the C-23/C-24 hydroxylation pathways.

In summary, we presented evidence that a novel C-25 dehydration pathway and C-3 epimerization pathway is involved in the metabolism of OCT, a drug for secondary hyperparathyroidism and psoriasis in Japan (Fig. 7). Furthermore, we also demonstrated that 3-epi-OCT is further metabolized to two dehydrates. In UMR-106 cells, OCT is predominantly metabolized via the C-25 dehydration pathway. On the other hand, in Caco-2 and LLC-PK₁ cells, OCT is predominately metabolized via the C-25/C-24 hydroxylation pathways. The interplay of these metabolic pathways may be important in the regulation of OCT metabolism and its biological functions in its target cells.


Fig. 7 Novel metabolic pathway of OCT

References

- [1] E. Abe, C. Miyaura, H. Sakagami, M. Takeda, K. Konno, T. Yamazaki, S. Yoshiki,
 T. Suda, Differentiation of mouse myeloid leukemia cells induced by 1α,25dihydroxyvitamin D₃, Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 78(8) (1981) 4990–4995.
- [2] K.W. Colston, J.M. Colston, D. Feldman, 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃ and malignant melanoma: the presence of receptors and inhibition of cell growth in culture, Endocrinology 108(3) (1981) 1083–1086.
- [3] J.A. Eisman, D.H. Barkla, P.J.M. Tutton, Suppression of in vivo growth of human cancer solid tumor xenografts by 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃, Cancer Res 47(1) (1987) 21–25.
- [4] J.A. Eisman, M. Koga, R.L. Sutherland, D.H. Barkla, P.J.M. Tutton, 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D₃ and the regulation of human cancer cell replication, Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 191(3) (1989) 221–226.
- [5] K.W. Colston, U. Berger, R.C. Coombes, Possible role for vitamin D in controlling breast cancer cell proliferation, Lancet 1(8631) (1989) 188–191.
- [6] Y. Iino, M. Yoshida, N. Sugamata, M. Maemura, S. Ohwada, T. Yokoe, T. Ishikita, R. Horiuchi, Y. Morishita, 1α-hydroxyvitamin D₃, hypercalcemia, and growth suppression of 7,12-dimethylbenz[a]anthracene-induced rat mammary tumors, Breast Cancer Res Treat 22(2) (1992) 133–140.
- [7] D.M. Peehl, R.J. Skowronski, G.K. Leung, S.T. Wong, T.A. Stamey, D. Feldman, Antiproliferative effects of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃ on primary cultures of human prostatic cells, Cancer Res 54(3) (1994) 805–810.
- [8] T. Kobayashi, N. Tsugawa, T. Okano, S. Masuda, A. Takeuchi, N. Kubodera, Y. Nishii, The binding properties, with blood proteins, and tissue distribution of 22-oxa-1α,25dihydroxyvitamin D₃, a noncalcemic analogue of 1α, 25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃, in rats, J Biochem 115(3) (1994) 373–380.
- [9] T. Kobayashi, T. Okano, N. Tsugawa, S. Masuda, A. Takeuchi, Y. Nishii, Metabolism and transporting system of 22-oxacalcitriol, Cont Nephrol 91 (1991) 129–133.
- [10] T. Okano, N. Tsugawa, S. Masuda, A. Takeuchi, T. Kobayashi, Y. Nishii, Proteinbinding properties of 22-oxa-1α,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃, a synthetic analogue of 1α,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃. J Nutr Sci Vitaminol (Tokyo) 35(5) (1989) 529–533.

- [11] S. Morimoto, S. Imanaka, E. Koh, T. Shiraishi, T. Nabata, S. Kitano, Y. Miyashita, Y. Nishii, T. Ogihara, Comparison of the inhibitions of proliferation of normal and psoriatic fibroblasts by 1α,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃ and synthetic analogues of vitamin D₃ with an oxygen atom in their side chain, Biochem Int 19(5) (1989) 1143–1149.
- [12] J. Abe, Y. Takita, T. Nakano, C. Miyaura, T. Suda, Y. Nishii, A synthetic analogue of vitamin D₃, 22-oxa-1α,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃, is a potent modulator of *in vivo* immunoregulating activity without inducing hypercalcemia in mice, Endocrinology 124(5) (1989) 2645–2647.
- [13] J.L. Finch, A.J. Brown, N. Kubodera, Y. Nishii, E. Slatopolsky, Differential effects of 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ and 22-oxacalcitriol on phosphate and calcium metabolism, Kidny Int 43(3) (1993) 561–566.
- [14] K. Takeyama, Y. Masuhiro, H. Fuse, H. Endoh, A. Murayama, S. Kitanaka, M. Suzawa, J. Yanagisawa, S. Kato, Selective interaction of vitamin D receptor with transcriptional coactivators by a vitamin D analog, Mol Cell Biol 19(2) (1999) 1049–1055.
- [15] A.J. Brown, M. Berkoben, C. Ritter, N. Kubodera, Y. Nishii, E. Slatopolsky, Metabolism of 22-oxacalcitriol by a vitamin D-inducible pathway in cultured parathyroid cells, Biochem Biophys Res Commun 189(2) (1992) 759–764.
- [16] D.D. Bikle, J. Abe-Hashimoto, M.J. Su, S. Felt, D.F.C. Gibson, S. Pillai, 22-Oxa calcitriol is a less potent regulator of keratinocyte proliferation and differentiation due to decreased cellular uptake and enhanced catabolism, J Invest Dermatol 105(5) (1995) 693–698.
- [17] S. Masuda, V. Byford, R. Kremer, H.L.J. Makin, N. Kubodera, Y. Nishii, A. Okazaki, T. Okano, T. Kobayashi, G. Jones, *In vitro* metabolism of the vitamin D analog, 22-oxacalcitriol, using cultured osteosarcoma, hepatoma, and keratinocyte cell lines, J Biol Chem 271(15) (1996) 8700–8708.
- [18] S. Masuda, M. Kamao, N.J. Schroeder, H.L.J. Makin, G. Jones, R. Kremer, J. Rhim,,
 T. Okano, (2000) Characterization of 3-epi-1α,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃ involved in 1α,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃ metabolic pathway in cultured cell lines, Biol Pharm Bull, 23(2) (2000) 133–139.
- [19] M. Kamao, S. Tatematsu, S. Hatakeyama, T. Sakaki, N. Sawada, K. Inouye, K. Ozono,

N. Kubodera, G.S. Reddy, T. Okano T, C-3 epimerization of vitamin D_3 metabolites and further metabolism of C-3 epimers: 25-hydroxyvitamin D_3 is metabolized to 3-epi-25-hydroxyvitamin D_3 and subsequently metabolized through C-1 α or C-24 hydroxylation, J Biol Chem 279(16) (2004) 15897–15907.

- [20] M.G. Bischof, M.-L. Siu-Caldera, A. Weiskopf, P. Vouros, H.S. Cross, M. Peterlok, G.S. Reddy, Differentiation-related pathways of 1α,25-dihydroxycholecalciferol metabolism in human colon adenocarcinoma-derived Caco-2 cells: production of 1α,25-dihydroxy-3epi-cholecalciferol, Exp Cell Res 241(1) (1998) 194–201.
- [21] M.-L. Siu-Caldera, H. Sekimoto, A. Weiskopf, P. Vouros, K.R. Muralidharan, W.H. Okamura, J. Bishop, A.W. Norman, M.R. Uskokovic, I. Schuster, G.S. Reddy, Production of 1α,25-dihydroxy-3-epi-vitamin D₃ in two rat osteosarcoma cell lines (UMR 106 and ROS 17/2.8): existence of the C-3 epimerization pathway in ROS 17/2.8 cells in which the C-24 oxidation pathway is not expressed, Bone 24(5) (1999) 457–446.
- [22] G.S. Reddy, D.S. Rao, M.-L. Siu-Caldera, N. Astecker, A. Weiskopf, P. Vouros, G.J. Sasso, S. Percy, P.S. Manchand, M.R. Uskokovic, 1α ,25-dihydroxy-16-ene-23-yne-vitamin D₃ and 1α ,25-dihydroxy-16-ene-23-yne-20-epi-vitamin D₃: analogs of 1α ,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃ that resist metabolism through the C-24 oxidation pathway are metabolized through the C-3 epimerization pathway, Arch Biochem Biophys. 383(2) (2000) 197–205.
- [23] M. Kamao, S. Tatematsu, G.S. Reddy, S. Hatakeyama, M. Sugiura, N. Ohashi, N. Kubodera, T. Okano, Isolation, identification and biological activity of 24R,25dihydroxy-3-epi-vitamin D₃: a novel metabolite of 24R,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃ produced in rat osteosarcoma cells (UMR 106), J Nutr Sci Vitaminol (Tokyo) 47(2) (2001) 108–115.
- [24] M.R. Uskokovic, A.W. Norman, P.S. Manchand, G.P. Studzinski, M.J. Campbell, H.P. Koeffler, A. Takeuchi, M.-L. Siu-Caldera, D.S. Rao, G.S. Reddy, Highly active analogs of 1α,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃ that resist metabolism through C-24 oxidation and C-3 epimerization pathways, Steroids 66(3-5) (2001) 436–471.
- [25] D.S. Rao, M.-L. Siu-Caldera, H. Sekimoto, L. Gennaro, P. Vouros, H. Takayama, K. Konno, T. Fujishima, G.S. Reddy, Metabolism of 2-methyl analogs of 1α,25dihydroxyvitamin D₃ in rat osteosarcoma cells (UMR 106), Biol Pharm Bull 25(7)

(2002) 845-852.

[26] D.S. Rao, M.J. Campbell, H.P. Koeffler, S. Ishizuka, M.R. Uskokovic, P. Spagnuolo, G.S. Reddy, Metabolism of 1α,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃ in human promyelocytic leukemia (HL-60) cells: *in vitro* biological activities of the natural metabolites of 1α,25dihydroxyvitamin D₃ produced in HL-60 cells, Steroids 66(3-5) (2001) 423–431.

CAPTER 3

Measurement of C-3 epimerization activity toward vitamin D

Introduction

Vitamin D is metabolized first in the liver to 25(OH)D₃, and then in the kidney to 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ or 24,25(OH)₂D₃. It was reported that at least six CYPs can catalyze the initial C-25 hydroxylation step, including CYP2C11 [1–3], CYP2D25 [4,5], CYP2R1 [6,7], CYP2J3 [8], CYP3A4 [9] and CYP27A1 [10–12]. The enzymes engaged in the next C-1a and C-24 hydroxylation steps are CYP27B1 [13–15] and CYP24A1 [16, 17], respectively. Of these enzymes related to vitamin D metabolism, CYP27A1, CYP27B1 and CYP24A1 are located in mitochondria, while CYP2C11, CYP2D25, CYP2R1, CYP2J3 and CYP3A4 are located in microsomes. The properties of mitochondrial enzymes including CYP27A1, CYP27B1 and CYP24A1 have been well studied using Escherichia coli expressing these enzymes. Human CYP27A1 produced many metabolites of vitamin D₃, such as C-25, C-26 and C-27 monohydroxide, and C-24,25, C-1a,25 and C-25,26 dihydroxide [18]. These results suggest that human CYP27A1 catalyzes multiple reactions and a multi-step metabolism leading to vitamin D₃. In addition, C-25 hydroxylation to vitamin D₃ showed a smaller maximum velocity (Vmax)/Michaelis constant (Km) value than that to a synthetic analog, 1α -hydroxyvitamin D₃ [1α (OH)D₃] [18]. On the other hand, enzymatic studies on the substrate specificity of CYP27B1 demonstrated that both mouse and human CYP27B1 showed greater Vmax/Km values toward 24,25(OH)₂D₃ than 25(OH)D₃ and the C-25 hydroxyl group of vitamin D_3 was essential for the C-1 α hydroxylase activity [19, 20]. Rat CYP24 catalyzed a six-step monooxygenation to convert 1α , 25(OH)₂D₃ into calcitroic acid [21, 22]. It was also demonstrated that human CYP24 catalyzed all the steps of the C-23 oxidation pathway from 25(OH)D₃ to 25(OH)D₃-26,23-lactone in addition to the C-24 oxidation pathway from 25(OH)D₃ to 24,25,26,27-tetranor-23(OH)D₃ [23]. The Vmax/Km values of both rat and human CYP24 were higher for 1α , 25(OH)₂D₃ than 25(OH)D₃ [21, 23]. CYP24 is highly responsible for the metabolism of both $25(OH)D_3$ and 1α , $25(OH)_2D_3$. These enzymes serve important roles in regulating both the formation and distribution of vitamin D metabolites.

In Part 2, Chapter 1 and 2, it has been demonstrated that vitamin D compounds are also metabolized through epimerization at C-3 in vitro and in vivo. Many of the vitamin D compounds including 1α,25(OH)₂D₃ [24, 25], 25(OH)D₃ [26] and 24,25(OH)₂D₃ [27, 28], OCT [29], 20-epi-1α,25(OH)₂D₃ [30] and 16-ene-23-yne-1α,25(OH)₂D₃ [31], have been reported to be metabolized to their respective C-3 epimers. In the case of steroids, the activity that transforms 5α -androstane- 3α , 17β -diol (C- 3α diol) into its C-3 epimer in the rat ovary was reported [32]. The conversion of C-3 α hydroxyl group into C-3 β might be due to both $3(\alpha \rightarrow \beta)$ -hydroxysteroid epimerase $[3(\alpha \rightarrow \beta)$ -HSE] [33] and the combined actions of 3α -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase (3α -HSD, EC 1.1.1.50) and β -HSD (EC 1.1.1.51). $3(\alpha \rightarrow \beta)$ -HSE, which was cloned in 2000 [33], is a member of the short chain alcohol dehydrogenase family (SDR), and shares high amino acid sequence identity with the retinol dehydrogenases (RoDHs). Higashi et. al. [34] reported that the epimerization of 24,25(OH)₂D₃ at C-3 is catalyzed by bacterial 3α -HSD and β -HSD. The conversion of 24,25(OH)₂D₃ into 3-epi-24,25(OH)₂D₃ and that of 3-epi-24,25(OH)₂D₃ into 24,25(OH)₂D₃ were both catalyzed by bacterial 3α -HSD and β -HSD, though C-3 epimerization proceeds from C-3 β toward C-3 α unidirectionally in cultured cells [25, 26, 29]. These observations raise three possibilities: (1) some other enzyme(s) responsible for the C-3 epimerization of vitamin D compounds might exist, (2) the substrate specificity of bacterial 3α -HSD and β -HSD might be different from that of the mammalian enzymes, (3) a mechanism for suppression of epimerization from C-3 α to C-3 β might operate in mammalian cells.

In the present study, we measured C-3 epimerization activity toward vitamin D₃ in

subcellular fractions and observed the highest level in the microsomal fraction, in which neither 3α -HSD nor β -HSD predominated [35–37]. We evaluated the substrate specificity, effect of cytochrome P450 inhibitors and 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃, and possibility that already-known metabolic enzymes for vitamin D and steroids such as CYP27A1, CYP27B1, CYP24 and $3(\alpha \rightarrow \beta)$ HSE might catalyze the epimerization of vitamin D₃ at C-3.

Materials and methods

Materials.

3-epi-25(OH)D₃, 3-epi-1α,25(OH)₂D₃, 3-epi-24,25(OH)₂D₃, OCT and 3-epi-OCT [38] were synthesized by Hatakeyama et al. of Nagasaki University. 25(OH)D₃, 1α,25(OH)₂D₃ and 24,25(OH)₂D₃ were obtained from Solvay Pharmaceuticals B.V. (Veenendaal, The Netherlands). Organic solvents of HPLC grade were purchased from Wako Pure Chemical Industries, Ltd (Tokyo, Japan). Ketoconazole, 1-aminobenzotriazole, benzylimidazole, methoxsalen, metyrapone, SKF-525A, troleandomycin were obtained from Enzo Life Sciences, Inc. (Farmingdale, NY, USA). Quinidine was provided by Shigma-Aldorich Co. LLC. (St. Loios, MO, USA). Antiserum against rat NADPH P450 reductase was from Daiichi Pure Chemicals Co., Ltd. (Tokyo, Japan). DNA modifying enzymes, restriction enzymes and the DNA sequencing kit were purchased from Takara Bio Inc. (Kusatsu, Japan). Linker and primer DNAs were obtained from Japan Bio-Service (Saitama, Japan).

Cell culture.

UMR-106, MG-63, Caco-2 and HepG2 were maintained as described in "Cell culture" section in Part 2, Section 1. The human hepatoma cell line (HUH-7) was obtained from the Institute of Development, Aging and Cancer, Tohoku University, Japan. HUH-7 cells were maintained in RPMI 1640 medium (Nissui Pharmaceutical Co., Tokyo, Japan) supplemented with 10 % FCS and 0.06 mg/mL kanamycin. Cells were cultured at 37 °C in a humidified atmosphere of CO_2 in air with a change of medium every three days.

Preparation of subcellular fractions.

First, 20 % (w/v) homogenates of cultured cells were prepared in homogenization

buffer [0.25 M sucrose, 20 mM 4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid (HEPES), 2.5 μ g/mL leupeptine, 2.5 μ g/mL pepstatine and 2 mM dithiothreitol (DTT), pH7.5]. Next, the nuclear fraction was isolated by centrifugation (1,000 × g, 10 min) of the homogenate. The mitochondrial fraction was then isolated by centrifugation (6,500 × g, 20 min) of the supernatant fluid obtained at 1,000 × g. The microsomal fraction was isolated by centrifugation (100,000 × g, 60 min) of a supernatant fluid obtained at 12,000 × g. The pellets were suspended in solubilization buffer [50 mM potassium phosphate, 20 % glycerol, 1 mM ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid, dihydrate (EDTA), 2.5 μ g/mL leupeptine, 2.5 μ g/mL pepstatine, and 2 mM DTT, pH7.25]. The amount of protein in each fraction was determined with a Pierce BCA protein assay kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Waltham, MA, USA), using BSA as a standard.

Measurement of C-3 epimerization activity in subcellular fractions.

In the standard incubation procedure, 10 nmol of vitamin D compound dissolved in 5 μ L of ethanol was incubated with 4 mg of the subcellular fraction and a NADPH-generating system consisting of 10 μ mol of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADP), 70 μ mol of glucose 6-phosphate, 12 units of glucose 6-phosphate dehydrogenase, and 100 mmol of Mg²⁺. The incubation volume was adjusted to 1.0 mL with 50 mM potassium phosphate buffer pH 6.5. Incubations were performed at 37 °C for 60 min and were terminated by addition of 2.5 mL of methanol together with 250 ng of vitamin D₃ or 25(OH)D₃ for the correction of extraction efficiency.

Extraction and purification of metabolites.

Lipid extraction was performed according to the method described in "*Purification of Metabolites*" section in Part 2, Chapter 1.

Measurement of C-3 epimerization activity in cultured cells pre-treated with $1 \alpha_2 25 (OH)_2 D_3$

UMR-106 cells (2×10^6 cells) were seeded in 150-mm culture dishes and cultured for 4 days to late log phase. At near confluence, 10 nM 1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ was added to the culture medium. After 18 h, the medium was removed and replaced with fresh culture medium supplemented with 1 % BSA. The cells were then incubated for 48 h at 37 °C in the presence of 1 μ M of 25(OH)D₃. The extraction of lipids and purification of metabolites" section.

Measurement of enzyme activity of CYP27A1, CYP27B1, and CYP24

The construction of co-expression plasmids for human CYP27A1, CYP27B1, CYP24 and bovine ADX and NADPH-ADR and culture of recombinant *E. coli* cells were performed as described in "*Metabolism of 3-Epi-25(OH)D₃ in Cultures of Recombinant E. Coli Cells Expressing CYP27B1 and CYP24A1*" section in Part 2, Chapter 1. Subcellular fractionation of *E. coli* cells was carried out basically according to previous study [21]. A 100 mM Tris-HCl buffer (pH 7.4) was used for suspension of the membrane fraction. The enzyme activity was measured in a re-constituted system consisting of the membrane fraction containing 0.5 μ M of CYP27A1, CYP27B1, and CYP24, 5.0 μ M of ADX, 0.5 μ M of ADR, 50 μ M of 25(OH)D₃, 0.5 mM of NADPH, 100 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.4) and 1 mM EDTA at 37 °C for 60 min. Lipid extraction and purification of metabolites were performed as described in the "Extraction and purification of metabolites" section. Recombinant *E. coli* cells transfected with pKSNdl derived from pKK233-3 (JM109/pKSNdl) were used for control experiments.

Measurement of enzyme activity of $3(\alpha \rightarrow \beta)HSE$

Human $3(\alpha \rightarrow \beta)$ HSE cDNA was obtained from the human liver cDNA library HL1145y (Clontech, Mountain View, CA, USA) using a PCR based method. The oligonucleotides CATATGTGGCTCTACCTGGCGGCCTTCGTG and TAAGCTTAGACTGCCTGCCTGGGCTGGTTTG were used as PCR primers on the basis of the human $3(\alpha \rightarrow \beta)$ HSE cDNA sequence described by Huang et. al [33]. The restriction sites NdeI and HindIII were added to the oligoprimers for subsequent subcloning. The PCR product was ligated with pUC19 digested with HincII. E. coli DH5a (Takara Bil Inc., Kusatsu, Japan) was used as a host strain. The plasmid with the appropriately sized insert was sequenced by using FITC-labeled primers and DSQ-2000L (Shimadzu, Kyoto, Japan). The resultant plasmid was digested with XbaI and HindIII to yield a XbaI-HindIII fragment (1.0 kbp). The XbaI-HindIII fragment was inserted into XbaI and HindIII sites of the mammalian expression vector pcDNA3.1(-) (Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Waltham, MA, USA) to construct pcDNA3.1(–)-3($\alpha \rightarrow \beta$)HSE. Cos-7 cells (kidney, SV40 transformed, African green monkey, ATCC) were maintained in DMEM supplemented with 10 % FCS, 100 IU/mL penicillin, and 100 μ g/mL streptomycin. Cells (8 \times 10⁵) were suspended in 8 mL of the medium and transfected with 10 µg of pcDNA3.1(–)-3($\alpha \rightarrow \beta$)HSE and pRL-CMV vector (pGVB vector, Toyo Ink Co., Ltd., Tokyo, Japan) as an internal control. The transfection agent used was Tfx-50 reagent (Promega Corp. Madison, WI). The cells were incubated with 5 µM of 25(OH)D₃, 3-epi-25(OH)D₃, androsterone (ADT) or epi-ADT for 48 h at 37°C in medium containing 1 % BSA. For measurements of vitamin D₃ metabolites, lipid was extracted and metabolites were purified as described in the "Extraction and purification of metabolites" section. The extracted ADT and epi-ADT metabolites were resuspended in 15 μ L of ethanol, applied to Kieselgel-60 high performance thin layer chromatography (HPTLC) plates (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany), and separated by migration in toluene/methanol (9:1, v/v). The metabolites were detected by heating at 120°C for 15 min after nebulization of sulfuric acid/methanol (1:1, v/v).

Statistical Analysis.

Significance levels were determined by Student's t-test; a value of p<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

Optimization of assay conditions for C-3 epimerization activity.

At first, the effect of different co-factors on C-3 epimerization activity was evaluated. In the homogenate prepared from UMR-106 cells, the highest level of activity was observed in the presence of a NADPH-generating system containing glucose-6-phosphate, NADP, glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase and Mg^{2+} (data not shown). As shown in Figs.1A and 1B, the rate of production of 3-epi-1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ was found to be linear with homogenate protein up to about 5 mg and with time for 60 min. As shown in Fig.1C, the optimal pH was between 6.0 and 7.0 and the conversion was somewhat higher in potassium phosphate buffer than acetate-NaOH, MES-NaOH, HEPES-NaOH or Tris-HCl buffer. Thus, the standard incubation procedure for measurement of C-3 epimerization activity was set up the condition using 4 mg of protein and a NADPH-generating system with potassium phosphate buffer, pH 6.5.



Fig. 1 Effect of protein concentration, incubation time and pH on C-3 epimerization activity toward 1α,25(OH)₂D₃ in homogenate prepared from UMR-106 cells. (A) Effect of protein concentration. 10 nmol of 1α,25(OH)₂D₃ was incubated with homogenate protein prepared from UMR-106 cells and a NADPH-generating system consisting of 10 µmol of NADP, 70 µmol of glucose 6-phosphate, 12 IU of glucose 6-phosphate dehydrogenase, and 100 mmol of Mg²⁺ in 50 mM potassium phosphate buffer (pH 7.5) at 37 °C for 60 min. (B) Effect of incubation time. 10 nmol of 1α,25(OH)₂D₃ was incubated with 4 mg of homogenate protein prepared from UMR-106 cells and the NADPH-generating system in 50 mM potassium phosphate buffer (pH 7.5) at 37 °C. (C) Effect of pH. 10 nmol of 1α,25(OH)₂D₃ was incubated with 4 mg of homogenate protein and the NADPH-generating system in 50 mM potassium phosphate buffer (pH 7.5) at 37 °C.
(C) Effect of pH. 10 nmol of 1α,25(OH)₂D₃ was incubated with 4 mg of homogenate protein prepared from UMR-106 cells and the NADPH-generating system in 50 mM potassium phosphate buffer; open circle, 50 mM MES-NaOH buffer; closed circle, 50 mM Acetate-NaOH buffer; open square, 50 mM HEPES-NaOH buffer; closed triangle, 50 mM Tris-HCl buffer.

C-3 epimerization activity in subcellular fractions prepared from cultured cells.

As shown in Fig. 2A, when subcellular fractions prepared from UMR-106 cells were incubated with 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ under standard conditions, the C-3 epimerization activity was strongest in the microsomal fraction. The level of activity in the microsomal fraction was about 60-fold higher than that in the homogenate. In addition, activity was observed in the microsomal fractions prepared from UMR-106, MG-63, Caco-2, HepG2 and HUH-7 cells, respectively (Fig. 2B).



Fig. 2 C-3 epimerization activity toward 1α,25(OH)₂D₃ in subcellular fractions. (A) C-3 epimerization activity in subcellular fractions prepared from UMR-106 cells under standard conditions. (B) C-3 epimerization activity in microsomal fractions prepared from UMR-106, MG-63, Caco-2, HepG2 and HUH-7 cells under standard conditions. The results represent the mean of two experiments.

Kinetic parameters for C-3 epimerization activity toward vitamin D_3 metabolites and an analog.

The major metabolites of D_3 , 25(OH) D_3 and 24,25(OH)₂ D_3 , were both metabolized to their C-3 epimers in the microsomal fraction prepared from UMR-106 cells. OCT, a synthetic analog of vitamin D, was also metabolized to its C-3 epimer, however the activity was quite week. When the substrate concentration was varied, the reaction followed Michaelis-Menten type kinetics for C-3 epimerization. Lineweaver-Burk plots and the calculated Vmax and Km values for the epimerization activity toward vitamin D₃ metabolites and the analog are shown in Fig. 3 and Table 1. The Vmax values was higher for 25(OH)D₃ than for 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃, 24,25(OH)₂D₃ and OCT. The Km was lower for OCT than for 25(OH)D₃, 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ and 24,25(OH)₂D₃. The physiologically essential parameter Vmax/Km was highest for 25(OH)D₃ of all substrates tested, and about 2-fold higher than that for 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃. Vmax/Km values for 24,25(OH)₂D₃ and OCT were quite low. The microsomal fraction prepared from UMR-106 cells displayed almost no activity for the epimerization of 3-epi-1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃, 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ and 3-epi-24,25(OH)₂D₃ to their C-3 β form (data not shown).



Fig. 3 Lineweaver-Burk plots of 1/V versus 1/S for C-3 epimerization activity toward 25(OH)D₃, 1α,25(OH)₂D₃, 24,25(OH)₂D₃ and OCT. The C-3 epimerization activity was measured in the microsomal fraction prepared from UMR-106 cells under standard conditions. Closed circle, 25(OH)D₃; open circle, 1α,25(OH)₂D₃; closed square, 24,25(OH)₂D₃; open square, OCT. S, substrate concentration; V, velocity.

	25(OH)D ₃	1α,25(OH) ₂ D ₃	24,25(OH) ₂ D ₃	OCT
Vmax (pmol/min/mg protein)	2.34	1.52	0.51	0.03
Km (μM)	73.7	98.9	200.1	24.2
Vmax/Km (pmol/min/mg protein/mM)	0.032	0.015	0.0025	0.0012

Table 1 Kinetic parameters for C-3 epimerization activity toward D₃ metabolites and an analog

Effect of various cytochrome P450 inhibitors, antiserum against NADPH P450 reductase on C-3 epimerization activity.

Fig. 4A shows the effect of various cytochrome P450 inhibitors on C-3 epimerization activity. The activity toward 25(OH)D₃ in the microsomal fraction prepared from UMR-106 cells was not inhibited by ketoconazole, 1-aminobenzotriazole, benzylimidazole, methoxalen, metyrapone or SKF-525A, which are categorized as universal cytochrome P450 inhibitors. In addition, the activity was not inhibited by quinidine or troleandomycin, which are known as potent inhibitors of CYP2D6 or CYP3A4, respectively. Fig. 4B shows the effect of antiserum against NADPH P450 reductase. The C-3 epimerization activity was not inhibited by antiserum against NADPH P450 reductase.

Effect of pre-treatment with 1 α , 25(OH)₂D₃ on C-3 epimerization activity.

Figs. 5A and 5B show C-3 epimerization activity in cultured cells pre-treated with $1\alpha,25(OH)_2D_3$. Pre-treatment with $1\alpha,25(OH)_2D_3$ did not induce the generation of 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ from 25(OH)D₃ (Fig. 5A), but induced the generation of 24,25(OH)₂D₃ from 25(OH)D₃ (Fig. 5B) in UMR-106 cells. These results suggest that the C-3 epimerization was not induced by $1\alpha,25(OH)_2D_3$.



Fig. 4 Effect of various cytochrome P450 inhibitors and antiserum against NADPH P450 reductase on C-3 epimerization activity. (A) Effect of cytochrome P450 inhibitors. The C-3 epimerization activity toward 25(OH)D₃ was measured in the microsomal fraction prepared from UMR-106 cells under standard conditions in the presence of 20 μM of each inhibitor. (B) Effect of antiserum against NADPH P450 reductase. The C-3 epimerization activity toward 25(OH)D₃ was measured in the microsomal fraction prepared from UMR-106 cells under standard conditions. The results represent the mean±SE of three experiments. There were no statistically significant differences from control group.



Fig. 5 Effect of pre-treatment with 1α,25(OH)₂D₃ on C-3 epimerization activity. (A) Relative amounts of 3-epi-25(OH)D₃. (B) Relative amounts of 24,25(OH)₂D₃. 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ metabolites generated in UMR-106 cells pre-treated with or without 1α,25(OH)₂D₃ for 18 h. The cells were incubated with 1 µM of 25(OH)D₃ for 48 h. The results are expressed as the total amount of product formed in nmol/plate/48 h and represent mean±SE of three experiments. Significant difference between pre-treatment (-) and pre-treatment (+). NS, not significantly different.

Metabolism of 25(OH)D₃ by CYP27A1, CYP27B1, CYP24 and $3(\alpha \rightarrow \beta)$ HSE.

The metabolism of $25(OH)D_3$ was examined in a reconstituted system containing the membrane fraction prepared from the recombinant E. coli cells expressing CYP27A1, CYP27B1 or CYP24 with ADX and ADR. The lipid extracts from the reaction mixture of CYP27A1, CYP27B1 and CYP24 were subjected to a first HPLC using a Zorbax SIL column (Fig. 6A). The eluates corresponding to 25(OH)D₃ (R.T. 5.68 min) and 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ (5.68 min) were collected in a single fraction eluting between 5 and 7 min, and then subjected to a second HPLC using a Sumichiral OA-2000 column for the separation of 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ (R.T. 18.23 min) from 25(OH)D₃ (19.72 min) (Fig. 6B). 1α,25(OH)₂D₃ was detected as a metabolite of $25(OH)D_3$ in the reconstituted system of CYP27A1 and CYP27B1 (Fig. 6A). In the reconstituted system of CYP24, the production of 24,25(OH)₂D₃ from 25(OH)D₃ was confirmed as expected. LC-MS spectra of these metabolites of 25(OH)D₃ obtained in the reconstituted system of CYP27A1, CYP27B1 and CYP24 completely matched those of synthetic standards of 1α , $25(OH)_2D_3$ and 24, $25(OH)_2D_3$ (data not shown). However, 3-epi-25(OH) D_3 was not produced as a metabolite of 25(OH) D_3 by any of the cytochrome P450 enzymes tested (Fig. 6B). Next, we examined the metabolism of 25(OH)D₃ in COS-7 cells transfected with pcDNA3.1(–)-3($\alpha \rightarrow \beta$)HSE. As shown in Fig. 7, the production of 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ from 25(OH)D₃ was not induced by transfection of $3(\alpha \rightarrow \beta)$ HSE. The conversion of ADT (3 α) into epi-ADT (3 β) and the reverse reaction, the transformation of epi-ADT (3 β) into ADT (3 α), were both detected by HPTLC. In addition, 5α -androstene-3,17-dione, which is the intermediate in the C-3 epimerization of ADT (3α) and epi-ADT (3β), was also detected (data not shown). These results suggest that the C-3 epimerization of 25(OH)D₃ was not catalyzed by CYP27A1, CYP27B1, CYP24 or $3(\alpha \rightarrow \beta)$ HSE.



Fig. 6 Metabolism of 25(OH)D₃ in a reconstituted system containing the membrane fraction prepared from JM109/pKSNdl-CYP27A1, JM109/pKSNdl-CYP27B1 or JM109/pKSNdl-CYP24. (A) The first HPLC profile of the lipid extracts from the reaction mixture containing the membrane fraction prepared from JM109/pKSNdl-CYP27A1, JM109/pKSNdl-CYP27B1 and JM109/pKSNdl-CYP24. (B) The second HPLC profile of the fraction obtained from the first HPLC of the reaction mixture of CYP27A1, CYP27B1 and CYP24. The first HPLC analysis was performed using a Zorbax-SIL column (4.6 × 250 mm) eluted with hexane/2-propanol/methanol (HIM 88/10/2, v/v/v) at a flow rate of 1.0 mL/min. The second HPLC analysis was performed using a Sumichiral OA-2000 column (4.6 × 250 mm) eluted with 3.5 % 2-propanol/hexane at a flow rate of 1.0 mL/min.



Fig. 7 Relative amounts of 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ generated from 25(OH)D₃ in COS-7 cells expressing $3(\alpha \rightarrow \beta)$ HSE. COS-7 cells transfected with pcDNA3.1(-) or pcDNA3.1(-)-3($\alpha \rightarrow \beta$)HSE were incubated with 5 μ M of 25(OH)D₃ for 48 h. The results are expressed as the total amount of 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ formed in nmol/plate/48h and represent the mean ±SE of three experiments. There was no significant difference between the two groups. NS, not significantly different.

Discussion

The C-3 epimerization pathway leads to the conversion of the configuration of the hydroxyl group at C-3 of the A-ring and is quite different from side-chain oxidation pathways in view of the modification at the A-ring. Already known metabolic enzymes of vitamin D, such as CYP27A1, CYP27B1 and CYP24, belong to the cytochrome P450 family. In the present study, the microsomal C-3 epimerization activity was not inhibited by various cytochrome P450 inhibitors and antiserum against NADPH P450 reductase. We also confirmed that C-3 epimerization was not catalyzed by cytochrome P450 enzymes related to vitamin D metabolism, including CYP27A1, CYP27B1 and CYP24. Therefore, it is thought that the microsomal enzyme(s) responsible for the C-3 epimerization is not a member of the cytochrome P450 family. In UMR-106 cells, C-3 epimerization activity was not induced by pre-treatment with the active form of vitamin D, 1α , 25(OH)₂D₃. Therefore, the expression of the enzyme(s) related to C-3 epimerization might not be regulated by $1\alpha, 25(OH)_2D_3$. Steroid epimerase, $3(\alpha \rightarrow \beta)$ HSE, was one of the candidates for the enzyme which catalyzes the epimerization of the C-3 hydroxyl group in vitamin D compounds. It was reported that the activity of $3(\alpha \rightarrow \beta)$ HSE was observed in $100,000 \times g$ fractions of cells transfected with $3(\alpha \rightarrow \beta)$ HSE, corresponding to the microsomal fraction. However, $3(\alpha \rightarrow \beta)$ HSE did not catalyze the C-3 epimerization of $25(OH)D_3$ in this study. C-3 epimerization of steroids is composed of two steps, the oxidation of the C-3 α hydroxyl group to the C-3 oxo group, followed by the reduction of the C-3 oxo group into the C-3^β hydroxyl group. Higashi et. al. [27] speculated that $24,25(OH)_2D_3$ was converted to 3-epi-24,25(OH)₂D₃ through the C-3 oxo intermediate from their experiments using $24,25(OH)_2D_3$ labeled with deuterium at the C-3 α position and identified 24,25-dihydroxy-9,10-secocholesta-4,7,10(19)-triene-3-one which was estimated to be a non-enzymatic product derived from the C-3 oxo intermediate by treatment with cholesterol oxidase [34]. The C-3 oxo intermediates of vitamin D compounds are likely to be difficult to isolate since they are not stable. In our study using the microsomal fraction prepared from UMR-106 cells incubated with 25(OH)D₃, the peaks corresponding to the intermediates which have a C-3 oxo group were not detected in the predicted area of HPLC chromatograms [34].

In the present study, we optimized the conditions for the measurement of C-3 epimerization as follows: co-factors, a NADPH-generating system containing glucose-6-phosphate, NADP, glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase and Mg²⁺; protein amount, 4 mg; incubation time, 60 min; pH, approximately 6.5; and buffer, potassium phosphate buffer. Then, we measured the C-3 epimerization activity in subcellular fractions prepared from UMR-106 cells, which metabolize vitamin D compounds to their C-3 epimers with relatively strong activity, and observed the highest level of activity in the microsomal fraction. In addition, microsomal fractions prepared from various cell lines also had C-3 epimerization activity toward 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃. The activity for the reverse reaction from C-3 α to C-3 β was undetectable. These results suggest that enzyme(s) responsible for the epimerization of vitamin D at C-3 might be localized to microsomes.

It was reported that both 3α -HSD and β -HSD purified from bacteria (*Pseudomonas testosterone*) catalyzed C-3 epimerization from 24,25(OH)₂D₃ (3 β) to 3-epi-24,25(OH)₂D₃ (3 α) in the presence of NAD and NADPH [34]. 3α -HSD and β -HSD also catalyzed the reverse reaction from 3-epi-24,25(OH)₂D₃ (3 α) to 24,25(OH)₂D₃ (3 β). These findings disagree with the unidirectional reaction from C-3 β to C-3 α which was observed in mammalian cells [25, 26, 29]. Moreover, the activity of 3α -HSD and β -HSD has been reported to be localized in cytosol [35–37]. Thus, 3α -HSD and β -HSD would contribute little to C-3 epimerization activity observed in microsome.

The kinetic parameters for the C-3 epimerization were also calculated using a microsomal fraction prepared from UMR-106 cells. The highest Vmax/Km value was for $25(OH)D_3$ among all the substrates tested indicating that $25(OH)D_3$ is a good the substrate for C-3 epimerization. In contrast, the lower Vmax/Km values for $24,25(OH)_2D_3$ and OCT than for $25(OH)D_3$ and $1\alpha,25(OH)_2D_3$ suggested that the introduction of a polar group into the side-chain reduces the C-3 epimerization activity. These results are consistent with our previous finding that $24,25(OH)_2D_3$ and OCT were little metabolized to their C-3 epimers in various cultured cells [26, 28, 29].

The epimerization of other functional molecules has been shown to have important roles. One well-known epimerase is uridine diphosphate (UDP)-glucose 4-epimerase (EC 5.1.3.2), which catalyzes the conversion of UDP-glucose into UDP-galactose and has been associated with a disease called galactosemia [39-42]. In addition, the importance of epimerization in regulating the biological activities of steroid hormones has been demonstrated. The neuroactive steroid, 5α -pregnane- 3α -ol-20-one, plays a role in the modulation of reproductive function by suppressing the release of hypothalamic gonadotropin-releasing hormone [43]. However, its C-3 epimer, 5α -pregnane-3 β -ol-20-one, is ineffective in regulating hypothalamic activity [44]. The significance of the C-3 epimerization pathway of vitamin D is not fully understood. The relative VDR-binding affinity, transcriptional activity, and anti-proliferative/differentiation-inducing activity of C-3 epimers (C-3 α) are weaker than those of C-3 β compounds as described in Part 2, Chapter 1. It was also noted that the C-3 epimerization pathway is cell-selective [25, 26, 29] and 3-epi-1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ is almost equipotent to 1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ in suppressing parathyroid hormone secretion in bovine parathyroid cells [45] and in inhibiting keratinocyte proliferation [46]. In addition, 3-epi- 1α , 25(OH)₂D₃ is more potent than

 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ in inducing apoptosis in human promyelocytic leukemia (HL-60) cells [47]. These results suggest that the C-3 epimerization pathway might plays an important role in the formation of metabolites with a different profile of biological activity. Further studies including identification of the enzyme(s) which can catalyze the epimerization of the hydroxyl group at C-3 will be needed to elucidate of the biological significance of the C-3 epimerization pathway of vitamin D.

References

- [1] S. Andersson, I. Holmberg, K. Wikvall, 25-Hydroxylation of C27-steroids and vitamin D₃ by a constitutive cytochrome P-450 from rat liver microsome, J Biol Chem 258(11) (1983) 6777–6781.
- [2] S. Andersson, H. Jörnvall, Sex differences in cytochrome P-450-dependent 25hydroxylation of C27-steroids and vitamin D₃ in rat liver microsomes, J Biol Chem 261(36) (1986) 16932–16936.
- [3] S. Hayashi, M. Noshiro, K. Okuda, Isolation of a cytochrome P-450 that catalyzes the 25-hydroxylation of vitamin D₃ from rat liver microsomes, J Biochem 99(6) (1988) 1753–1763.
- [4] E. Axén, T. Bergman, K. Wikvall, Purification and characterization of a vitamin D₃ 25hydroxylase from pig liver microsomes, Biochem J. 287(Pt3) (1992) 725–731.
- [5] H. Postlind, E. Axén, T. Bergman, K. Wikvall. Cloning, structure, and expression of a cDNA encoding vitamin D₃ 25-hydroxylase, Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 241(2) (1997) 491–497.
- [6] J.B. Cheng, D.L. Motola, D.J. Mangelsdorf, D.W. Russell, De-orphanization of cytochrome P450 2R1. A microsomal vitamin D 25-hydroxylase, J Biol Chem 278(39) (2003) 38084–38093.
- [7] J.B. Cheng, M.A. Levine, N.H. Bell, D.J. Mangelsdorf, D.W. Russell, Genetic evidence that the human CYP2R1 enzyme is a key vitamin D 25-hydroxylase, Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 101(20) (2004) 7711–7715.
- [8] T. Yamasaki, S. Izumi, H. Ide, Y. Ohyama, Identification of a novel rat microsomal vitamin D₃ 25-hydroxylase, J Biol Chem 279(22) (2004) 22848–22856.
- [9] R.P. Gupta, B.W. Hollis, S.B. Patel, K.S. Patrick, N.H. Bell, CYP3A4 is a human microsomal vitamin D 25-hydroxylase, J Bone Miner Res 19(4) (2004) 680–688.
- [10] O. Masumoto, Y. Ohyama, K. Okuda, Purification and characterization of vitamin D25-hydroxylase from rat liver mitochondria, J Biol Chem 263(28) (1988) 4256–4260.
- [11] E. Usui, M. Noshiro, K. Okuda, Molecular cloning of cDNA for vitamin D₃ 25hydroxylase from rat liver mitochondria, FEBS Lett 262(1) (1990) 135–138.
- [12] P. Su, H. Rennert, R.M. Shayiq, R. Yamamoto, Y.M. Zheng, S. Addya, J.F. Strauss3rd, N.G. Avadhani, A cDNA encoding a rat mitochondrial cytochrome P450

catalyzing both the 26-hydroxylation of cholesterol and 25-hydroxylation of vitamin D_3 : gonadotropic regulation of the cognate mRNA in ovaries, DNA Cell Biol 9(9) (1990) 657–667.

- [13] K. Takeyama, S. Kitanaka, T. Sato, M. Kobori, J. Yanagisawa, S. Kato, 25-Hydroxyvitamin D₃ 1α-hydroxylase and vitamin D synthesis, Science 277(5333) (1997) 1827–1830.
- [14] R. St-Arnaud, S. Messerlian, J.M. Moir, J.L. Omdahl, F.H. Glorieux, The 25hydroxyvitamin D 1-α-hydroxylase gene maps to the pseudovitamin D-deficiency rickets (PDDR) disease locus, J Bone Miner Res 12(10) (1997) 1552–1559.
- [15] T. Shinki, H. Shimada, S. Wakino, H. Anazawa, M. Hayashi, T. Saruta, H.F. DeLuca, T. Suda, Cloning and expression of rat 25-hydroxyvitamin D₃-1α-hydroxylase cDNA, Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 94(24) (1997) 12920–12925.
- [16] Y. Ohyama, S. Hayashi, K. Okuda, Purification of 25-hydroxyvitamin D₃ 24hydroxylase from rat kidney mitochondria, FEBS Lett 255(2) (1989) 405–408.
- [17] Y. Ohyama, M. Noshiro, K. Okuda, Cloning and expression of cDNA encoding 25hydroxyvitamin D₃ 24-hydroxylase, FEBS Lett. 278 (1991) 195–198.
- [18] N. Sawada, T. Sakaki, M. Ohta, K. Inouye, Metabolism of vitamin D₃ by human CYP27A1, Biochem Biophys Res Commun 273(3) (2000) 977–984.
- [19] T. Sakaki, N. Sawada, K. Takeyama, S. Kato, K. Inoute, Enzymatic properties of mouse 25-hydroxyvitamin D₃ 1α-hydroxylase expressed in *Escherichia coli*, Eur J Biochem 259(3) (1999) 731–738.
- [20] N. Sawada, T. Sakaki, S. Kitanaka, K. Takeyama, S. Kato, K. Inouye, Enzymatic properties of human 25-hydroxyvitamin D₃ 1α-hydroxylase. Coexpression with adrenodoxin and NADPH-drenodoxin reductase in *Escherichia coli*, Eur J Biochem 265(3) (1999) 950–956.
- [21] M. Akiyoshi-Shibata, T. Sakaki, Y. Ohyama, M. Noshiro, K. Okuda, Y. Yahusaki, Further oxidation of hydroxycalcidiol by calcidiol 24-hydroxylase. A study with the mature enzyme expressed in *Escherichia coli*, Eur J Biochem 224(2) (1994) 335–343.
- [22] T. Sakaki, N. Sawada, Y. Nokawa, Y. Ohyama, K. Inouye, Metabolic studies using recombinant *Escherichia coli* cells produsing rat mitochondrial CYP24. CYP24 can convert 1α,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃ to calcitroic acid, Eur J Biochem 262(1) (1999) 43–48.

- [23] T. Sakaki, N. Sawada, K. Komai, S. Shiozawa, S. Yamada, K. Yamamoto, Y. Ohyama,
 K. Inouye, Dual metabolic pathway of 25-hydroxyvitamin D₃ catalyzed by human
 CYP24, Eur J Biochem 267(20) (2000) 6158–6165.
- [24] M.G. Bischof, M.-L. Siu-Caldera, A. Weiskopf, P. Vouros, H.S. Cross, M. Peterlok, G.S. Reddy, Differentiation-related pathways of 1α,25-dihydroxycholecalciferol metabolism in human colon adenocarcinoma-derived Caco-2 cells: production of 1α,25-dihydroxy-3epi-cholecalciferol, Exp Cell Res 241(1) (1998) 194–201.
- [25] S. Masuda, M. Kamao, N.J. Schroeder, H.L.J. Makin, G. Jones, R. Kremer, J. Rhim, T. Okano, Characterization of 3-epi-1α,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃ involved in 1α,25dihydroxyvitamin D₃ metabolic pathway in cultured cell lines, Biol Pharm Bull 23(2) (2000) 133–139.
- [26] M. Kamao, S. Tatematsu, S. Hatakeyama, T. Sakaki, N. Sawada, K. Inouye, K. Ozono, N. Kubodera, G. S. Reddy, T. Okano, C-3 epimerization of vitamin D₃ metabolites and further metabolism of C-3 epimers. 25-Hydroxyvitamin D₃ is metabolized to 3-epi-25hydroxyvitamin D₃ and subsequently metabolized through C-1α or C-24 hydroxylation, J Biol Chem 279(16) (2004) 15897–15907.
- [27] T. Higashi, A. Ogasawara, K. Shimada, Investigation of C-3 epimerization mechanism of 24,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃ in rat using liquid chromatography/mass spectrometry, Anal Sci 16(5) (2000) 477–482.
- [28] M. Kamao, S. Tatematsu, G.S. Reddy, S. Hatakeyama, M. Sugiura, N. Ohashi, N. Kubodera, T. Okano, Isolation, identification and biological activity of 24R,25dihydroxy-3-epi-vitamin D₃: a novel metabolite of 24R,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃ produced in rat osteosarcoma cells (UMR 106), J Nutr Sci Vitaminol 47(2) (2001) 108– 115.
- [29] M. Kamao, S. Tatematsu, S. Hatakeyama, K. Ozono, N. Kubodera, G.S. Reddy, T. Okano, Two novel metabolic pathways of 22-oxacalcitriol (OCT). C-25 dehydration and C-3 epimerization and biological activities of novel OCT metabolites, J Biol Chem 278(3) (2003) 1463–1471.
- [30] M.-L. Siu-Caldera, D.S. Rao, N. Astecker, A. Weiskopf, P. Vouros, K. Konno, T. Fujishima, H. Takayama, S. Peleg, G.S. Reddy, Tissue specific metabolism of 1α,25dihydroxy-20-epi-vitamin D₃ into new metabolites with significant biological activity: studies in rat osteosarcoma cells (UMR 106 and ROS 17/2.8), J Cell Biochem 82(4)

(2001) 599-609.

- [31] G.S. Reddy, D.S. Rao, M.-L. Siu-Caldera, N. Astecker, A. Weiskopf, P. Vouros, G.J. Sasso, P.S. Manchand, M.R. Uskokovic, 1α,25-dihydroxy-16-ene-23-yne-vitamin D₃ and 1α,25-dihydroxy-16-ene-23-yne-20-epi-vitamin D₃: analogs of 1α,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃ that resist metabolism through the C-24 oxidation pathway are metabolized through the C-3 epimerization pathway, Arch Biochem Biophys 383(2) (2000) 197–205.
- [32] B. Eckstein, C. Springer. Induction of an ovarian epimerase system catalyzing the transformation of 5α-androstane-3α,17β-diol to 5α-androstane-3β,17β-diol after treatment of immature rats with gonadotrophins exhibiting FSH-like activity, Endocrinology 89(2) (1971) 347–352.
- [33] X.-F. Huang, V. Luu-The, Molecular Characterization of a first human $3(\alpha \rightarrow \beta)$ hydroxysteroid epimerase, J Biol Chem 275(38) (2000) 29452–29457.
- [34] T. Higashi, K. Sakajiri, K. Shimada, Analysis of C-3 epimerization in (24*R*)-24,25dihydroxyvitamin D₃ catalyzed by hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase, J Pharm Biomed Anal 36(3) (2004) 429–436.
- [35] T. M. Penning, R. B. Sharp, N. R. Krieger, Purification and properties of 3αhydroxysteroid dehydrogenase from rat brain cytosol. Inhibition by nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs and progestins, J Biol Chem 260(28) (1985) 15266–15272.
- [36] A. Hara, Y. Inoue, M. Nakagawa, F. Naganeo, H. Sawada, Purification and characterization of NADP+-dependent 3α-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase from mouse liver cytosol, J Biochem 103(6) (1988) 1027–1034.
- [37] C.C. Shen, C.D. Kochakian, The induction, purification and characterization of 17 βhydroxy-C19-steroid dehydrogenase of the female guinea pig kidney, J Steroid Biochem 10(2) (1979) 187–193.
- [38] S. Hatakeyama, T. Okano, J. Maeyama, T. Esumi, H. Hiyamizu, Y. Iwabuchi, K. Nakagawa, K. Ozono, A. Kawase, N. Kubodera, Synthesis and evaluation of A-ring diastereomers of 1α,25-dihydroxy-22-oxavitamin D₃ (OCT), Bioorg Med Chem 9(2) (2001) 403–415.
- [39] N. Daude, T.K. Gallaher, M. Zeschnigk, A. Starzinski-Powitz, K.G. Petry, I.S. Haworth, J.K. Reichardt, Molecular cloning, characterization, and mapping of a fulllength cDNA encoding human UDP-galactose 4'-epimerase, Biochem Mol Med 56(1)

(1995) 1–7.

- [40] A. Alano, S. Almashanu, J. M. Chinsky, P. Costeas, M.G. Blitzer, E.A. Wulfsberg, T.M. Cowan, Molecular characterization of a unique patient with epimerase-deficiency galactosaemia, J Inherit Metab Dis 21(4) (1998) 341–350.
- [41] P. Maceratesi, N. Daude, B. Dallapiccola, G. Novelli, R. Allen, Y. Okano, J. Reichardt, Human UDP-galactose 4' epimerase (GALE) gene and identification of five missense mutations in patients with epimerase-deficiency galactosemia, Mol Genet Metab 63(1) (1998) 26–30.
- [42] T. M. Wohlers, N. C. Christacos, M. T. Harreman, J. L. Fridovich-Keil, Identification and characterization of a mutation, in the human UDP-galactose-4-epimerase gene, associated with generalized epimerase-deficiency galactosemia, Am J Hum Genet 64(2) (1999) 462–470.
- [43] A.R. Genazzani, M.A. Palumbo, A.A. de Micheroux, P.G. Artini, M. Criscuolo, G. Ficarra, A. L. Guo, A. Benelli, A. Bertolini, F. Petraglia, R.H. Purdy, Evidence for a role for the neurosteroid allopregnanolone in the modulation of reproductive function in female rats, Eur. J. Endocrinol. 133(3) (1995) 375–380.
- [44] A.E. Calogero, M.A. Palumbo, A.M. Bosboom, N. Burrello, E. Ferrara, G. Palumbo, F. Petraglia, R. D'Agata, The neuroactive steroid allopregnanolone suppresses hypothalamic gonadotropin-releasing hormone release through a mechanism mediated by the gamma-aminobutyric acidA receptor, J Endocrinol 158(1) (1998) 121–125.
- [45] A.J. Brown, C. Ritter, E. Slatopolsky, K.R. Muralidharan, W.H. Okamura, G.S. Reddy, 1α,25-dihydroxy-3-epi-vitamin D₃, a natural metabolite of 1α,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃, is a potent suppressor of parathyroid hormone secretion, J Cell Biochem 73(1) (1999) 106–113.
- [46] A.W. Norman, R. Bouillon, M.C. Farach-Carson, J.E. Bishop, L.X. Zhou, I. Nemere, J. Zhao, K. R. Muralidharan, W.H. Okamura, Demonstration that 1β,25dihydroxyvitamin D₃ is an antagonist of the nongenomic but not genomic biological responses and biological profile of the three A-ring diastereomers of 1α,25dihydroxyvitamin D₃, J Biol Chem 268(27) (1993) 20022–20030.
- [47] K. Nakagawa, Y. Sowa, M. Kurobe, K. Ozono, M.-L. Siu-Caldera, G.S. Reddy, M.R. Uskokovic, T. Okano, Differential activities of 1α,25-dihydroxy-16-ene-vitamin D₃

analogs and their 3-epimers on human promyelocytic leukemia (HL-60) cell differentiation and apoptosis, Steroids 66(3-5) (2001) 327–337.

GENERAL CONCLUSION

In this study, we measured vitamin D levels in biological samples using LC-APCI/MS/MS and CLIA techniques. We also identified several novel metabolites of vitamin D and examined their biological activity.

In Part 1, sensitive quantification method for vitamin D and other fat-soluble vitamins in human breast milk by LC-APCI/MS/MS was developed. For the determination of vitamin D compounds, derivatization with a Cookson-type reagent was performed to improve sensitivity. The mean concentration of D₃, D₂, 25(OH)D₃ and 25(OH)D₂ were 0.088, 0.078, 0.081 and 0.003 ng/mL, respectively (n=82). Daily intake of vitamin D calculated from an infant's consumption of breast milk, 780 mL/day and Reeve's conversion factor was approximately 0.5 µg, which did not meet current DRIs (AI, 5.0 µg/day). These results suggest that supplementation of vitamin D for breast feeding mothers or breastfed infants is beneficial in improving the vitamin D status of breast fed infants. We also measured serum 25(OH)D concentration in over 1300 healthy adolescents aged 12-18 years by CLIA. The mean serum 25(OH)D concentrations in boys and girls were 60.8 and 52.8 nmol/L (24.3 and 21.1 ng/mL), respectively. Approximately 30 % of boys and 48 % of girls had suboptimal 25(OH)D concentrations (50 nmol/L, 20 ng/mL). Serum PTH concentration was negatively correlated with serum 25(OH)D concentrations in boys, but negatively correlated with calcium intake rather than serum 25(OH)D in girls. In contrast, the increment in calcaneal stiffness as a result of elevation of serum 25(OH)D was higher in girls than in boys. Thus, improvement of vitamin D and calcium status, especially in girls, should be importance for bone health in Japanese adolescents.

In Part 2, first, the isolation and structural assignment of $3\text{-epi-}25(OH)D_3$ as a major metabolite of $25(OH)D_3$ and further metabolism of C-3 epimers of vitamin D are described.

3-epi-25(OH)D₃ was generated from 25(OH)D₃ in various cultured cells *in vitro* including osteosarcoma, colon adenocarcinoma and hepatoblastoma cell line, and rats in vivo. In cultured cells, 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ and 3-epi-1a,25(OH)₂D₃ were metabolized to 3-epi- $24,25(OH)_2D_3$ and 3-epi-1 α , $24,25(OH)_3D_3$, respectively. In addition, we demonstrated that 3-epi-25(OH)D₃ was metabolized to 3-epi-1a,25(OH)₂D₃ by CYP27B1 and to 3-epi-24,25(OH)₂D₃ by CYP24A1 using recombinant E. Coli cell systems. 3-Epi-25(OH)D₃, 3epi-1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ and 3-epi-24,25(OH)₂D₃ were biologically less active than 25(OH)D₃, 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ and 24,25(OH)₂D₃, but 3-epi- 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ showed to some extent transcriptional activity toward target genes and anti-proliferative/differentiation-inducing activity. These results indicate that C-3 epimerization may be a common metabolic pathway for the major metabolites of D₃. Next, in vitro metabolism of OCT was studied to identify the less polar metabolites and to assess their biological activity. OCT was metabolized to three less polar metabolites, 3-epi-OCT and two dehydrates, 25-ene-22-oxa-1 α (OH)D₃ and 24-ene-22-oxa-1 α (OH)D₃. We also observed further metabolites, the two C-25 dehydrates of 3-epi-OCT. The biological activity including VDR binding affinity, DBP binding affinity and cell differentiation activity was found to be lower than OCT. Thus, both the C-3 epimerization and C-25 dehydration may work to reduce the biological activity of OCY. Finally, we optimized the conditions for the measurement of C-3 epimerization activity. The highest level of activity was observed in microsomal fraction prepared from various kind of cells. Judging from Vmax/Km, 25(OH)D₃ exhibited the highest specificity for the epimerization in compounds tested. Neither CYP24A1, CYP27A1, CYP27B1 nor $3(\alpha \rightarrow \beta)$ HSE catalyzed the epimerization. Based on these results, the enzyme(s) responsible for C-3 epimerization of vitamin D are thought to be located in microsomes and different from the known metabolic enzymes of vitamin D and $3(\alpha \rightarrow \beta)$ HSE.

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS (Part 1 Chapter 1–Part 2 Chapter 2)

Part 1 Chapter 1

 <u>M. Kamao</u>, N. Tsugawa, Y. Suhara, A. Wada, T. Mori, K. Murata, R. Nishino, T. Ukita, K. Uenishi, K. Tanaka, T. Okano, Quantification of fat-soluble vitamins in human breast milk by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry, J Chromatogr B 859(2) (2007) 192–200.

Part 1 Chapter 2

2. N. Tsugawa, K. Uenishi, H. Ishida, R. Ozaki, T. Takase, T. Minekami, Y. Uchino, <u>M. Kamao</u>, T. Okano, Association between vitamin D status and serum parathyroid hormone concentration and calcaneal stiffness in Japanese adolescents: sex differences in susceptibility to vitamin D deficiency, J Bone Miner Metab DOI 10.1007/s00774-015-0694-y (accepted 2015.5) *in press*.

Part 2 Chapter 1

 M. Kamao, S. Tatematsu, S. Hatakeyama, T. Sakaki, N. Sawada, K. Inouye, K. Ozono, N. Kubodera, G.S. Reddy, T. Okano, C-3 epimerization of vitamin D₃ metabolites and further metabolism of C-3 epimers, J Biol Chem 279(16) (2004) 15897–15907.

Part 2 Chapter 2

M. Kamao, S. Tatematsu, G.S. Reddy, S. Hatakeyama, K. Ozono, N. Kubodera, T. Okano, Two novel metabolic pathways of 22-oxacalcitriol (OCT): C-25 dehydration and C-3 epimerization, and biological activities of novel OCT metabolites, J Biol Chem 278(3) (2003) 1463–1471.

Part 2 Chapter 3

 M. Kamao, S. Hatakeyama, T. Sakaki, N. Sawada, K. Inouye, N. Kubodera, G.S. Reddy, T. Okano, Measurement and characterization of C-3 epimerization activity toward vitamin D₃, Arch Biochem Biophys 436(1) (2005) 196–205.

Review related to Part 1 Chapter 1

 M. Kamao, N. Tsugawa, Y. Suhara, T. Okano, Determination of fat-soluble vitamins in human plasma, breast milk and food samples –Application in nutrition survey for establishment of Dietary Reference Intakes for Japanese, J Health Sci 53(3) (2007) 257–262.

Review related to Part 2 Chapter 1–2

 M. Kamao, T. Okano, Novel metabolic pathways of vitamin D₃-identification of C-3 epimerization and C-25 dehydration pathways and biological activity of novel metabolites, J Health Sci 49(4) (2003) 260–266.

LIST OF OTHER PUBLICATIONS

- S. Masuda, T. Okano, <u>M. Kamao</u>, Y. Kanedai, T. Kobayashi, A novel high-performance liquid chromatographic assay for vitamin D metabolites using a coulometric electrochemical detector, J Pharma Biomed Anal 15(9-10) (1997) 1497–1502.
- M. Ohtani, N. Tsugawa, <u>M. Kamao</u>, T. Okano, Absorbability of calcium from a new calcium supplement prepared from bovine marrow-free bone in rats, J Nutr Sci Vitaminol (Tokyo) 44(6) (1998) 887–895.
- N. Tsugawa, T. Yamabe, A. Takeuchi, <u>M. Kamao</u>, K. Nakagawa, K. Nishijima, T. Okano, Intestinal absorption of calcium from calcium ascorbate in rats, J Bone Miner Metab 17(1) (1999) 30–36.
- M. Inaba, H. Morii, T. Katsumata, H. Goto, E. Ishimura, T. Kawagishi, <u>M. Kamao</u>, T. Okano, Y. Nishizawa, Hyperparathyroidism is augmented by overiectomy in Nagase analbuminemic rats, J Nutr 130(6) (2000) 1543–1547.
- S. Masuda, <u>M. Kamao</u>, N.J. Schroeder, H.L.J. Makin, G. Jones, R. Kremer, J. Rhim, T. Okano, Characterization of 3-epi-1α,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃ involved in 1α,25dihydroxyvitamin D₃ metabolic pathway, Biol Pharm Bull 23(2), (2000) 133–139.,
- M. Kamao, N. Tsugawa, K. Nakagawa, Y. Kawamoto, K. Fukui, K. Takamatsu, G. Kuwata, M. Imai, T. Okano, Absorption of calcium, magnesium, phosphorus, iron and zinc in growing male rats fed diets containing ether phytate-free soybean protein or soybean protein isolate or casein, J Nutr Sci Vitaminol (Tokyo) 46(1) (2000) 34–41.
- N. Kasai, T. Sakaki, R. Shinkyo, S. Ikushiro, T. Iyanagi, <u>M. Kamao</u>, T. Okano, M. Ohta, K. Inouye, Sequential metabolism of 2,3,7-trichlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin (2,3,7-triCDD) by cytochrome P450 and UDP-glucuronosyltransferase in human liver microsomes, Drug Metab Dispos 32(8) (2004) 870–875.
- N. Sawada, T. Kusudo, T. Sakaki, S. Hatakeyama, M. Hanada, D. Abe, <u>M. Kamao</u>, T. Okano, M. Ohta, K. Inouye, Novel metabolism of 1α,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃ with C24-C25 bond cleavage catalyzed by human CYP24A1, Biochemistry 43(15) (2004) 4530–4537.
- Y. Suhara, <u>M. Kamao</u>, N. Tsugawa, T. Okano, Method for the determination of vitamin K homologues in human plasma using high-performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry, Anal Chem 77(3) (2005) 757–763.
- N. Tsugawa, Y. Suhara, <u>M. Kamao</u>, T. Okano, Determination of 25-hydroxyvitamin D in human plasma using high-performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry, Anal Chem 77(9) (2005) 3001–3007.
- M. Kamao, Y. Suhara, N. Tsugawa, T. Okano, Determination of plasma vitamin K by high-performance liquid chromatography with fluorescence detection using vitamin K analogs as internal standards, J Chromatogr B 816(1-2) (2005) 41–48.
- N. Tsugawa, M. Shiraki, Y. Suhara, <u>M. Kamao</u>, K. Tanaka, T. Okano, Vitamin K status of healthy Japanese women: age-related vitamin K requirement for γ-carboxylation of osteocalcin, Am J Clin Nutr 83(2) (2006) 380–386.
- N. Sogabe, N. Tsugawa, R. Maruyama, <u>M. Kamao</u>, H. Kinoshita, T. Okano, T. Hosoi, M. Goseki-Sone, Nutritional effects of γ-glutamyl carboxylase gene polymorphism on the correlation between the vitamin K status and γ-carboxylation of osteocalcin in young male, J Nutr Sci Vitaminol (Tokyo) 53(5) (2007) 419–425.

- M. Kamao, Y. Suhara, N. Tsugawa, M. Uwano, N. Yamaguchi, K. Uenishi, H. Ishida, S. Sasaki, T. Okano T, Vitamin K content of foods and dietary vitamin K intake in Japanese young women, J Nutr Sci Vitaminol (Tokyo) 53(6) (2007) 464–470.
- 15. Y. Suhara, A. Murakami, <u>M. Kamao</u>, S. Mimatsu, K. Nakagawa, N. Tsugawa, T. Okano, Efficient synthesis and biological evaluation of ω-oxygenated analogues o f vitamin K₂: Study of modification and structure-activity relationship of vitamin K₂ metabolites, Bioorg Med Chem Lett 17(6) (2007) 1622–1625.
- N. Tsugawa, M. Shiraki, Y. Suhara, <u>M. Kamao</u>, R. Ozaki, K. Tanaka, T. Okano, Low plasma phylloquinone concentration is associated with high incidence of vertebral fracture in Japanese women, J. Bone Miner Metab, 26(1) (2008) 79–85.
- Y. Suhara, Y. Hirota, K. Nakagawa, <u>M. Kamao</u>, N. Tsugawa, T. Okano, Design and synthesis of biologically active analogues of vitamin K₂: Evaluation of their biological activities with cultured human cell lines, Bioorg Med Chem 16(6) (2008) 3108–3117.
- Y. Suhara, S. Abe, A. Murakami, Y. Shimomura, K. Nakagawa, <u>M. Kamao</u>, N. Tsugawa, T. Okano, Synthesis and development of biologically active fluorescent-labeled vitamin K analogues and monitoring of their subcellular distribution, Tetrahedron 64(37) (2008) 8789–8796.
- T. Okano, Y. Shimomura, M. Yamane, Y. Suhara, <u>M. Kamao</u>, M. Sugiura, K. Nakagawa, Conversion of phylloquinone (vitamin K₁) into menaquinone-4 (vitamin K₂) in mice: Two possible routes for menaquinone-4 accumulation in cerebra of mice, J Biol Chem 283(17) (2008) 11270–11279.
- A. Kuwabara, K. Tanaka, N. Tsugawa, H. Nakase, H. Tsuji, K. Shide, <u>M. Kamao</u>, T. Chiba, N. Inagaki, T. Okano, S. Kido, High prevalence of vitamin K and D deficiency and decreased BMD in inflammatory bowel disease, Osteoporos Int 20(6) (2009) 935–942.

- A. Kuwabara, M. Himeno, N. Tsugawa, <u>M. Kamao</u>, M. Fujii, N. Kawai, M. Fukuda, Y. Ogawa, S. Kido, T. Okano, K. Tanaka, Hypovitaminosis D and K are highly prevalent and independent of overall malnutrition in the institutionalized elderly, Asia Pac J Clin Nutr 19(1) (2010) 49–56.
- T. Nakano, A. Kuwabara, <u>M. Kamao</u>, K. Tanaka, T. Okano, High prevalence of hypovitaminosis D and K in patients with hip fracture, Asia Pac J Clin Nutr 20(1) (2011) 56–61.
- N. Tsugawa, K. Uenishi, H. Ishida, T. Minekami, A. Doi, S. Koike, T. Takase, M. <u>Kamao</u>, Y. Mimura, T. Okano, A novel method based on curvature analysis for estimating the dietary vitamin K requirement in adolescents, Clin Nutr 31(2) (2012) 255–60.
- 24. Y. Hirota, N. Tsugawa, K. Nakagawa, Y. Suhara, K. Tanaka, Y. Uchino, A. Takeuchi, N. Sawada, <u>M. Kamao</u>, A. Wada, T. Okitsu, T. Okano, Menadione (vitamin K₃) is a catabolic product of oral phylloquinone (vitamin K₁) in the intestine and a circulating precursor of tissue menaquinone-4 (vitamin K₂) in rats, J Biol Chem 288(46) (2013) 33071–33080.
- K. Nakagawa, N. Sawada, Y. Hirota, Y. Uchino, Y. Suhara, T. Hasegawa, N. Amizuka, T. Okamoto, N. Tsugawa, <u>M. Kamao</u>, N. Funahashi, T. Okano, Vitamin K₂ biosynthetic enzyme, UBIAD1 is essential for embryonic development of mice, PLoS ONE 9(8) (2014) e104078.
- 26. Y. Hirota, K. Nakagawa, N. Sawada, N. Okuda, Y. Suhara, Y. Uchino, T. Kimoto, N. Funahashi, M. <u>Kamao</u>, N. Tsugawa, T. Okano, Functional characterization of the vitamin K₂ biosynthetic enzyme UBIAD1, PLoS One, 10(4) (2015) e0125737.

ACKNOELEDGEMENT

I would like to show my greatest appreciation to Professor Toshiyuki Sakaki, Toyama Prefectural University for his valuable suggestion, useful discussion and continuous warm encouragement throughout the course of this work.

I especially would like to express my deep gratitude to Emeritus Professor Toshio Okano, Kobe Pharmaceutical University for his helpful advice, wide-ranging discussion and considerable encouragement.

I would like to thank the members of my thesis committee, Professor Noriyuki Nakajima, Professor Yasuo Kato, Associate Professor Shinichi Ikushiro, Toyama Prefectural University and Professor Atushi Kittaka, Teikyo University.

I would like to show sincere gratitude to Professor Hiroshi Hasegawa, Kobe Pharmaceutical University for his useful suggestions and sincere encouragement.

I would like to express sincere gratitude to Former Professor Atsuko Adachi, Kobe Pharmaceutical University, Professor Naoko Tsugawa, Osaka Shoin Women's University, Professor Yoshitomo Suhara, Shibaura Institute of Technology, Associate Professor Kimie Nakagawa and Associate Professor Atsuko Takeuchi, Kobe Pharmaceutical University, Assistant Professor Yoshihisa Hirota, Shibaura Institute of Technology for their valuable advice and warm encouragement.

I greatly appreciate to the kind help and valuable discussion of all collaborator of this work;

Professor Akimori Wada, Mr. Syuichiro Tatematsu, Ms. Yuri Uchino, Mr. Reo Ozaki, Mr. Tomoki Takase and Mr. Takuya Minekami, Kobe Pharmaceutical University, Dr. Toshiyuki Mori, Mori Ladies Clinic, Dr. Kazuo Murata, Kosaka Women's Hospital, Dr. Riichiro Nishino, Nishikawa Obstetrics Clinic, Dr. Tetsuya Ukita, Ukita Clinic, Professor Kazuhiro Uenishi and Professor Hiromi Ishida, Kagawa Nutrition University, Professor Kiyoshi Tanaka, Kyoto Women's University, Professor Susumi Hatakeyama, Nagasaki University, Dr. Natsumi Sawada, Kobe Shoin Women's University (Former affiliation, Kyoto University), Former Professor Kuniyo Inouye, Kyoto University, Professor Keiichi Ozono, Osaka University, Dr. Noboru Kubodera, International Institute of Active Vitamin D Analogs (Former affiliation, Chugai Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd.) and Former Professor G. Satyanarayana Reddy, Brown University, Providence, USA. I also thank Eisai Co., Ltd. (Tokyo, Japan) and Kureha Chemical Industry Co., Ltd. (Tokyo Japan) for providing authentic standard.

Special thanks to all members of Department of Hygienic Science, Kobe Pharmaceutical University for their excellent technical assistance and constant encouragements.

Finally, I wish to express deep appreciation of my family, Fumihiko, Taishin, Koyo and Momoka for their heartwarming encouragements.

論文内容の要旨

Studies on Vitamin D Levels in Biological Samples and Novel Metabolites of Vitamin D

「生体試料中ビタミンD濃度と新規ビタミンD代謝物に関する研究」

鎌尾 まや

はじめに

ビタミンDはカルシウム恒常性や骨代謝に重要な栄養素であることはよく知られている が、近年、免疫系や生殖、がん予防など、カルシウム代謝調節以外の生理作用についても関 心が集まっている。ビタミンD₃ (D₃) は皮膚において 7-dehydrocholesterol の紫外線照射に より生成し、肝臓で 25-hydroxyvitamin D₃ [25(OH)D₃] に代謝された後、腎臓で活性型である 1 α ,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃ [1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃] あるいは不活性型である 24,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃ [24,25(OH)₂D₃] に代謝される。これらのうち 25(OH)D₃ は血中に最も多く存在するビタミン D 代謝物であり、D₃ の紫外線照射による生成量や食事からの摂取量を最もよく反映する栄 養学的な指標となる。ビタミン D₂ (D₂) はきのこ類に多く含まれる植物性のビタミン D で あるが、D₃ と同様に 25 位が水酸化された後、1 α 位あるいは 24 位が水酸化され、活性化あ るいは不活性化される。現在までにこれら以外にも多くの代謝物の構造が決定されている が、さらに多くの未同定代謝物も存在するものと考えられている。

近年の疫学研究において、血清(あるいは血漿)中 25-hydroxyvitamin D [25(OH)D, 25(OH)D₃と 25(OH)D₂の総量を示す] 濃度が低値であることが、骨折に加え、アルツハイマー、2型糖尿病および新生児の急性上気道感染などのリスクを高めることが報告されている。これらの結果は、乳児から老年期に至る全てのライフステージでビタミン D が健康維持や疾患予防に重要な栄養素であることを示唆している。従って、血清や母乳などの生体試料中におけるビタミン D 代謝物濃度を測定し、その標準的な値を把握することは極めて有用である。また、多岐にわたるビタミン D の生理作用やその調節機構を明らかにする上で、ビタミン D の未知代謝物を同定しその生理活性を明らかにすることは重要である。これらの背景から、本研究では母乳および血清中ビタミン D 代謝物濃度を測定し、関連因子との相関性を解析した。また、培養細胞を用いて天然型ビタミン D および合成誘導体の新規代謝物を同定し、その生理活性を評価すると共に、新規代謝物産生活性の測定系を構築した。

<u>第1部 生体試料中ビタミンD濃度の分析</u>

第1章 母乳中ビタミンDおよび他の脂溶性ビタミンの定量

母乳中に含まれるビタミン D 量は少ないため、専ら母乳で哺育され、かつ日照不足の乳 児はビタミン D 欠乏に陥るリスクが高い。また、その含有量の少なさから、母乳中ビタミ ン D を正確に定量することは困難であった。筆者らは、液体クロマトグラフタンデム型質 量分析計を用いた高感度で特異性に優れた脂溶性ビタミンの定量法を確立し、比較的少量 の母乳よりビタミンDおよび他の脂溶性ビタミン含量を測定することに成功した。そこで、 日本人授乳婦(82名、18-39歳)を対象として母乳中ビタミン D 含量を調査したところ、 平均濃度は D₃ 0.088 ng/nL、D₂ 0.078 ng/nL、25(OH)D₃ 0.081 ng/nL、25(OH)D₂ 0.003 ng/nL といずれも低値であった。また、他の脂溶性ビタミン濃度は、レチノール 0.455 µg/nL、β-カロテン 0.062 µg/nL、 α -トコフェロール 5.087 µg/nL、フィロキノン 3.771 ng/nL、メナキ ノン4 1.795 ng/nL、メナキノン-7 1.540 ng/nL であった。母乳中ビタミン D 濃度より Reeve の換算係数 [25(OH)D は D の5倍とする]を用いて総ビタミン濃度を算出し、乳児 の平均哺乳量 780 mL/day を乗じて乳児のビタミン D 摂取量を推定したところ約 0.5 µg/day であり、本邦の食事摂取基準における目安量 5 µg/day に比べて極めて低い値であった。従 って、日照不足が懸念される冬季には特に、授乳婦や乳児を対象としたビタミン D 補充が 必要であると考えられた。

第2章 日本人の思春期男女を対象とした血清中 25(OH)Dの測定

超高齢社会を迎えた我が国では骨粗鬆症の増加が懸念されており、その予防として思春期における最大骨量を高めることが重要である。思春期は骨代謝の変化が大きく、ビタミン D 栄養が極めて重要な時期であるが、思春期の日本人を対象とした研究は乏しいのが現状 である。そこで筆者らは、日本人の健常思春期男女1,380名(男子 662名、女子 718名、12 -18歳)を対象として血清中 25(OH)D 濃度を化学発光免疫測定法(CLIA)で自動測定し た。その結果、血清中 25(OH)D 濃度の平均値は男子で 60.8 nmol/L (24.3 ng/mL)、女子で 52.8 nnol/L (21.1 ng/mL) となり、女子の方が有意に低いことが明らかになった。また、血清中 25(OH)D 濃度は男子では 30%、女子では 48%が 50 nmol/L (20 ng/mL) 以下であり、多くの 対象者がビタミン D 不足境界領域であった。諸外国において血清中 25(OH)D 濃度と副甲状 腺ホルモン (PTH) 濃度が逆相関を示すと報告されている。本集団において 25(OH)D 濃度 と PTH 濃度は全学年の男子で逆相関を示すとお告されている。本集団において 25(OH)D 濃度 と PTH 濃度は全学年の男子で逆相関を示したが、女子では逆相関を示したのは高校 3 年生 のみであった。一方、男女共に踵骨骨密度は血清中 25(OH)D 濃度と有意な正相関を示した が、その相関性は女子の方が強かった。また、男女共にカルシウム摂取より血清中 25(OH)D 濃度が踵骨骨密度に強く影響を及ぼしたが、その傾向は女子の方が強かった。以上より、男 女共に思春期における骨密度増加にはカルシウムに加え、ビタミン D のサプリメントが有 益であると判断された。

第2部 ビタミンDの新規代謝物の同定

第1章 天然型ビタミンDの3位水酸基異性体の同定

天然型ビタミン D 代謝物のうち、1α.25(OH)2D3 および 24.25(OH)2D3 は 3 位の水酸基がβ 位からα位に異性化した代謝物に代謝されることが in vitro および in vivo で明らかにされて いる。この3位水酸基の異性化は代謝部位がA環部である点が24位あるいは23位水酸化 経路とは異なっており、多様な代謝物の産生という観点から大変興味深い代謝経路である。 そこで筆者らは、生体内で最も多く存在している 25(OH)D₃を基質として、その3位水酸基 異性体 3-epi-25(OH)D3 が培養細胞により産生されるかを検討した。その結果、用いた5種類 の細胞全てにおいて 3-epi-25(OH)D₃に相当する代謝物の産生が確認され、精製画分の NMR および LC-MS 解析により 25(OH)D3 の 3 位水酸基異性体であると同定した。3-epi-25(OH)D3 は骨、腸あるいは肝臓由来の細胞で主代謝物であったが、腎臓由来の細胞では24.25(OH)2D3 が主代謝物であった。25(OH)D3からの3位水酸基異性体の産生量は、1α,25(OH)2D3や 24,25(OH)₂D₃を基質とした場合に比べて多く、細胞内で 25(OH)D₃は他の天然型ビタミン D 代謝物に比べて3位水酸基異性体に代謝されやすいと判断された。続いて、培養細胞におけ る 3-epi-25(OH)D₃および 3-epi-1α,25(OH)₂D₃の代謝を検討したところ、それぞれの 24 位水 酸化体が生成したが、25(OH)D₃あるいは1α,25(OH)₂D₃の生成は認められなかった。さらに、 ビタミン D の 1α位水酸化酵素(CYP27B1) あるいは 24 位水酸化酵素(CYP24A1)の大腸 菌発現系を用いて、3-epi-25(OH)D3 が 25(OH)D3 と同様に、CYP27B1 により 3-epi-1α,25(OH)₂D₃に、CYP24A1により 3-epi-24,25(OH)₂D₃に代謝されることを明らかにした。3epi-25(OH)D₃、3-epi-1α,25(OH)₂D₃および 3-epi-24,25(OH)₂D₃の VDR 結合能をはじめとする

生理活性はそれぞれの 3 β 体に比べて弱かった が、3-epi-1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃は 1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃の 30%程 度のヒト前骨髄性白血 病細胞増殖抑制能を保 持していた。以上より、 3 位水酸基の異性化はビ タミンD代謝物に普遍的 な代謝経路であると判 断された(図1)。



図1. 天然型ビタミンD代謝物の3位水酸基異性化による代謝

第2章 ビタミンD誘導体 22-oxa-calcitriol (OCT、maxacalcitriol)の3位水酸基異性体お よび25位脱水体の同定

OCT は 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃の 22 位の炭素原子を酸素原子に置換した合成誘導体であり、カル シウム作用が弱く細胞の増殖抑制作用や分化誘導能が強い特徴を有している。日本におい て OCT は二次性副甲状腺機能亢進症や乾癬の治療薬として臨床応用されており、その代謝 を詳細に検討することは重要である。筆者らは、培養細胞により OCT からいくつかの低極 性代謝物が産生されることに着目し、NMR および LC-MS 解析により構造を決定した。OCT から産生した 3 種類の低極性代謝物のうち一つは 3 位水酸基異性体であり、他の二つは側 鎖の 25 位の水酸基の脱水により産生する 25-ene-22-oxa-1 α (OH)D₃ および 24-ene-22-oxa-1 α (OH)D₃であった(図 2)。骨、腸および腎臓由来の細胞でこれら 3 種の代謝物の生成量を 比較したところ、各代謝物の生成比は細胞により全く異なっており、骨由来細胞では 25-ene 体と 24-ene 体の生成比は 2:1 であったのに対し、腸および腎臓由来の細胞では 1:4 およ び 1:11 であった。さらに、3-epi-OCT は 25 位水酸基の脱水体 25-ene-3-epi-22-oxa-1 α (OH)D₃

および 24-ene-3-epi-22oxa-1α(OH)D₃ に代謝さ れた。3-epi-OCT、25-ene-22-oxa-1α(OH)D₃ および 24-ene-22-oxa-1α(OH)D₃ の生物活性はいずれも極 めて弱く、OCT において 3 位水酸基の異性化ある いは 25 位水酸基の脱水 による代謝は、標的細胞 内での活性を弱める役割 を担うと考えられた。



図2.0CTの3位水酸基異性化および25位水酸基脱水による代謝

第3章 3位水酸基異性化活性の測定

第2部第1章、第2章により、天然型ビタミンD代謝物や合成誘導体が3位水酸基の異性化により代謝されることが明らかとなった。筆者らは、ビタミンDの3位水酸基異性化反応を触媒する酵素の基本的性質を明らかにする目的で、まず、活性測定法の至適条件を確立した。その条件を用いて、各細胞画分における3位水酸基異性化活性を測定したところ、ミクロソーム画分で最も高い活性が認められた。また、UMR-106細胞のミクロソーム画分を酵素源とし、25(OH)D₃、1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃、24,25(OH)₂D₃およびOCTを基質としてVmax/Kmを比較したところ、25(OH)D₃が最も大きく、良い基質になると判断された。さらに各種シトクロム P450 酵素阻害剤および NADPH P450 レダクターゼ抗血清による阻害試験をおこなったが、いずれにおいても3位水酸基異性化活性の有意な阻害は認められなかった。また、既知の3種のビタミンD代謝酵素(CYP27A1、CYP27B1およびCYP24A1)を大腸菌に発現させて得られた膜タンパクおよびステロイドの3位水酸基異性化酵素である3($\alpha \rightarrow \beta$)hydroxysteroid epimerase (HSE)を過剰発現させた培養細胞を用いて25(OH)D₃からの3-epi-25(OH)D₃産生量を比較したが、いずれも有意な変化はみられなかった。よって、ビタミンDの3位水酸基異性化反応に関与する酵素は既知のビタミンD代謝酵素などのシトクロムP450系の酵素やHSEではないと判断された。